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Notice to Readers 

Not-for-Profit Organizations: Key Accounting and Reporting Considerations is intended solely 
for use in continuing professional education and not as a reference. It does not represent an 
official position of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and it is distributed 
with the understanding that the author and publisher are not rendering legal, accounting, or other 
professional services in the publication. This course is intended to be an overview of the topics 
discussed within, and the author has made every attempt to verify the completeness and accuracy 
of the information herein. However, neither the author nor publisher can guarantee the 
applicability of the information found herein. If legal advice or other expert assistance is 
required, the services of a competent professional should be sought. 
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Use of Materials 
 
This course manual accompanies all formats in which the course is offered, including self-study 
text, self-study online, group study, in-firm, and other formats, as applicable. Specific 
instructions for users of the various formats are included in this section.  
 
Continuing Professional Education (CPE) is required for CPAs to maintain their professional 
competence and provide quality professional services. CPAs are responsible for complying with 
all applicable CPE requirements, rules, and regulations of state licensing bodies, other 
governmental entities, membership associations, and other professional organizations or bodies. 
  
Professional standards for CPE programs are issued jointly by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (AICPA) and the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy 
(NASBA) to provide a framework for the development, presentation, measurement, and 
reporting of CPE programs. These standards are entitled Joint AICPA/NASBA Statement on 
Standards for Continuing Professional Education Programs (CPE standards), and are available 
as part of the AICPA’s Professional Standards three-volume set, either in paperback or as on 
online subscription through the AICPA’s Online Professional Library.  
 
 
Review Questions for Self Study Participants 
The CPE standards require that self study programs include review questions (also known as 
knowledge check questions) that provide feedback to both correct and incorrect responses. Note 
that these questions are provided only as learning aids and do not constitute a final examination. 
 
 
Requirements for Claiming and Receiving CPE Credit  
CPE standards place responsibility on both the individual participant and the program sponsor to 
maintain a record of attendance at a CPE program. CPAs who participate in only part of a CPE 
program should only claim CPE credit for the portion that they attended or completed.  
 
CPE participants must document their claims of CPE credit. Examples of acceptable evidence of 
completion include: 

� for group and independent study programs, a certificate or other verification supplied by 
the CPE program sponsor. 

� for self-study programs, a certificate supplied by the CPE program sponsor after 
satisfactory completion of an examination. 

 
Participants in group study and other live presentations will receive a completion certificate from 
the program sponsor. CPE program sponsors are required to keep documentation on programs 
for five years, including records of participation. 
 
All self-study participants must complete the exam within one year of date of course purchase in 
order to receive a certificate indicating satisfactory completion of the CPE program. 
 

� When purchased as a self-study course in text format, the exam is located in the 
Examination section at the end of the course manual. 



� The course code number for both the self study exam and the self study evaluation can be 
found in the Examination’s introductory material. 

� Participants may either complete the self-study exam and evaluation online at 
https://cpegrading.aicpa.org or use the paper answer sheet and evaluation forms 
included with the course materials. Participants must provide the unique serial number 
printed on the examination answer sheet. If using the paper forms, participants should 
mail the original answer sheet and course evaluation form in the pre-addressed envelope. 
Photocopies or faxes of the original forms are not acceptable. The paper grading process 
averages five to seven business days from date of receipt. During peak reporting periods 
(June, September, and December), the processing time may be 10 to 15 business days. 
Self-study participants must achieve a minimum passing grade of at least 70 percent to 
qualify for CPE credit.  
o Upon achieving a passing grade, participants receive a certificate displaying the 

number of CPE credits earned based on a 50-minute hour, in compliance with CPE 
standards. 

� If the exam is completed online, the completion certificate is provided online, 
which may be printed or saved in .pdf format. Also, the grading system 
maintains a transcript of the participants’ completed courses. 

� If the answer key is mailed in, participants receive the completion certificate 
in the mail.  

o If a passing grade is not achieved, the participants are notified. 
� If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant completed the exam 

online, the grading system provides immediate online notification of the 
score as well as instructions on how to re-take the exam. Participants who do 
not pass the online exam within three attempts must mail in the examination 
answer key.   

� If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant mailed in the exam, the 
participant is mailed a notification of the exam score and an answer sheet so 
that the exam may be re-taken. 
 

 
Program Evaluations 
The information accumulated from participant evaluation forms is an important element in our 
continual efforts to provide high quality continuing education for the profession. Participants in 
group study and other live presentations should return their evaluation forms prior to departing 
their program sessions. Self-study participants should either mail the completed evaluation 
form along with the examination answer sheet in the envelope provided, or complete the course 
evaluation online. Your comments are very important to us. 
 
Customer Service 
For help and support, including information on refund claims and complaint resolutions, please 
call AICPA Member Service at 1-888-777-7077, or visit the online Help page of the AICPA 
Store at www.cpa2biz.com. 
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Case Study 1  

ROTARY LUNCHEON:  
THE BIG PICTURE 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify some aspects of not-for-profit accounting and reporting. 
 Identify the basic financial statements for not-for-profit organizations. 
 Identify some similarities and differences in accounting and reporting practices of not-for-profits 

versus for-profit entities. 

To help find answers to the questions posed in this case, review the following paragraphs in appendix B 
of this course which contains excerpts from the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: 2.76 – 
2.82, 3.02, 3.04, and 3.06–3.07.  

BACKGROUND 

The setting is a table during lunch at a local Rotary meeting. 

You are playing the role of the CPA, Jane. Seated at the table with you are Nate, an auto dealer; Ann, the 
owner of a dress shop; and Jack, the president of a local bank. 
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A conversation begins. 

Nate: Jane, what are you up to now that the tax season is over? 

Jane:  Some of the heat is off. But now I’m catching up on my work with my not-for-profit clients. 
Some of the rules for accounting for not-for-profits are unique, and some auditing problems are 
different. 

Ann: Are the books kept differently? What are the differences? 

Jane: Payroll’s the same. And they pay bills when due. And the books are not very different. 

Jack: Well, what’s it all about, Jane? We’re not familiar with accounting and reporting practices of not-
for-profits. What is it like? 
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Required – Case Study 1 
Using information contained in FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entities 
or paragraphs of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities mentioned previously, jot 
down a few points that you, Jane, could mention where not-for-profits’ accounting and reporting 
requirements are similar and where they are somewhat different than for-profit entities. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which describes the basic financial statements? 

a. FASB ASC 958 does not establish standards for general-purpose external financial 
statements prepared by not-for-profit organizations. 

b. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should exclude a 
statement of activities. 

c. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should include a 
statement of financial position. 

d. FASB ASC 958 establishes standards for special-purpose internal financial statements 
prepared by not-for-profit organizations. 

2. Which describes the basic financial statements? 

a. The requirements of FASB ASC 958 are generally more stringent than the requirements of 
for-profit organizations. 

b. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should exclude a 
statement of functional activities. 

c. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should exclude a 
statement of cash flows. 

d. A set of financial statements of a not-for-profit organization should include information 
required by GAAP. 

3. Which describes net assets? 

a. A statement of financial position should not report amounts for the three classes of net 
assets. 

b. A statement of financial position should report amounts for each of three classes of net 
assets. 

c. A statement of financial position should not report amounts for permanently restricted net 
assets. 

d. The five net asset classes should be based solely on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. 
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Case Study 2  

NOTE DISCLOSURES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify “real world” applications of several common footnote disclosures. 
 Recognize the use of estimates, cash equivalents, and contributed services in the financial statements. 
 Differentiate between intentions to give and unconditional promises to give. 

DISCUSSION 

The term disclosure includes everything in the financial statements. Statement captions, titles, and 
classifications are all disclosures. In addition, financial statements are not complete without note 
disclosures. (The auditor’s report covers all disclosures, including those in the notes to the financial 
statements.) Some elements of disclosure may be either embodied in the principal statements or 
presented in notes—depending on convenience of space. 

Why is disclosure important? Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires adequate 
disclosure. Auditors evaluate disclosures before issuing their opinions on the financial statements. 
Although the need to provide additional disclosures in notes regarding a particular line in the statements 
may sometimes require judgment, most required disclosures have been promulgated Sections 45 and 50 
of each topic in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC). A “Significant Accounting Policies” 
note is used for the purpose of disclosing specific accounting principles and the methods of applying 
those principles that are judged by management to be most appropriate to present fairly financial 
position, cash flows, and results of operations. 
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Required – Case Study 2 
Review the following paragraphs in appendix B of this course which contains excerpts from the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: paragraphs 3.52, 3.176, 4.02, 4.33, 4.42, 5.85-5.88, 5.105–
5.106, 5.113, and 13.112–13.113. Then refer to the sample notes in appendix A of this course. 

1. Does the sample “Basis of Presentation” footnote in appendix A describe what is meant by 
classes of net assets? Is this information disclosed by commercial organizations, why or why not? 

2. Where does a not-for-profit typically mention that GAAP requires management to make use of 
estimates in the notes to the financial statements? 

3. Does the sample “Cash and Cash Equivalents” footnote in appendix A disclose what their 
definition of cash equivalents is? Do they have any assets excluded because of restrictions? 

4. Does the sample “Prior Year” footnote in appendix A indicate if the prior year information is in 
conformity with GAAP for comparative purposes or is it simply summarized information? 
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5. Could a not-for-profit disclose any contributed services where the dollar amount is not reflected 
in the financial statements? 

6. How are investments other than equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all 
debt securities (in other words, donated investments) valued in the sample investments footnote 
in appendix A? 

7. Does the sample “Support, Revenue, and Expenses” footnote in appendix A indicate that 
intentions to give were received? 

8. Does the not-for-profit imply a time restriction on gifts of property and equipment according to 
the sample “Support, Revenue, and Expenses” footnote in appendix A? 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which describes other investments? 

a. Other investments include investments in publicly traded securities. 
b. Other investments include investments in real estate. 
c. Other investments exclude investments in mortgage notes. 
d. Other investments exclude investments in venture capital funds. 

2. Which describes investments? 

a. Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair value and all debt securities 
should not be reported at their fair value. 

b. Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair value and all debt securities 
should be reported at cost basis. 

c. Other investments exclude, among others, investments in oil and gas interests. 
d. Investments in derivative instruments should be reported as either assets or liabilities and 

measured at fair value. 

3. Suppose an NFP receives notification that the organization is named as beneficiary in a living 
individual’s will. This indicates: 

a. An unconditional promise to give and is therefore recorded. 
b. An intention to give and is therefore recorded. 
c. A conditional promise to give and is therefore not recorded. 
d. An unconditional promise to give and is therefore not recorded.  
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Case Study 3  

CONTRIBUTION CONCEPTS 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify the appropriate accounting for recording and recognizing contributions. 
 Identify when to record an unconditional promise to give. 
 Determine how to measure unconditional promises to give. 

Review the following paragraphs in appendix B of this course which contains excerpts from the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: 5.01–5.02, 5.59, 5.63–5.68, 5.71–5.75, 5.77, 5.85, 5.94–5.95, 
5.105–5.106, 5.123, 5.152–5.154, 5.164–5.165, 5.181, 5.218, 5.222, 5.230, 7.16–7.18, 7.22, 7.25, and 9.21, 
to help find answers to the questions posed in this case. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

Your organization solicits contributions in many ways including visits to donors. A number of donors 
just give cash, but a growing number prefer to complete an online pledge card and mail or use online 
banking for their payment. Some even specify how the money must be spent. This case helps you identify 
the evidence needed to record an unconditional promise to give, when to record it, how to measure its 
amount, and to distinguish those promises that are intentions (not unconditional). 
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Required – Case Study 3 
1. Are unconditional promises to give recorded as contribution revenue when the promise is made 

or when the cash is received? How should it be measured initially? 

2. If you were to design a pledge card, or a web-based one; what types of information would you 
request to indicate that the pledge is a bona fide promise to give? To answer this question, use 
the box below to draft a pledge card containing the appropriate information. 

 

3. What further action could be taken to help establish the validity of the pledge? 

2016 Pledge Card 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 3-3 

4. Should the pledge form include a line for conditional pledges? Name a situation when a 
conditional promise should be recorded. Can a promise be part conditional and part 
unconditional? 

5. Is it possible to word a special pledge form (say, for a particular fund drive) to indicate a 
restriction? 

6. Accounting for promises to give may require an asset account, such as, “contributions 
receivable.” Will it be difficult to measure the value of this asset? 

7. What note disclosures are required regarding unconditional promises received? 
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8. Can a not-for-profit entity receive communications that are intentions to give, rather than promises to 
give? If so, can you think of an example, and what is the proper accounting treatment? 

9. Should a not-for-profit entity consider as a contribution free media time for a public service 
announcement that encourages contributions? 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which statement describes contributions? 

a. Not-for-profit organizations do not receive contributions of cash from individuals. 
b. Not-for-profit organizations do not receive contributions of other assets from individuals. 
c. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions in exchange for services performed 

pursuant to a contract. 
d. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions of cash, other assets, and services 

from for-profit organizations. 

2. Which statement describes contributions? 

a. A contribution is a conditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a settlement or 
cancellation of its liabilities in a reciprocal transfer by another entity acting other than as an 
owner. 

b. Not-for-profit organizations do not receive contributions of other assets from governments. 
c. FASB ASC 958 defines a contribution. 
d. A contribution is not recorded when it subject to a donor-imposed restriction that is 

permanent in nature. 

3. Which statement describes donor-imposed restrictions? 

a. Some restrictions are temporary in nature, limiting the organization's use of contributed 
assets to (1) later periods or after specific dates (time restrictions), (2) specific purposes 
(purpose restrictions), or (3) both. 

b. Restrictions may not be stipulated explicitly by the donor in a written or oral communication 
accompanying the contribution. 

c. Restrictions may be stipulated explicitly by the not-for-profit organization’s board of 
directors, limiting the organization’s use of contributed assets to (1) later periods or after 
specific dates (time restrictions), (2) specific purposes (purpose restrictions), or (3) both. 

d. Restrictions may not result implicitly from the circumstances surrounding receipt of the 
contributed asset. 
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Case Study 4  

CONTRIBUTED SERVICES, FACILITIES, 
AND GIFTS IN KIND 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify accounting for contributed services, gifts in kind, and contributed facilities. 

Review the following paragraphs in appendix B of this course which contains excerpts from the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: 5.112–5.13, 5.164–5.165, 5.222 example 4, and 5.231 to help 
find answers to the questions posed in this case. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

A not-for-profit organization was founded only three years ago but has grown to serve 5,000 needy men 
and women in its two kitchens. Each kitchen is managed by a retired chef with years of experience in 
restaurants that served large numbers of people. Other volunteers – many recruited from local  
churches – work in two- to four-hour shifts at serving, kitchen duties, and cleanup. (A committee of the 
Board of Trustees recruits the volunteers and prepares the weekly rosters.) The space, fixtures, and 
furnishings are contributed by a restaurant chain that has under leases a number of empty properties. The 
financial support received during the year totaled $800,000. Almost all of this was used to purchase 
supplies and food, pay for utilities, and publicize the kitchens. Costs incurred in recruiting the “other 
volunteers” amounted to $100,000 per year. 
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Required – Case Study 4 

QUESTIONS 

Board members ask the following questions: 

1. Volunteer Services – Should the values of any of the volunteer services be disclosed in our 
statements? Where and how should the values be disclosed? Where should the $100,000 incurred 
in recruiting the “other volunteers” be reported? 

2. Contributed Space, Fixtures, and Furnishings – Our kitchens could not be run at all without these. 
Should the space, fixtures, and furnishings be valued and disclosed? 

3. Are Other Disclosures Recommended? – This endeavor is important to us. Do you believe that the 
impact we have on the community is fully reflected with dollars? Is there any other way to 
disclose our impact? Consider the sample “Donated Services” footnote in appendix A. 

4. Disclosure of Matching Effort – Some of our grants call for evidence of matching effort, and we have 
shown the values of most contributed services for this reason. We know that FASB rules allow 
recognition of only certain types of contributed services. For grant purposes, how can we get the 
values of all the other contributed services into the statements? 

5. Review the sample “Contributed Services and Gifts In-Kind” footnote in appendix A. Does the 
not-for-profit record contributed services and gifts in-kind? 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Assume the services provided by the retired chef fits the criteria for contribution recognition. 
Therefore, the NFP should 

a. Debit an asset and credit a liability. 
b. Debit a liability and credit an asset. 
c. Debit expense and credit contribution revenue. 
d. Debit contribution expense and credit sales. 

2. The services of the committee of the board of trustees for recruiting volunteers and preparing weekly 
work rosters should be 

a. A debit to an asset and a credit to a liability. 
b. A debit to expense and a credit to contribution revenue. 
c. A debit to contribution revenue and a credit to expense. 
d. Not recorded because they are not using specialized skills. 

3. Suppose the organization relies on volunteers to accomplish its mission, and this may be important 
to readers of the entity’s financial statements. How can contributed services not meeting criteria for 
recognition be reported? 

a. Should not be reported. 
b. Can be disclosed only in a management letter. 
c. Management can make an election to record all contributed services. 
d. Described in a note which could include the number of volunteer hours. 
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Case Study 5  

COMMON FINANCIAL  
STATEMENT MISTAKES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify common presentation errors or omissions in a fictitious set of financial statements of  
an NFP. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

The staff accountant has prepared the set of financial statements found on the following pages for your 
review. Using your understanding of accounting and financial statement errors and omissions, respond to 
the following questions. 

Review the following paragraphs in appendix B of this course which contains excerpts from the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: 3.27, 3.30–3.33, 3.47 exhibit 3-1, 4.98, 13.09, 13.40–13.44, 
13.72, and 16.04 to help find answers to the questions posed in this case. 
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Required – Case Study 5 
1. Identify six presentation errors or omissions in the statement of financial position. 

2. Identify three presentation errors or omissions in the statement of activities. 

3. Identify three presentation errors or omissions in the statement of cash flows. 
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Brown’s Theater 
Statement of Financial Position 

June 30, 2015 

Assets 

Current: 

Cash and cash equivalents $81,000 

Contributions receivable (gross) 75,000 

Marketable securities 2,000 

Due from other funds 8,800 

Fundraising costs 46,000 

 Total current assets 212,800 

Noncurrent:  

Contributions receivable (gross amount collectible) 65,000 

Equipment (net) 41,000 

Buildings (net) 100,000 

 Total assets $ 418,800 

Liabilities and Net Assets  

Accounts payable $60,000 

Deferred liabilities 65,000 

Due to other funds 8,800 

Allowance for uncollectible contributions 3,000 

Notes due in five years 20,000 

Mortgage payable 100,000 

Unrestricted net assets 80,000 

Board-designated endowments 41,000 

Temporarily restricted net assets 21,000 

Permanently restricted net assets 20,000 

 Total liabilities and net assets $ 418,800 
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Brown’s Theater 
Statement of Activities 

for the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily 
Restricted 

Permanently 
Restricted Total 

Revenues and Gains  

Contributions $ 81,000  $ 59,000 $ 20,000 $ 160,000

Ticket revenues 65,000  65,000

Special event (net of direct 
 expenses of 16,000) 

48,000   48,000 

Gain on sale of investments 3,000  3,000

Net assets released from 
restrictions 

 38,000 (38,000)   — 

Total revenues and  gains 235,000 21,000    20,000 276,000

Expenses  

Art classes 61,000  61,000

Performances 100,000  100,000

Administrative and general 51,000  51,000

Fundraising 10,000 4,000  14,000

Interest expense 11,000   11,000

  Total expenses 233,000 4,000  — 237,000

Change in net assets 2,000 17,000 20,000 39,000

Net assets at beginning of year 119,000 4,000  — 123,000

Net assets at end of year 121,000 21,000 20,000 162,000
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Brown’s Theater 
Statement of Cash Flows 

for the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Change in net assets $39,000 

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 
  to net cash used by operating activities:

 

Depreciation 9,000 

Decrease in contributions receivable 11,000 

Decrease in mortgage payable (8,000) 

Decrease in deferred liabilities (15,000) 

Net cash generated by operating activities  36,000 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities  

Sale of donated financial assets 10,000 

Construction of theater lobby (27,000) 

Sale of investments 38,000 

Gain on sale of investments (3,000) 

Net cash used by investing activities 18,000 

Net increase in cash 54,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 27,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $81,000 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Board-designated endowments can 

a. Be reported in a separate net asset classification. 
b. Be reported separately if they are included under the caption of unrestricted net asset 

classification. 
c. Be reported separately if they are included under the caption of temporarily restricted net 

asset classification. 
d. Not be disclosed. 

2. In the statement of activities, special event revenues and expenses 

a. Can be reported net if they are peripheral or incidental. 
b. Can be reported net if they are ongoing major or central. 
c. Are required to be reported at gross revenues and expense amounts. 
d. Need not be reported. 

3. A cash flow statement of an NFP  

a. Has cash flows generally from operating, investing, and financing activities. 
b. Can have cash flows only from operating activities. 
c. Does not have cash flows from operating activities. 
d. Has cash flows generally from operating, investing, and fundraising activities. 
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Case Study 6  

THE SUMMER THEATER 

ORGANIZATION: TWO ACCOUNTING 

AND REPORTING ISSUES REVISITED 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Apply concepts related to valuation of contributed services. 
 Determine whether contributed services meet the criteria needed to be recorded. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

In this case the organization is faced with two situations that puzzle the executives. 

The executive producer and the treasurer of the Summer Theater Organization are debating the 
information needed to comply with the following accounting and reporting issues: 

 Valuation of contributed services 
 Promises received near the organization’s year-end of September 30 

The executive producer introduces each topic and the treasurer responds. 
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Valuation of Contributed Services 
The treasurer reviews the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: paragraphs 3.148, 5.67–5.71, 
5.112–5.116, and 5.144. (See appendix B of this course.) 

Executive producer:  Don’t we already account for contributed services when we prepare the report on 
matching effort called for in the big grant we receive from the county? 

Treasurer: We do. It would be convenient if we could just use that information. But there are two 
problems. First, matching effort does not include the value of fixed assets built with 
volunteer help, such as the enlargement of the lobby this year. Second, we throw almost 
everything else into that “matching effort” schedule. Some of those contributed services may 
not qualify to be reported under generally accepted accounting principles. 

Executive producer:  I was afraid you’d say that. But here are four volunteer situations that might work: 

1. The stage settings we worked so hard to build: We may be able to use them again next year, with 
additions and changes. Aren’t these assets? 

2. The seamstress, Mrs. Harris, who heads up Costume: She’s an expert. We paid a woman $50,000 
last year for the same work. Mrs. Harris did it all as a volunteer this year. 

3. The audio engineer: He fixed our system. It would have cost $20,000 to get a new one. He didn’t 
charge us anything. 

4. The trumpet soloist: We use her every year. She comes from our affiliate NFP that controls us 
for no charge.  
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Required – Case Study 6 
Prepare the treasurer’s responses, considering whether the services meet the tests described in the FASB 
ASC, how to value the services, and what to do about the lobby addition that the executive producer did 
not even mention. 

PROMISES RECEIVED NEAR YEAR-END 

The treasurer reviews the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: paragraphs 5.91–5.98,  
5.180–5.181, table 5-4 of 5.191, and 5.222 example 2. (See appendix B of this course.) 

Executive producer: We have promises received in the month of September for contributions to be made 
for next summer’s shows. We recognize these when the cash comes in because the amount 
pledged may change from the ultimate amount collected. Is this approach correct? 

REQUIRED 

Prepare the treasurer’s response for the promises received in the month of September for next year’s 
shows. (Fiscal year is the calendar year.) 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. The value of the audio engineer contribution 

a. Should not be recorded because he is not an expert. 
b. Can be determined by the number of hours worked and by what he normally charges per 

hour. 
c. Cannot be reasonably estimated. 
d. Cannot be determined. 

2. The work of volunteers on the extension of the lobby 

a. Should not be recorded because they are not experts. 
b. Can never be determined by reference to the fair value of services received. 
c. Can be determined by an appraisal of the value of the extension. 
d. Cannot be determined. 

3. Promises to give near the end of the year where the assets will be received next year should be 

a. Recognized at the time of the promise, not when the cash is received. 
b. Recognized only when the assets are received. 
c. Recognized as revenue in permanently restricted net assets. 
d. Recognized only if they are conditional. 
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Case Study 7  

SAMPLE NOT-FOR-PROFIT 

ORGANIZATION: THE  
TREASURER MEETS WITH THE 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Analyze for a not-for-profit (NFP) client certain aspects in its annual financial statements. 
 Identify when an NFP can and cannot borrow from its endowments. 
 Differentiate the change in net assets figure in a statement of activities from the net income figure in 

a for-profit income statement. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

The finance committee is examining the NFP organization’s statements without the benefit of the notes 
to the financial statements. The treasurer, a CPA with a practice primarily with not-for-profit entities, 
starts the meeting by making the following points: 

 The increase in the endowment principal (permanently restricted net assets) is encouraging but not of 
immediate significance because only some of the interest and gains can be used for current programs. 

 Program B is just getting off the ground. It will take a lot more money to reach our goal of expanding 
services to many more households because new sites will have to be staffed by new personnel. 
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 The balance in contributions receivable has doubled. We will have to watch this. Is the jump due to 
successful fundraising at year-end or has there been a lag in collections? 

 We have managed to keep our programs going and growing, but look what has happened to 
liabilities. Accounts payable has increased 10 times. 

 Note that contract revenue has decreased somewhat. This revenue comes from the county, and is for 
services under program A. 

Sample NFP Organization 

Statements of Financial Position 

 June 30 

 2015 2014 

Assets  

Cash $ 30,000 $ 45,000

Interest receivable 14,000  12,000

Inventories 6,000  8,000

Contributions receivable 61,000  31,000

Land, buildings, and equipment 114,000  114,000

Long-term investments 340,000  230,000

  Total assets $ 565,000 $ 440,000

Liabilities and Net Assets  

Liabilities:  

  Accounts payable $ 60,000 $ 6,000

  Deferred contract revenue 30,000  4,000

   Total liabilities $ 90,000 $ 10,000

Net Assets:  

  Unrestricted $ 105,000 $ 130,000

  Temporarily restricted 30,000  70,000

  Permanently restricted 340,000  230,000

   Total net assets $ 475,000 $ 430,000

   Total liabilities and net assets $ 565,000 $ 440,000
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Sample NFP Organization 
Statements of Activities 

 2015 2014 

Changes in unrestricted net assets: 

Revenues and gains: 

Contributions $ 70,000 $ 65,000

Contract revenue 120,000  137,000

Interest income 19,000  23,000

Net realized gains on investments 31,000  25,000

Total unrestricted revenues and gains $ 240,000 $ 250,000

Net assets released from restrictions 80,000  50,000

Total unrestricted revenues, gains, 
 and other support 

$ 320,000 $ 300,000 

Expenses:  

Program A $ 229,000 $ 224,000

Program B 29,000  12,000

Management and general 56,000  30,000

Fundraising 31,000  4,000

 Total expenses $ 345,000 $ 270,000

(Decrease) increase in unrestricted net assets $ (25,000) $ 30,000

Changes in temporarily restricted net assets:  

Contributions 40,000  90,000

Net assets released from restrictions (80,000)  (50,000)

(Decrease) increase in temporarily  

restricted net assets: $ (40,000) $ 40,000

Changes in permanently restricted net assets:  

Contributions 110,000  —

Increase in permanently restricted net assets $ 110,000 $ —

Increase in net assets 45,000  70,000

Net assets at beginning of year 430,000  360,000

Net assets at end of year $ 475,000 $ 430,000
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Sample NFP Organization 
Statements of Cash Flows 

 2015 2014 

Cash flows from operating activities:  

Contract revenue $ 146,000 $ 141,000

Interest and dividends received 17,000  15,000

Contributed support received 80,000  124,000

Cash paid for:  

Salaries and related expenses (206,000)  (215,000)

Other operating expenses (78,000)  (50,000)

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities $ (41,000) $ 15,000

  

Cash flows from investing activities:  

Equipment purchased (5,000)  (7,000)

Proceeds from sale of investments 102,000  111,000

Purchase of investments (71,000)  (86,000)

Net cash provided by investing activities $ 26,000 $ 18,000

  

Net (decrease) increase in cash (15,000)  33,000

Cash at beginning of year 45,000  12,000

Cash at end of year $ 30,000 $ 45,000

  

Reconciliation of increase in net assets to net cash  

(used) provided in operating activities:  

Increase in net assets $ 45,000 $ 70,000

Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets to cash 
(used) provided in operating activities: 

  

Depreciation 5,000  5,000

Contribution to endowment (110,000)  

Change in accounts payable and  

deferred contract revenue 80,000  (18,000)

Increase in interest receivable (2,000)  (2,000)

Change in inventories 2,000  (6,000)

Increase in contributions receivable (30,000)  (9,000)

Net realized gains on long-term investments (31,000)  (25,000)

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities $ (41,000) $  15,000

Supplemental data for noncash investing and financing 
activities: 

  

Gift of securities $ 110,000  
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Required – Case Study 7 

REQUIRED 

Various members of the committee raise some questions and concerns. Assume the role of the treasurer, 
and respond to the members’ concerns. Before answering the questions, review appendix B of this course 
and consider the following paragraphs in the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: 1.01, 
3.25–3.27, 3.30, 3.40, 4.66, 4.68-4.69, and 15.52. 

The members’ questions to the treasurer are as follows: 

1. It looks like we might run short on cash. May we borrow cash from the endowment? 

2. I don’t think we should be concerned about cash. The balance of $30,000 isn’t that bad, is it? 

3. The statement of activities shows an increase in net assets of $45,000. Isn’t that figure similar  
to net income in a business? This $45,000 increase looks pretty good. That’s the bottom line, 
isn’t it? 

4. I was looking at the expenses. Especially management and general and fundraising. Those figures 
do not look good. Management and general expenses are up $26,000 and fundraising expense is 
up $27,000 but we show only a $5,000 increase in unrestricted contributions. How did this 
happen? 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which describes endowments where donor stipulations require the maintenance of principal? 

a. The principal can be used to support expenses of a not-for-profit. 
b. Eroding principal for use in operations could lead to problems during an audit. 
c. Earnings on investments of endowments can never be used for operations. 
d. The principal is normally reported within unrestricted net assets. 

2. Reporting of expenses 

a. Is required by functional classification (such as program, management, and general). 
b. Is required by natural classification (such as rent, salaries, and interest). 
c. Is the same as a for-profit business. 
d. Is required for all NFPs in a separate functional and natural schedule. 

3. What should the statement of activities “bottom line” report? 

a. Increase (decrease) in net assets. 
b. Net income (or loss) like a for-profit business. 
c. Increase (decrease) in net surplus (deficit). 
d. Net increase or decrease in the balance of the general fund. 
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Case Study 8  

WHEN IS A GRANT A  
CONTRIBUTION? WHEN IS IT AN 

EXCHANGE TRANSACTION? 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Differentiate between grants as contributions or exchange transactions. 
 Identify the indicators useful in distinguishing contributions from exchange transactions found in 

table 5.1 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: chapter 5, “Contributions 
Received and Agency Transactions.” 

HIGHLIGHTS 

Consider guidance concerning exchange transactions in appendix B of this course, which contains 
excerpts from the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. Pay particular attention to paragraph 
5.40 and table 5-1 (which follows paragraph 5.45).  

Consider the preceding paragraphs, try to classify the following six grants, referring to appendix B, which 
contains the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: table 5-1. Present your justification for 
treating the transaction as either a contribution or an exchange transaction using two criteria indicators. 
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Required – Case Study 8 
1. The Theater – A not-for-profit theater group has recently applied for and received its annual 

$100,000 grant from the State Arts Council “in support of the theater’s summer programs.” This 
was not the first year it has received this grant. In the year of the first application, however, the 
grant was denied and the theater group was advised that it would have to show a longer “track 
record” of public interest in its performances. After two years, the board tried again and it was a 
successful application this time. The executive director of the theater group prepared the 
application needed, including audited financial statements for the most recent prior year, a 
budget for the grant year, and information regarding 

 the group’s mission in the community; 
 the professional qualifications of certain staff members; 
 the makeup of the board of trustees; 
 physical characteristics of the theater building; and 
 details of contributions from the public. 

Ever since this first grant year, a representative of the arts council has annually visited the 
theater, seen a performance, and met with the producer and board members. 

2. The Same Theater – The County Office for the Disabled approached the theater board, offering a 
grant for the theater to provide three summer performances exclusively for disabled children 
living in area group homes. The County Office for the Disabled would pay the theater the 
published ticket prices for each eligible child who attended. The list of eligible children, with 
their addresses, would be provided by the County Office for the Disabled. If the performances 
proved successful, the County Office for the Disabled would offer similar grants in future years. 

3. Public Health Committee – The State Public Health Committee publicized the availability of an 
$80,000 research grant, inviting economists, statisticians, or public health professionals to apply. 
A not-for-profit research group of professors in public health medicine received the grant. The 
research would help the State Public Health Committee in its application for increased 
appropriations for dental care for school children. What was required was an analysis of 
demographic, treatment, examination, and cost records accumulated by schools that had 
provided dental care in schools for 15 years. The research was to be a longitudinal study of the 
records of charts of school children aged 6 to 18 over the 15 years. Evidence of the cost-
effectiveness of the care is required for an appeal for an added appropriation. The grantee is 
required to prepare a report within six months. Postponements of the due date of the report are 
not acceptable. Failure to meet this deadline will mean forfeiture of all or part of the total grant 
amount. 

4. Housing for the Elderly – Five ministers in the community have begun to pursue the possibilities of 
development and operation by their not-for-profit group of a moderately priced housing 
complex for the elderly. The group has filed the necessary applications for legal status as a not-
for-profit corporation. They learned of a state program that would “contribute seed money” to 
match funds raised in a community for just such a purpose. The application for the matching 
funds must include detailed plans for construction, evidence of need in the community, details 
about additional state, federal, or private financing possibilities, proposed rent schedules, and 
descriptions of board members and professionals who would work on the project. 
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5. County Historical Association – The County Historical Association (the association) maintains an 
historic house in which special exhibits are offered and permanent rooms are displayed. There is 
no fee to visit the house. The association has received a $20,000 annual county grant for several 
years to support its programs. The grant request each year must be accompanied by a budget for 
the coming grant period. Each year’s request is approved or denied by a vote of the county 
legislature, upon recommendation of its Arts and Culture Committee. The association must 
submit audited financial statements for each year in which a grant has been received. 

6. The Electric Utility – The area electric utility publicized a $100,000 grant for research into the likely 
economic impact on the utility’s future volume of service of contracts with competing sources of 
generated electricity. The study is expected to consider independent water-generation sources 
and other alternative power sources. A report is to be presented on the total expected volume of 
competition over the next five years and the effect of this competition on the utility’s volume 
and income. It is expected that the report will consider the various arrangements that might be 
made by the public utility commission of the state—for example, requiring the utility to deliver 
the alternative power over its lines for a fixed price or requiring the utility to purchase all 
alternative power at a fixed price. The report is to be used by the utility in long-range planning 
for marketing and in hearings before the public utility commission. A group of economics 
professors working together as Economic Research Associates (a not-for-profit corporation) is 
given the grant. The income of the group is donated to two local colleges for scholarship 
programs. 

NFP Contributions/Exchanged Two Indicators 

1. Theater   

2. The Same Theater    

3. Public Health    

4. Housing for Elderly     

5. County Historical 
Association  

  

6. The Electric Utility    
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which describes the amounts (such as a grant) received from a resource provider by a not-for-profit? 

a. It is a contribution if the amount received by a not-for-profit is determined by the resource 
provider and its purpose is to support its programs. 

b. It is a liability if the resource provider asserts its purpose is to support the not-for-profit 
programs. 

c. It is a contribution if the amount received by a not-for-profit is determined by the resource 
recipient and its purpose is compensation. 

d. Amounts received in such transactions are liabilities. 

2. What factor generally indicates an exchange transaction, not a contribution transaction, of amounts 
received by a not-for-profit? 

a. It is usually an exchange transaction if, in a grant, the grantee is required to prepare a report 
to the resource provider (grantor). 

b. It is usually a contribution transaction if assets are to be delivered to individuals or 
organizations other than the resource provider. 

c. NFPs record only exchange contributions. 
d. NFPs record only contributions. 

3. What circumstances indicate a contribution? 

a. An NFP is penalized for nonperformance. 
b. Recipient NFP is seeking remuneration for service rendered. 
c. Payments by resource provider equal the value of assets provided by NFP. 
d. Recipient NFP is seeking a contribution. 
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Case Study 9  

MEMBERSHIP DUES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this case study, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify whether a transaction is nonreciprocal (such as a contribution) or a reciprocal exchange of 
goods and services for membership dues. 

 Apply the indicators useful for determining the contribution and exchange portion of membership 
dues. 

Consider guidance about membership dues in appendix B of this course, which contains excerpts from 
the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities: paragraphs 5.47 and 5.49 (including table 5-2.) that 
is a reproduction of FASB ASC 958-605-55. 

The recommended reading provides guidance on how to determine the elements of membership dues as 
a contribution or as revenue from an exchange transaction. Membership dues may have elements of both 
a contribution and an exchange transaction (resulting in revenue). 

Usually, the determination of whether membership dues are contributions rests on whether the value 
received by the member is commensurate with the member’s dues paid. For example, if an organization 
has annual dues of $100 and the only benefit members receive is a monthly newsletter with a fair value of 
$25, $25 of the dues are received in an exchange transaction (and therefore recognized as revenue as the 
earnings process is completed), while the remaining $75 of the member’s dues are treated as a 
contribution. 
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Required – Case Study 9 
Referring to the cited paragraphs in appendix B of this course, which contains excerpts of the Audit and 
Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities, try to classify the following six situations as a contribution or 
exchange transaction. Refer to indicators listed in appendix B, table 5-2 from the Audit and Accounting 
Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

1. Your local zoological society begins a membership drive. The request is for family memberships 
for $200. The ad states that each membership will allow one disadvantaged child in the 
community one full-day pass to the zoo, along with unlimited visits by your immediate family. 

2. Your local CPA society solicits your support for two scholarships for minority students who 
intend to enter the profession. The amount is stated as an addition to your annual dues. 

3. You are asked to join a society that promotes the accounting profession. One of the 
qualifications for membership is that you must be a practicing CPA. 

4. The County Historical Society maintains a house in which special exhibits are offered and 
lectures are given. Membership entitles you to a special seat for these performances. The dues 
amount to $500 per year. It is estimated that you could buy similar seats for “open” 
performances for $200. 

5. You join the local country club. Dues are $3,000 per year. You enjoy a golf course and swimming 
pool. Each year approximately $100 from each membership is donated to local charities. 

6. The Boy Scout Council in your county solicits honorary memberships in the amount of $500 to 
assist it in starting a troop in your town sometime in the future. 

 Definition Indicator 

1.    

2.    

3.    

4.    

5.    

6.    
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KNOWLEDGE CHECKS 

1. Which describes accounting for membership dues?  

a. Membership dues are a contribution if the dues provide substantial benefits to the general 
public. 

b. Membership dues are a contribution if the dues provide economic benefits to members only. 
c. Membership dues are always a contribution. 
d. Membership dues are always an exchange transaction. 

2. Membership dues are generally considered a 

a. Contribution if it is not refundable to the resource provider. 
b. Contribution if the payment is fully or partially refundable if the resource provider 

withdraws from membership. 
c. Contribution if it is entirely refundable if the resource provider withdraws from 

membership. 
d. Never considered an exchange transaction. 

3. Your membership dues to the AICPA, which promotes the accounting profession and requires you 
to be a CPA for full membership, is 

a. An exchange transaction. 
b. A contribution transaction. 
c. An exchange contribution. 
d. Part exchange and part contribution. 
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Appendix A  

SAMPLE FOOTNOTE DISCLOSURES 

 

This appendix is included for supplementary purposes only and is not  
required for CPE credit. 
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SAMPLE INVESTMENTS FOOTNOTE 

Investments consist of mutual funds, certificates of deposit, bonds, equity securities, and money market 
funds. Mutual funds, bonds, and equity securities have readily determinable fair values with gains and 
losses included as unrestricted income in the statements of activities. Other investments (such as 
certificates of deposit) are carried at the lower of cost or fair value. Donated investments are recorded at 
fair value on the date of donation and thereafter carried in accordance with the above provisions.  

SAMPLE SUPPORT, REVENUE, AND EXPENSES FOOTNOTE 

Revenue is recognized when earned and support when contributions are made, which may be when cash 
is received, unconditional promises are made, or ownership of other assets is transferred to the not-for-
profit. 

The not-for-profit reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if they are received with 
donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated amounts. When a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purpose restriction is satisfied, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets 
and reported in the statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

The not-for-profit received indications of intent to support their mission that are commitments to 
provide monthly, quarterly, or annual gifts of a specified amount. These commitments are open-ended 
and subject to unilateral change by the donor. Because the commitments do not express the term or 
period, the amount of the commitment is not measurable. Considering these factors, the commitments 
are not considered to be unconditional promises to give and are not recognized prior to receive of the 
contribution. 

Avant reports gifts of property and equipment as unrestricted support unless explicit donor stipulations 
specify how the donated assets must be used. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those 
long-lived assets must be maintained, the not-for-profit reports expirations of donor restrictions when 
the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service. 

Expenses are reported when costs are incurred. 

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS FOOTNOTE 

The statement of activities reports the changes in net assets from operating and nonoperating activities. 
Nonoperating activities reflect contributions for long-term investments and capital projects and the 
investment return in excess of the amount utilized in operations. In addition, nonoperating activities 
include changes in the values of split-interest agreements and interest rate swaps, net assets released from 
restrictions for capital purposes, postretirement benefit obligation changes other than net periodic costs, 
and certain other nonrecurring transactions. All other activity is classified in operating activities. 

All contributions are considered available for unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by donors. 
Amounts received that are restricted by the donor as to time or for specific purposes are reported as 
temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support that increases those net asset classes. When 
qualifying expenditure occurs or a time restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are reduced 
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and unrestricted net assets are correspondingly increased as net assets released from restrictions in the 
statement of activities. 

Dividends, interest, and realized and unrealized gains (losses) on long-term investments are reported as 
follows: 

 Increases in permanently restricted net assets if the terms of the gift require these to be added to the 
principal. 

 Increases (decreases) in temporarily restricted net assets if the terms of the gift or relevant state law 
imposes restrictions on the use of the income and gains 

 Increases (decreases) in unrestricted net assets in all other cases. 

SAMPLE CONTRIBUTED SERVICES AND GIFTS IN KIND FOOTNOTE 

Contributed services and gifts in kind for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2016 were as follows: 

(in thousands) 2016 2015 

Pro bono outside services:

Legal $100 $200 

Marketing 1,800 1,700 

Miscellaneous 50 50 

In-house volunteers 800 750 

Gifts in-kind   

Capital software 300 150 

Miscellaneous 20 15 

Total $3,070 $2,865 
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SAMPLE MUSEUM COLLECTIONS FOOTNOTE 

The not-for-profit museum’s collections consist of approximately 40,000 artifacts used primarily for 
educational activities encompassing interpretations, discovery spaces, exhibits, lectures, classes, 
demonstrations, reference services, or other programs. The not-for-profit museum also has a historical 
and archival collection that documents the history of the institution. The composition of the not-for-
profit museum’s collections by artifact type is as follows: 

Natural Sciences 20,000 items

Cultural/Physical Science 10,000 items

Artwork 5,000 items

Institutional History 5,000 items

Archives 500 linear feet

The not-for-profit museum’s Collections Management Policy stipulates that the not-for-profit museum 
will only acquire objects useful in fulfilling the education purpose stated in its mission. The not-for-profit 
museum accepts only those objects that can be immediately put on display in an exhibit, used in 
educational programs, or used in future programming. 

Items may be de-accessioned from the collections if they are determined to be no longer useful or 
relevant in assisting the not-for-profit museum in fulfilling its mission. The not-for-profit museum’s 
policy specifies that proceeds from the de-accessioning of an item may only be used for the conservation 
or acquisition of other collections items. 

In accordance with current practice generally followed by museums, collections are not recorded as assets 
in the accompanying financial statements. Purchased additions to the collections are recorded as expenses 
at the time acquired. Although artifacts from the collections may from time to time be incorporated into 
exhibits, the not-for-profit museum’s exhibits themselves are not considered part of its collections and 
may be capitalized under the not-for-profit museum’s property, plant, and equipment policies. 

SAMPLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES UNDER SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS 

FOOTNOTE 

Assets and liabilities under split-interest agreements are recorded at fair value and in the appropriate net 
asset category based on donor stipulation. Contributions related to the agreement are recognized as 
contribution revenue equal to the present value of future benefits less the liability for income payable to 
the donor or the donor’s designee. Separate liabilities have been established for those agreements for 
which the not-for-profit museum is a trustee. Agreements for which the not-for-profit museum is not the 
trustee are recorded as assets net of the associated liability.  
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During the term of these agreements, changes in the value of the split interest agreements are recognized 
in the statement of activities based on accretion of the discounted amount of the contribution, 
reevaluations of the expected future benefits to be received by the not-for-profit museum and 
reevaluations of the expected future payment to other beneficiaries, based on changes in life expectancy 
and other actuarial assumptions. The initially recorded fair value of the donated investments are 
determined based on the nature of the investment received, and have generally represented level 1 
measurements. Due to unobservable inputs relating to actuarial assumptions made with respect to the 
income beneficiaries, the initial measurement of the related obligations are level 2 or level 3, depending 
on the existence of comparable instrument in the market. 

SAMPLE DONATED SERVICES FOOTNOTE 

Volunteers from the community have donated a significant number of hours in assisting the not-for-
profit in achieving the goals of its various service programs. The value of this contributed time is not 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements because it does not meet the recognition criteria under 
generally accepted accounting principles. The not-for-profit received approximately 85,000 volunteer 
hours during 2016. 

SAMPLE COLLECTIONS FOOTNOTE 

The not-for-profit’s collections, which were acquired through purchases and contributions since the not-
for-profit’s inception, are not recognized as assets in the statement of financial position. Purchases of 
collection items are recorded as decreases in unrestricted net assets in the year in which the items are 
acquired. Contributed collection items are not reflected in the financial statements. Proceeds from  
de-accessions or insurance recoveries are reflected as increases in the appropriate net asset classes. 

SAMPLE BASIS OF PRESENTATION FOOTNOTE 

The not-for-profit is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities 
according to three classes of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and 
permanently restricted net assets. 

 Unrestricted amounts are those currently available at the discretion of the board of directors for the 
use of the not-for-profit’s operations. 

 Temporarily restricted amounts are monies restricted by donors specifically for certain time periods, 
purposes, or programs. 

 Permanently restricted amounts are assets that must be maintained permanently by the not-for-profit 
as required by the donor, but the not-for-profit is permitted to use or expend part or all of any 
income derived from those assets. 
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SAMPLE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOOTNOTE 

The not-for-profit considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 

SAMPLE PRIOR YEAR INFORMATION FOOTNOTE 

The financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total, but not 
by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read 
in conjunction with the not-for-profit’s prior year financial statements, from which the summarized 
information was derived. 
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Appendix B  

EXCERPTS FROM THE AUDIT AND 

ACCOUNTING GUIDE NOT-FOR-
PROFIT ENTITIES 

 

This appendix is required for CPE credit. 
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Entities 
1.01 This Audit and Accounting Guide covers entities that meet the definition of a not-for-profit entity 

(NFP) included in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) glossary. That definition is 

an entity that possesses the following characteristics, in varying degrees, that distinguish it 
from a business entity:  

a. Contributions of significant amounts of resources from resource providers who do 
not expect commensurate or proportionate pecuniary return 

b. Operating purposes other than to provide goods or services at a profit 
c. Absence of ownership interests like those of business entities. 

Entities that clearly fall outside this definition include the following:  

a. All investor-owned entities  
b. Entities that provide dividends, lower costs, or other economic benefits directly and 

proportionately to their owners, members, or participants, such as mutual insurance 
entities, credit unions, farm and rural electric cooperatives, and employee benefit 
plans. 

 As noted in the preceding definition, NFPs have characteristics (a), (b), and (c) in varying degrees. 
An entity could meet the definition of an NFP without possessing characteristic (a), (b), or (c). 
For example, some NFPs, such as those that receive all their revenue from exchange 
transactions, receive no contributions. 

Industry Characteristics 

2.76 The operations of NFPs differ from those of for-profit entities in several significant ways, and 
those differences affect the auditor’s assessment of the risk of material misstatement. NFPs use 
their resources to accomplish the purpose or mission for which they exist, not to generate net 
income. These resources often come from contributions, grants, or appropriations, some of 
which may be subject to limitations on how the resources may be used.1 These limitations, which 
may be imposed by donor restrictions, by contractual terms, or by the NFP’s governing board, 
may affect the way in which revenues and net assets are recorded and presented in the financial 
statements. 

2.77 NFPs are also required to comply with numerous other provisions of statutes, contractual 
agreements, terms of grants and trust agreements, and similar limitations. As discussed earlier in 
this chapter, these compliance requirements may have an effect on the financial statements. 
Finally, though NFPs are usually eligible for tax-exempt status under Section 501 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, income from activities not related to an NFP’s exempt purpose may be subject 
to tax and the NFP may own or control for-profit subsidiaries. Taxes on unrelated business 
income and other tax matters related to the assessment of the risk of material misstatement for 
an NFP are addressed in chapter 15, “Tax and Regulatory Considerations.” 

2.78 NFPs often have revenue and expense transactions that are unique to the industry, and these 
transactions have attendant implications for assessing the risk of material misstatement. For 

                                                      

1 As used in this guide, limitation refers broadly to any constraints imposed on the use of assets or net assets, 
restriction refers to donor-imposed limitations, and designation refers to governing-board-imposed limitations. 
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example, some NFPs solicit contributions from various sources; some receive revenues from 
grants; and some NFPs collect dues from members. Fund-raising may take place through 
telemarketing, direct mail solicitations, door-to-door solicitations, telethons, various kinds of 
special events, and other activities. Some NFPs collect substantial amounts of contributions in 
the form of currency. Each of these sources of cash flows is associated with different kinds of 
risk. On the expenditure side, some NFPs must also comply with restrictions imposed by 
resource providers. The revenue and expenditure transaction cycles of NFPs may also include 
transactions that are similar to those entered into by for-profit entities—for example, buying and 
selling merchandise, purchasing investments, property and equipment, and other assets; 
providing services for fees, and earning income from investments. These cycles may include 
transactions that do not immediately result in revenues and expenses. 

2.79 FASB ASC 958-605-25-8 requires NFPs to recognize agreements for future nonreciprocal 
transfers of cash, other assets, and services that are unconditional (that is, promises to give). 
Chapter 5, “Contributions Received and Agency Transactions,” discusses recognition and 
measurement principles for the assets and revenues related to such transactions. Applying those 
principles often involves the use of significant accounting estimates. AU-C section 540, Auditing 
Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures (AICPA, 
Professional Standards), addresses the auditor’s responsibilities relating to accounting estimates, 
including fair value accounting estimates and related disclosures, in an audit of financial 
statements. Specifically, it expands on how AU-C section 315 and other relevant AU-C sections 
are to be applied with regard to accounting estimates. It also includes requirements and guidance 
related to misstatements of individual accounting estimates and indicators of possible 
management bias. 

2.80 NFPs also have unique reporting requirements under GAAP. For example, they must report 
their expenses by function, such as major classes of program services and supporting activities, in 
conformity with FASB ASC 958-720-45-2. They are also subject to specific disclosure 
requirements under FASB ASC 958-310-50 and FASB ASC 958-605-50, such as disclosures 
about endowments, promises to give, contributed services, and collections. 

2.81 Each of these kinds of transactions and reporting requirements increases the risk of material 
misstatement. NFPs usually have controls designed to achieve control objectives related to these 
transactions. 

2.82 Many NFPs face financial and operating pressures that are similar to those faced by for-profit 
entities. NFPs may also face pressures that are unique to entities that seek revenues in the form 
of contributions and grants, transactions that often depend on the state of the economy. These 
pressures generate operating, financial, and accounting responses by management, and such 
responses may increase the risk of material misstatement. The following are examples: 

 Certain donors may tie contribution allocation formulas to the NFP’s actual or budgeted 
revenues, leading management to attempt to manage revenues to achieve the largest 
allocation possible. 

 A sluggish economy may reduce contributions and the collection of promises to give 
that were made in prior years. The reduced receipts may lead the NFP to pursue a more 
aggressive investment strategy involving complex financial instruments. Accounting for 
these instruments may represent significant risks. As part of performing his or her risk 
assessment procedures, the auditor should obtain an understanding the substance of 
these instruments and determine that they are reported in conformity with GAAP. 
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 Adverse demographics may lead an NFP that charges fees for its services to pursue a 
more aggressive marketing strategy in its quest for constituents; this could decrease the 
collectability of its receivables. 

 Shortfalls in unrestricted contributions may induce an NFP to use restricted 
contributions for purposes that violate donor restrictions. 

 Acceptance by an NFP of federal research and other grants carries with it an obligation 
to comply with federal regulations when the NFP administers those grants. Such 
regulations include those governing overhead and other costs charged to these grants. 
The terms of the grants may induce NFPs to charge unallowable costs to the grants, 
possibly resulting in liabilities for fines and repayment of any unallowable costs. 

 An attempt to appear as efficient as possible may increase the likelihood of misstatement 
of the allocation of costs between program services and supporting activities. (Because 
some financial statement users view program expenses more favorably than supporting 
services, some NFPs have incentive to report costs as program rather than supporting 
services.) 

INTRODUCTION 

3.02 FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) includes the unique standards relating to the general-
purpose external financial statements for a not-for-profit entity (NFP) in four subtopics, as 
follows: 

a. FASB ASC 958-205, about presentation of financial statements 
b. FASB ASC 958-210, about the statement of financial position 
c. FASB ASC 958-225, about the statement of activities 
d. FASB ASC 958-230, about the statement of cash flows 

 In addition to that industry-specific guidance, an NFP should follow all effective provisions of 
FASB ASC unless the specific provision explicitly exempts NFPs or its subject matter precludes 
such applicability. For example, FASB ASC contains presentation topics (FASB ASC 205, 
Presentation of Financial Statements, to FASB ASC 280, Segment Reporting), many of which provide 
guidance for general presentation and display items applicable to NFPs. The guidance in this 
chapter summarizes many of those unique standards but is not intended as a substitute for 
reading those topics and subtopics. 
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3.03 FASB ASC 958-205-45-4 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should include a 
statement of financial position as of the end of the reporting period, a statement of activities and 
a statement of cash flows for the reporting period, and accompanying notes to financial 
statements. In addition, a voluntary health and welfare entity2 should provide a statement of 
functional expenses.3  

3.04 FASB ASC 958-205-45-5 requires that a set of financial statements includes, either in the body of 
the financial statements or in the accompanying notes, information required by generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) that do not specifically exempt NFPs and information 
required by applicable specialized accounting and reporting principles and practices. Per FASB 
ASC 958-205-45-1, the requirements generally are no more stringent than the requirements for 
business entities. The degree of aggregation and order of presentation of items of assets and 
liabilities in statements of financial position or of items of revenues and expenses in statements 
of activities of NFPs, although not specified, generally should be similar to those required or 
permitted for business entities. Particular formats for a statement of financial position, a 
statement of activities, or a statement of cash flows are neither prescribed nor prohibited in part 
because similar prescriptions and proscriptions do not exist for business entities 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

3.06 FASB ASC 958-210 describes the unique standards relating to a statement of financial position 
of an NFP. In addition to that industry-specific guidance, an NFP should follow all effective 
provisions of FASB ASC unless the specific provision explicitly exempts NFPs or its subject 
matter precludes such applicability. For example, NFPs should apply the guidance contained in 
FASB ASC 210, Balance Sheet, that does not conflict with the industry guidance. 

3.07 FASB ASC 958-210-45-1 requires that a statement of financial position focus on the NFP as a 
whole and report all of the following amounts: 

 Total assets 
 Total liabilities 
 Total net assets 
 Permanently restricted net assets 

  
                                                      

2 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) glossary definition of voluntary health and welfare entity includes a 
provision that those not-for-profit entities (NFPs) derive their revenue primarily from voluntary contributions from 
the general public. It specifies that for purposes of that definition, the general public excludes governmental entities 
when determining whether an NFP is a voluntary health and welfare entity. 
3 FASB ASC and this guide use certain statement titles and the terms permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and 
unrestricted net assets. Other titles and other labels may also be used, pursuant to FASB ASC 958-205-55-2 and FASB 
ASC 958-210-55-3. The terms statement of financial position and statement of activities indicate the content and purpose of 
the respective statements and serve as possible titles for those statements. Other appropriately descriptive titles may 
also be used. Similarly, a statement of functional expenses might have another appropriately descriptive title. For 
example, a statement reporting financial position could be called a balance sheet as well as a statement of financial position. 
Current practice and the statement’s purpose suggest, however, that a statement of cash flows only be titled 
“Statement of Cash Flows.” FASB ASC 958-210-55-3 states that other labels exist for net assets and its classes. For 
example, equity may be used for net assets, and other or not donor-restricted may be used with care to distinguish 
unrestricted net assets from the temporarily and permanently restricted classes of net assets. 
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 Temporarily restricted net assets 
 Unrestricted net assets 

3.08 FASB ASC 958-210-45-5 describes how classifying assets and liabilities into reasonably 
homogeneous groups (paragraph 3.04) increases the usefulness of information. FASB ASC 958-
210-45-6 states that assets need not be disaggregated on the basis of the presence of donor-
imposed restrictions on their use; for example, cash available for unrestricted current use need 
not be reported separately from cash received with donor-imposed restrictions that is also 
available for current use.4 However, cash or other assets received with a donor-imposed 
restriction that limits their use to long-term purposes should not be classified with cash or other 
assets that are unrestricted and available for current use. FASB ASC 958-210-45-6 also states that 
the kind of asset whose use is limited should be described in the notes to the financial statements 
if its nature is not clear from the description on the face of the statement of financial position. 

Effects of Restrictions, Designations, and Other Limitations on Liquidity  
3.09 FASB ASC 958-210-45-8 requires that information about the NFP’s liquidity be provided by any 

of the following: 

a. Sequencing assets according to their nearness of conversion to cash and sequencing 
liabilities according to the nearness of their maturity and resulting use of cash 

b. Classifying assets and liabilities as current and noncurrent, as defined by FASB ASC 210-
10 (required by FASB ASC 954-210-45-1 for statements of financial position prepared 
by not-for-profit, business-oriented health care entities) 

c. Disclosing in notes to financial statements relevant information about the liquidity or 
maturity of assets and liabilities, including restrictions on the use of particular assets 

Classification of Net Assets 
3.24 Classification of net assets is discussed in paragraphs 9–11 of FASB ASC 958-210-45. The 

amounts for each of the three net asset classes are based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.  

3.25 The FASB ASC glossary defines permanently restricted net assets as the part of net assets of an NFP 
resulting from the following: (a) contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the NFP 
is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be 
fulfilled or otherwise removed by the actions of the NFP, (b) other asset enhancements and 
diminishments subject to the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) reclassifications from or to other 
classes of net assets as a consequence of donor-imposed stipulations.  

3.26 The FASB ASC glossary defines temporarily restricted net assets as the part of the net assets of an 
NFP that result from the following: (a) contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by 
the NFP is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by passage of time or can be 
fulfilled and removed by actions of the NFP pursuant to those stipulations, (b) other asset 
enhancements and diminishments subject to the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) 
reclassifications from or to other classes of net assets as a consequence of donor-imposed 
stipulations, their expiration by passage of time, or their fulfillment and removal by actions of the 

                                                      

4 FASB ASC 958-205-45-6 notes that assets may be restricted by donors. For example, land could be restricted to 
use as a public park. Generally, however, restrictions apply to net assets, not to specific assets. 
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NFP pursuant to those stipulations. Paragraphs 9–10 of FASB ASC 958-210-45 describe various 
purposes for which net assets might be restricted, such as use in future periods or use for 
specified purposes.  

3.27 The FASB ASC glossary defines unrestricted net assets as the part of net assets of an NFP that is 
neither permanently restricted nor temporarily restricted by donor-imposed stipulations. FASB 
ASC 958-210-45-11 permits information about self-imposed limits, including voluntary 
resolutions by the governing board to designate a portion of unrestricted net assets (such as 
board-designated endowments) to be provided in the notes to or on the face of financial 
statements, provided that the requirement of FASB ASC 958-210-45-1 to display total 
unrestricted net assets is also met. FASB ASC 958-210-45-7 requires that, if not disclosed in the 
notes to financial statements, contractual limitations on the use of particular assets (such as cash 
held on deposit as a compensating balance) should be displayed on the face of the statement of 
financial position. Paragraphs 1A–1B of FASB ASC 958-205-50 require certain disclosures about 
board-designated endowment funds. 

3.29 Paragraphs 1–2 of FASB ASC 958-225-45 require that a statement of activities focus on the NFP 
as a whole and report the following amounts for the period: the change in net assets, using a 
descriptive term such as change in net assets or change in equity; the change in permanently restricted 
net assets; the change in temporarily restricted net assets; and the change in unrestricted net 
assets.  

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

3.30 In accordance with paragraphs 14–16 of FASB ASC 958-225-45, the statement of activities 
should report the gross amounts of revenues and expenses for an NFP’s ongoing major or 
central operations and activities; gains and losses may be reported as net amounts if they result 
from peripheral or incidental transactions or from other events and circumstances that may be 
largely beyond the control of the NFP and its management. The frequency of the events and the 
significance of the gross revenues and expenses distinguish major or central events from 
peripheral or incidental events. Events are ongoing major and central activities if they are 
normally part of an NFP’s strategy and it normally carries on such activities or if the event’s 
gross revenues or expenses are significant in relation to the NFP’s annual budget. 

3.31 Paragraphs 4–8 of FASB ASC 958-225-45 discuss the classification by net asset class of 
revenues, expenses, and gains and losses. The determination of the net asset class in which 
revenues and gains and losses are reported is based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions and the type of restriction. A statement of activities should report revenues 
as increases in unrestricted net assets unless the use of the assets received is limited by donor 
imposed restrictions. All expenses should be reported as decreases in unrestricted net assets. 
Gains should be reported as increases and losses as decreases in unrestricted net assets unless 
their use is temporarily or permanently restricted by explicit donor stipulations or by law.  

3.32 Pursuant to FASB ASC 958-225-45-3, reclassifications, which are defined in the FASB ASC 
glossary as the simultaneous increase of one net asset class and decrease of another, should be 
reported as separate items. FASB ASC 958-225-45-13 describes the events that require 
reclassifications of net assets, including donor-imposed restrictions that are fulfilled by the NFP 
or that expire with the passage of time or the death of a split-interest agreement’s beneficiary. 
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3.33 FASB ASC 958-225-55 illustrates the requirement for the display of an appropriately labeled 
subtotal within a statement of activities for the change in a class of net assets before the effects 
of an extraordinary item or discontinued operations. NFPs should apply the appropriate 
disclosure and display requirements of, among other things, FASB ASC 250, Accounting Changes 
and Error Corrections; FASB 205-20-45 for discontinued operations; and FASB ASC 225-20-45-16 
for unusual or infrequently occurring items. Corrections of prior-period errors are not included 
in change in net assets. Instead, in accordance with FASB ASC 250-10-45, any error in the 
financial statements of a prior period discovered after the financial statements are issued or are 
available to be issued should be reported by restating the prior-period financial statements. The 
cumulative effect of the error on periods prior to those presented should be made to the opening 
balance(s) of the appropriate class(es) of net assets of the earliest year presented. 

3.35 As noted in FASB ASC 958-205-45-1, particular formats for the statement of activities are 
neither prescribed nor prohibited, in part because similar prescriptions and proscriptions do not 
exist for business entities. FASB ASC 958-205-55-11 suggests three ways that items could be 
sequenced: (a) revenues and gains first, then expenses, then losses; reclassifications, which must 
be shown separately, are reported with revenues and gains; (b) revenues, expenses, gains and 
losses, and reclassifications shown last; and (c) certain revenues, less directly related expenses, 
followed by a subtotal, then other revenues, other expenses, gains and losses, and 
reclassifications. Those items could be arranged in other ways, and other subtotals may be 
included. 

3.36 Pursuant to FASB ASC 958-225-45-9, classifying revenues, expenses, gains, and losses within 
classes of net assets does not preclude incorporating additional classifications within a statement 
of activities. For example, within a class or classes of net assets, an NFP may classify items as 
follows: operating and nonoperating, expendable and nonexpendable, earned and unearned, 
recurring and nonrecurring, or in other ways. 

3.37 Paragraphs 9–12 of FASB ASC 958-225-45 discuss reporting a measure of operations. If an 
intermediate measure of operations, such as an excess or deficit of operating revenues over 
expenses, is reported in a statement of activities, (a) a note to financial statements should 
describe the nature of the reported measure of operations or the items excluded from operations 
if the NFP’s use of the term operations is not apparent from the details provided on the face of 
the statement, and (b) it must be in a financial statement that, at a minimum, reports the change 
in unrestricted net assets for the period. Some limitations on an NFP’s use of an intermediate 
measure of operations are imposed by other standards. For example, if a subtotal such as income 
from operations is presented, it should include the following amounts: 

a. An impairment loss recognized for a long-lived asset (or asset group) to be held and 
used pursuant to FASB ASC 360-10-45-4  

b. Any gain or loss recognized on the sale of a long-lived asset (or disposal group) if that 
asset (or group) is not a component of the NFP pursuant to FASB ASC 360-10-45-5  

c. Costs associated with an exit or disposal activity that does not involve a discontinued 
operation pursuant to FASB ASC 420-10-45-3 

d. Amortization expenses and impairment losses recognized on intangible assets including 
goodwill pursuant to FASB ASC 350-30-45-2 and FASB ASC 350-20-45-2 
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Reporting Expenses, Including in a Statement of Functional Expenses 
3.40 FASB ASC 958-720-05-4 states that to help donors, creditors, and others assess an NFP’s service 

efforts, including the costs of its services and how it uses resources, a statement of activities or 
notes to financial statements should provide information about expenses reported by their 
functional classification, such as major classes of program services and supporting activities. In 
contrast, FASB ASC 958-205-45-6 states that a natural classification of expenses may include 
expense categories such as salaries, rent, electricity, interest expense, depreciation, awards and 
grants to others, and professional fees. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

3.47 FASB ASC 230-10-10-1 explains that the primary purpose of a statement of cash flows is to 
provide relevant information about the cash receipts and cash payments of an entity during a 
period. FASB ASC 230-10-45-10 requires that the statement of cash flows classify cash receipts 
and cash payments as resulting from investing, financing, or operating activities. Exhibit 3-1, 
“Classification of Cash and Cash Flows,” provides examples of cash flows unique to or common 
to NFPs and their appropriate classification. FASB ASC 958-230-55-5 requires separate 
disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities (for example, receiving contributions of 
buildings, securities, or recognized collection items). 

  Exhibit 3-1 Classification of Cash and Cash Flows 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash held temporarily in the long-term investment portfolio (until suitable investments are 
identified) is excluded from cash and cash equivalents in accordance with FASB Accounting 
Standards Codification 958-205-55-7 and should be disclosed in the note that defines cash 
and cash equivalents. 

Operating Cash Flows 

 Unrestricted cash contributions. 
 Cash receipts resulting from the sale of donated financial assets (for example, donated debt 

or equity instruments) that upon receipt were directed without any not-for-profit entity- (NFP-) 
imposed limitations for sale and were converted nearly immediately into cash, provided that 
the donor did not restrict the use of the contributed resources to a long-term purpose. 

 Agency transactions are generally included as operating activities.  

Investing Cash Flows 

 Gross purchases of investments should be adjusted for amounts payable for investment 
purchases at period ends to arrive at cash outflows for purchases. 

 Gross sales of investments should be adjusted for amounts receivable from investment sales 
at period ends to arrive at cash inflows from sales. 
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  Exhibit 3-1 Classification of Cash and Cash Flows (continued) 

Financing Cash Flows 

 Securities lending would generally be classified as a financing activity. 
 Cash receipts resulting from the sale of donated financial assets (for example, donated debt 

or equity instruments) that upon receipt were directed without any NFP-imposed limitations 
for sale and were converted nearly immediately into cash if the donor restricted the use of the 
contributed resources to a long-term purpose. 

 Contributions restricted for fixed assets, endowments, and other long-term purposes should 
be reported as a financing activity; the amount would be the actual cash received, not the 
change in the contributions receivable. 

 Changes in cash overdrafts generally are considered financing activities and not as operating 
activities. 

Noncash Transactions 

 If construction in process and other fixed asset purchases are included in accounts payable at 
the fiscal year end, they should be disclosed as a noncash transaction and excluded from the 
change in accounts payable. 

 Contributions of securities should be disclosed as a noncash transaction and as an adjustment 
reducing the changes in net assets to arrive at operating cash flows.  

 Contributions of beneficial interests should be disclosed as a noncash transaction and as an 
adjustment reducing the changes in net assets to arrive at operating cash flows. 

 The net change in value for an interest rate swap should be a noncash adjustment to arrive at 
operating activities. The amount will not equal the amount in the statement of activities if the 
statement of activities amount includes amounts paid in cash. 

 Debt refinancing and refundings are disclosed as a noncash activity if no cash is transferred to 
the NFP’s control and it only enters into new terms (for example, change in interest rate, 
payment terms, and so forth). Any incremental borrowings are financing inflows. 

3.48 The FASB ASC glossary defines operating activities as including all transactions and other events 
that are not defined as investing or financing activities. Operating activities generally involve 
producing and delivering goods and providing services. Per FASB ASC 958-230-55-4, operating 
activities also include cash received and paid in agency transactions. 

3.50 FASB ASC 230-10-45-25 encourages entities to report major classes of gross cash receipts and 
gross cash payments and their arithmetic sum—the net cash flow from operating activities (the 
direct method). Paragraphs 28–31 of FASB ASC 230-10-45 describe how to determine and 
report the amount of net cash flow from operating activities indirectly by adjusting the change in 
(total) net assets to reconcile it to net cash flow from operating activities (the indirect or 
reconciliation method). That reconciliation of the change in (total) net assets to the net cash flow 
from operating activities should be provided in a separate schedule if the direct method of 
reporting net cash flow from operating activities is used. 

3.52 FASB ASC 958-230-55-2 notes that not all assets of NFPs that meet the definition of cash 
equivalents in the FASB ASC glossary are cash equivalents for purposes of preparing statements of 
financial position and cash flows. Restrictions can prevent them from being included as cash 
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equivalents even if they otherwise qualify. For example, short-term highly liquid investments are 
not cash equivalents if they are purchased with resources that have donor-imposed restrictions 
that limit their use to long-term investment. Further, FASB ASC 230-10-45-6 states that an entity 
should establish a policy concerning which short-term, highly liquid investments that satisfy the 
definition of cash equivalents are treated as cash equivalents. FASB ASC 230-10-50-1 requires 
entities to disclose their policy for determining which items are treated as cash equivalents. 

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

3.55 FASB ASC 958-205-45-8 provides guidance if NFPs present comparative information for a prior 
year or years only in total rather than by net asset class.5 Such summarized information may not 
include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with GAAP. If the prior year’s 
financial information is summarized and does not include the minimum information required by 
FASB ASC 958, Not-for-Profit Entities (for example, if the statement of activities does not present 
revenues, expenses, gains, and losses by net asset class), the nature of the prior year information 
should be described by the use of appropriate titles on the face of the financial statements and in 
a note to the financial statements. The use of appropriate titles includes a phrase such as with 
summarized financial information for the year ended June 30, 20PY, following the title of the 
statement or column headings that indicate the summarized nature of the information. Labeling 
the prior year summarized financial information for comparative purposes only without further 
disclosure in the notes to financial statements would not constitute the use of an appropriate 
title. 

3.56 An example of a note to the financial statements6 that describes the nature of the prior period(s) 
information would be as follows: 

 The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information in total 
but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with GAAP. Accordingly, such information should be read in 
conjunction with the Organization’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 20PY, from 
which the summarized information was derived. 

3.57 When an NFP presents summarized prior-year financial statements that do not include sufficient 
detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with GAAP, FinREC recommends including all 
the disclosures required by GAAP for the prior year. 

Valuation Techniques 
3.148 To measure fair value, an NFP should use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 

circumstances and for which sufficient data are available, maximizing the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. Three widely used valuation 
techniques are the market approach, cost approach, and income approach. An NFP should use 
valuation techniques consistent with one or more of those approaches to measure fair value. 
Paragraphs 3A–3G of FASB ASC 820-10-55 describe those valuation techniques as follows: 

                                                      

5 Chapter 14, “Reports of Independent Auditors,” discusses auditors’ reports on comparative financial information. 
6 Because the note discusses information that does not pertain to the current-period financial statements, the note is 
not considered to be part of the current-period financial statements. 
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 The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions involving identical or comparable (that is, similar) assets, liabilities, or a 
group of assets and liabilities, such as a business. Valuation techniques consistent with 
the market approach include matrix pricing and often use market multiples derived from 
a set of comparables. 

 The income approach converts future amounts (for example, cash flows or income and 
expenses) to a single current (that is, discounted) amount. When the income approach is 
used, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about those future 
amounts. Valuation techniques consistent with the income approach include present 
value techniques, option-pricing models, and the multiperiod excess earnings method. 

 The cost approach reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the 
service capacity of an asset (often referred to as current replacement cost). Fair value is 
determined based on the cost to a market participant (buyer) to acquire or construct a 
substitute asset of comparable utility, adjusted for obsolescence. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
3.176 FASB ASC 275, Risks and Uncertainties, requires entities to include in their financial statements 

information about the following: 

 The nature of their operations 
 Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements 

 In addition, if specified disclosure criteria are met, it requires entities to include in their financial 
statements disclosures about the following: 

 Certain significant estimates 
 Current vulnerability due to certain concentrations 

 FASB ASC 958-605-55-70 includes an example of a vulnerability of concentration of risk 
because of reliance on major donors. FASB ASC 275-10-55 includes other examples of 
disclosures that may be pertinent for NFPs. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

4.02 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) glossary defines cash equivalents as 

short-term, highly liquid investments that have both of the following characteristics:  
(a) readily convertible to known amounts of cash [and] (b) so near their maturity that 
they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. 
Generally, only investments with original maturities of three months or less qualify 
under that definition. Original maturity means original maturity to the entity holding the 
investment. For example, both a three-month U.S. Treasury bill and a three-year 
Treasury note purchased three months from maturity qualify as cash equivalents. 
However, a Treasury note purchased three years ago does not become a cash equivalent 
when its remaining maturity is three months. Examples of items commonly considered 
to be cash equivalents are Treasury bills, commercial paper, money market funds, and 
federal funds sold (for an entity with banking operations). 
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Derivative Instruments 
4.33 FASB ASC 815-10-25-1 and FASB ASC 815-10-35-1 require that investments in derivative 

instruments be reported as either assets or liabilities depending on the rights or obligations under 
the contracts and should be subsequently remeasured at fair value. Similarly, an embedded 
derivative should be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative 
instrument pursuant to FASB ASC 815-10 if and only if all of the criteria in FASB ASC 815-15-
25-1 are met.  

Fair Value Measurements 
4.40 For many investments held by NFPs, quoted prices for identical investments are available in 

active markets at the measurement date (level 1 inputs). For investments without quoted prices 
in active markets, quoted prices for similar investments in active markets or quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets in markets that are not active (level 2 inputs) may need to be used, 
possibly with adjustments. For example, U.S. Treasury securities trade at what is called “on the 
run” and “off the run.” A recently issued U.S. Treasury security will trade “on the run” for a 
period of time after issuance and can be measured using a quoted price in an active market at the 
measurement date (level 1). If, after the U.S. Treasury issues new securities of the same duration, 
investors stop trading the earlier issue and start trading in the newer issue, the market for the 
earlier issues (referred to as off the run) often becomes inactive. If the market is inactive, a 
common way to measure those off-the-run U.S. Treasury securities is by using the yield curves 
on the newer issues (that is, level 2 inputs). Unobservable inputs (level 3) are used to measure fair 
value to the extent that observable inputs are not available.  

4.42 Some NFPs invest in alternative investments, such as hedge funds, private equity funds, real 
estate funds, venture capital funds, offshore fund vehicles, and funds of funds, that provide their 
investors with a net asset value per share (or its equivalent such as member units or an 
ownership interest in partners’ capital to which a proportionate share of net assets is attributed). 
If an alternative investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, its fair value may be 
estimated as of the reporting entity’s measurement date using the net asset value per share (or its 
equivalent) if the investment is in an investment company within the scope of FASB ASC 946, 
Financial Services—Investment Companies, or a real estate fund for which it is industry practice 
to measure investment assets at fair value on a recurring basis and to issue financial statements 
that are consistent with the measurement principles in FASB ASC 946. An NFP is not permitted 
to estimate the fair value of an investment using the net asset value per share of the investment 
(or its equivalent) as a practical expedient if, as of the measurement date, it is probable that the 
NFP will sell the investment for an amount different from the net asset value per share (or its 
equivalent). A sale is considered probable only if all of the criteria in FASB ASC 820-10-35-62 
have been met as of the measurement date. FASB ASC 820-10-50-6A requires certain disclosures 
for these investments, regardless of whether net asset value is used as a practical expedient. 

ENDOWMENT FUNDS 

4.66 The FASB ASC glossary defines a donor-restricted endowment fund as an endowment fund that is 
created by a donor stipulation requiring investment of the gift in perpetuity or for a specified 
term. Some donors may require that a portion of income, gains, or both be added to the gift and 
invested subject to similar restrictions.  
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4.68 FASB ASC 958-205-45-28 and FASB ASC 958-205-45-33 provide guidance for determining the 
permanently restricted portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund.7 Those paragraphs state 
that 

an NFP that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) shall classify a portion of a donor-restricted 
endowment fund of perpetual duration as permanently restricted net assets. The amount 
classified as permanently restricted shall be either (a) the amount of the fund that must 
be retained permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations (see paragraphs 
958-605-45-3 through 45-4) or (b) the amount of the fund that, in the absence of explicit 
donor stipulations, the NFP’s governing board determines must be retained (preserved) 
permanently consistent with the relevant law (see paragraph 958-205-45-21). 

In states that have enacted a version of the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds 
Act of 1972 (UMIFA) or states whose relevant law is based on trust law, it is generally 
understood that at least the amount of the original gift(s) and any required 
accumulations is not expendable, although the value of the investments purchased may 
occasionally fall below that amount. Future appreciation of the investments generally 
restores the value to the required level. In states that have enacted its provisions, 
UMIFA describes “historic dollar value” as the amount that is not expendable.  

4.69 As discussed in paragraphs 15.51–.56, a form of UPMIFA is the law for the management of 
donor-restricted endowment funds in all states but Pennsylvania. UPMIFA replaced the prior 
legislation, UMIFA. One of the primary differences between UPMIFA and its predecessor is the 
elimination of the concept of historic dollar value. Under UMIFA, asset growth and income of 
an endowment could be appropriated for program purposes, subject to the rule that a fund could 
not be spent below its historic dollar value. Historic dollar value was defined as the amount of 
original contributions to the fund, any additional gifts to the fund, and any additions to historic 
dollar value made pursuant to the donor’s gift instrument. UPMIFA provides more guidance on 
what is prudent spending, making the need for a spending floor unnecessary. Instead, subject to 
the intent of the donor expressed in the gift instrument (and in some states, a rebuttable 
presumption of imprudence), an NFP may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much 
of an endowment fund as it determines is prudent after considering the factors in the law. Thus, 
FASB ASC 958-205-45-28 requires that the governing board make a determination that the law 
does not. UPMIFA does not define an amount that must be retained permanently, but for 
accounting purposes the governing board must determine the amount of the fund that, in the 
absence of explicit donor stipulations, must be retained permanently. For accounting purposes, 
most NFPs continue to embrace historic dollar value as the permanently restricted portion of a 
donor-restricted endowment fund.  

4.71 In a state that has enacted a version of UPMIFA, legal limitations may state that, “unless stated 
otherwise in the gift instrument, the assets in an endowment fund are donor-restricted assets 
until appropriated for expenditure by the institution” (subsection 4(a) of UPMIFA). FASB ASC 
958-205-45-30 states that for each donor-restricted endowment fund for which the restriction 
described in subsection 4(a) of UPMIFA applies, an NFP should classify the portion of the fund 
that is not classified as permanently restricted net assets as temporarily restricted net assets (time 
restricted) until appropriated for expenditure by the NFP. Pursuant to FASB ASC 958-205-45-
31, in the absence of interpretation of the phrase “appropriated for expenditure” in subsection 

                                                      

7 Paragraphs 5.75–.83 provide additional guidance about classifying the original gift of an endowment fund. 



B-16 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

4(a) of UPMIFA by legal or regulatory authorities (for example, court decisions or 
interpretations by state attorneys general), appropriation for expenditure is deemed to occur 
upon approval for expenditure, unless approval is for a future period, in which case 
appropriation is deemed to occur when that period is reached. Approval for expenditure may 
occur through different means within and across NFPs. For example, expenditures could be 
approved as part of a formal, annual budget. Expenditures also could be approved during the 
year as unexpected needs arise (such as for emergency relief efforts). 

DISCLOSURES 

4.98 Paragraphs 1A–1B of FASB ASC 958-205-50 require disclosures about an NFP’s endowment 
fund. At a minimum, those disclosures should include the following information about the 
NFP’s donor-restricted endowment funds and its board designated endowment funds: 

a. A description of the governing board’s interpretation of the law(s) that underlies the 
NFP’s net asset classification of donor-restricted endowment funds. (The term endowment 
fund as defined in UPMIFA does not include assets that an institution designates as an 
endowment fund for its own use.) 

b. A description of the NFP’s policy(ies) for the appropriation of endowment assets for 
expenditure (its endowment spending policy[ies]). 

c. A description of the NFP’s endowment investment policies. The description should 
include the NFP’s return objectives and risk parameters; how those return objectives 
relate to the NFP’s endowment spending policy(ies); and the strategies employed for 
achieving those return objectives. 

d. The composition of the NFP’s endowment by net asset class at the end of the period, in 
total and by type of endowment fund, showing donor-restricted endowment funds 
separately from board-designated endowment funds. 

e. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of the NFP’s endowment, in total 
and by net asset class, including, at a minimum, all of the following line items (as 
applicable): investment return, separated into investment income (for example, interest, 
dividends, rents) and net appreciation or depreciation of investments; contributions; 
amounts appropriated for expenditure; reclassifications; and other changes. 

INTRODUCTION 

5.01 Some not-for-profit entities (NFPs) receive contributions of cash, other assets, and services from 
individuals, for-profit entities, other NFPs, and governments. Other assets include securities, 
land, buildings, use of facilities or utilities, material and supplies, intangible assets, and 
unconditional promises to give in the future. 
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5.02 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) glossary, defines a contribution as 

an unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a settlement or 
cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonreciprocal transfer by another entity acting 
other than as an owner. Those characteristics distinguish contributions from exchange 
transactions, which are reciprocal transfers in which each party receives and sacrifices 
approximately equal value; from investments by owners and distributions to owners, 
which are nonreciprocal transfers between an entity and its owners; and from other 
nonreciprocal transfers, such as impositions of taxes or legal judgments, fines, and 
thefts, which are not voluntary transfers. In a contribution transaction, the value, if any, 
returned to the resource provider is incidental to potential public benefits. In an 
exchange transaction, the potential public benefits are secondary to the potential 
proprietary benefits to the resource provider. The term contribution revenue is used to 
apply to transactions that are part of the entity’s ongoing major or central activities 
(revenues), or are peripheral or incidental to the entity (gains).  

Agency Transactions 
5.10 FASB ASC 958-605-55-76 states that a recipient entity has discretion sufficient to recognize a 

contribution received if it can choose the beneficiaries of the assets. Paragraphs 76–79 of FASB 
ASC 958-605 provide guidance to help determine whether a recipient entity has discretion to 
choose the beneficiary. FASB ASC 958-605-25-24 states that except as described in FASB ASC 
958-605-25-25 [variance power] and FASB ASC 958-605-25-27 [financially interrelated entities], 
a recipient entity that accepts assets from a donor and agrees to use those assets on behalf of [a 
specified beneficiary] or transfer those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both 
to a specified beneficiary is [an agent and] not a donee. (The exceptions for variance power are 
discussed in paragraphs 5.23–.27 and for financially interrelated entities in paragraphs 5.28–.32.) 
FASB ASC 958-605-55-78 states that a donor may specify the beneficiary (a) by name, (b) by 
stating that all entities that meet a set of donor-defined criteria are beneficiaries, or (c) by actions 
surrounding the transfer that make clear the identity of the beneficiary. (Paragraphs 80–115 of 
FASB ASC 958-605-55 provide examples of donor stipulations and discuss whether those 
stipulations specify a beneficiary.)  

5.11 The following are three examples of circumstances in which donors specify a beneficiary and the 
recipient entity should not recognize a contribution (unless the exceptions for variance power or 
for financially interrelated entities apply). If a donor selects a beneficiary from among a list of 
potential beneficiaries that have been prequalified or otherwise identified by the recipient entity, 
the assets received are not contributions to that recipient entity. Similarly, if a grantor specifies 
eligibility criteria and states that the grant proceeds must be transferred to all who meet those 
criteria, the recipient entity has not received a contribution even though it may be responsible for 
determining whether individuals or entities meet those grantor-specified eligibility criteria. 
Likewise, if a donor responds to a campaign request from an NFP that indicates that the 
proceeds of the campaign will be distributed to a named beneficiary, then that recipient entity 
has not received a contribution. 

5.12 In contrast, if neither the language used by the donor, the representations of the recipient entity, 
nor the actions surrounding the transfers cause the donor to believe that he or she is directing 
the gift to a specified beneficiary, then the NFP is a donee and should recognize a contribution 
received. For example, an NFP is a donee and should recognize a contribution if it asks the 
donor to select one or more fields of interest from among a list of community needs prepared by 
the NFP. Similarly, if a donor uses broad generalizations to describe the beneficiaries, such as 
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homeless individuals, the NFP has received a contribution because the choice of the beneficiary 
is within its control. Likewise, if an NFP asks its donors to indicate an NFP for consideration by 
its allocation committee, the NFP is the donee if that request is conveyed in a manner that leads 
the donor to conclude that its role is merely to propose possible allocations. 

5.17 Technical Questions and Answers (Q&A) section 6140.12, “Nondiscretionary Assistance 
Programs” (AICPA, Technical Questions and Answers), provides the following example of a 
circumstance in which a donor specifies a beneficiary and the recipient entity should not 
recognize a contribution (unless the exceptions for variance power or financially interrelated 
entities apply). Some NFPs participate in activities wherein the resource provider (donor) 
determines the eligibility requirements for the ultimate beneficiaries and the NFP (recipient 
entity) must disburse to any who meet guidelines specified by the resource provider or return the 
assets. In some of those programs, the NFP receives assets, such as food, food vouchers, public 
transportation vouchers, and cash, and distributes the assets on behalf of the resource provider 
(donor) in exchange for a fee for performing that service. Receipts and disbursements of assets 
under such nondiscretionary programs (other than any fees for performing the service) are 
agency transactions, and are not contributions to the recipient NFP. A recipient entity that 
receives financial assets, such as cash or vouchers that can be exchanged for cash, should 
recognize its liability to the beneficiaries concurrent with its recognition of financial assets 
received from the donor. A recipient entity that receives nonfinancial assets, such as food 
vouchers or public transportation vouchers that are denominated in either dollar values or in 
nonfinancial terms, such as pounds of food or bus rides, but that will not be settled in cash, is 
permitted, but not required, to recognize its liability and those assets provided that the entity 
reports consistently from period to period and discloses its accounting policy. 

Exchange Transactions8  
5.40 In some situations, exchange transactions can be easily distinguished from contributions. For 

example, sales in a museum bookstore or payments of employees’ salaries clearly are exchange 
transactions: each party gives up and receives equivalent economic value. In contrast, an example 
of a contribution is a donation to an NFP’s mass fund-raising appeal: donors are providing 
resources in support of the NFP’s mission and expect to receive nothing of direct value in 
exchange. 

5.45 Table 5-1 contains the list of indicators from FASB ASC 958-605-55-8 that may be helpful in 
determining whether individual asset transfers are contributions, exchange transactions, or a 
combination of both. Depending on the facts and circumstances, some indicators may be more 
significant than others; however, no single indicator is determinative of the classification of a 
particular transaction. Indicators of a contribution tend to describe transactions in which the 
value, if any, returned to the resource provider is incidental to potential public benefits. 
Indicators of an exchange tend to describe transactions in which the potential public benefits are 
secondary to the potential proprietary benefits to the resource provider. 

                                                      

8 Certain reciprocal transactions that involve transfers to recipient entities are discussed in paragraphs 5.25 and .31–
.36. 
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Table 5-1 Indicators Useful in Distinguishing Contributions From Exchange 
Transactions 

Indicator Contribution Exchange Transaction 

Recipient not-for-profit 
entity’s (NFP’s) intent in 
soliciting the asset* 

Recipient NFP asserts that it 
is soliciting the asset as a 
contribution. 

Recipient NFP asserts that it 
is seeking resources in 
exchange for specified 
benefits. 

Resource provider’s 
expressed intent about the 
purpose of the asset to be 
provided by recipient NFP 

Resource provider asserts 
that it is making a donation 
to support the NFP’s 
programs.

Resource provider asserts 
that it is transferring 
resources in exchange for 
specified benefits.  

Method of delivery The time or place of delivery 
of the asset to be provided 
by the recipient NFP to third-
party recipients is at the 
discretion of the NFP.

The method of delivery of 
the asset to be provided by 
the recipient NFP to third-
party recipients is specified 
by the resource provider.  

Method of determining 
amount of payment 

The resource provider 
determines the amount of 
the payment. 

Payment by the resource 
provider equals the value of 
the assets to be provided by 
the recipient NFP, or the 
assets’ cost plus markup; the 
total payment is based on 
the quantity of assets to be 
provided. 

Penalties assessed if NFP fails 
to make timely delivery of 
assets 

Penalties are limited to the 
delivery of assets already 
produced and the return of 
the unspent amount. (The 
NFP is not penalized for 
nonperformance.)

Provisions for economic 
penalties exist beyond the 
amount of payment. (The 
NFP is penalized for 
nonperformance.)  

Delivery of assets to be 
provided by the recipient 
NFP 

Assets are to be delivered to 
individuals or organizations 
other than the resource 
provider. 

Assets are to be delivered to 
the resource provider or to 
individuals or organizations 
closely connected to the 
resource provider.  

* This table refers to assets. Assets may include services. The terms assets and services are used 
interchangeably in this table. 
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Membership Dues 

5.47 Paragraphs 9–12 of FASB ASC 958-605-55 discuss NFPs that receive dues from their members. 
This paragraph and the following paragraph and table reproduce that guidance. The term 
“members” is used broadly by some NFPs to refer to their donors and by other NFPs to refer to 
individuals or other entities that pay dues in exchange for a defined set of benefits. These 
transfers often have elements of both a contribution and an exchange transaction because 
members receive tangible or intangible benefits from their membership in the NFP. Usually, the 
determination of whether membership dues are contributions rests on whether the value 
received by the member is commensurate with the dues paid. For example, if an NFP has annual 
dues of $100 and the only benefit members receive is a monthly newsletter with a fair value of 
$25, $25 of the dues are received in an exchange transaction and should be recognized as 
revenue as the earnings process is completed and $75 of the dues are a contribution. 

5.49 FASB ASC 958-605-25-1 states that revenue derived from membership dues in exchange 
transactions should be recognized over the period to which the dues relate. Nonrefundable 
initiation and life membership fees received in exchange transactions should be recognized as 
revenues in the period in which the fees become receivable if future fees are expected to cover 
the costs of future services to be provided to members. If nonrefundable initiation and life 
membership fees, rather than future fees, are expected to cover those costs, nonrefundable 
initiation and life member fees received in exchange transactions should be recognized as 
revenue over the average duration of membership, the life expectancy of members, or other 
appropriate time periods. 
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Table 5-2 Indicators Useful for Determining the Contribution and Exchange Portions of 
Membership Dues 

Indicator Contribution Exchange Transaction 

Recipient not-for-profit entity’s 
(NFP’s) expressed intent 
concerning purpose of dues 
payment 

The request describes the 
dues as being used to provide 
benefits to the general public 
or to the NFP’s service 
beneficiaries. 

The request describes the 
dues as providing economic 
benefits to members or to 
other entities or individuals 
designated by or related to 
the members.  

Extent of benefits to members The benefits to members are 
negligible. 

The substantive benefits to 
members (for example, 
publications, admissions, 
educational programs, and 
special events) may be 
available to nonmembers for a 
fee. 

NFP’s service efforts The NFP provides service to 
members and nonmembers.

The NFP benefits are provided 
only to members.  

Duration of benefits The duration is not specified. The benefits are provided for a 
defined period; additional 
payment of dues is required to 
extend benefits.  

Expressed agreement 
concerning refundability of the 
payment 

The payment is not refundable 
to the resource provider. 

The payment is fully or 
partially refundable if the 
resource provider withdraws 
from membership.  

Qualifications for membership Membership is available to the 
general public. 

Membership is available only 
to individuals who meet 
certain criteria (for example, 
requirements to pursue a 
specific career or to live in a 
certain area).  

Grants, Awards, and Sponsorships 

5.52 Some transfers of assets between NFPs and governments (such as the sale of goods and services) 
are clearly exchange transactions. Other transfers of assets between NFPs and governments 
(such as unrestricted support given by state and local governments) are clearly contributions. 
Other kinds of government transfers (sometimes referred to as grants, awards, or appropriations) 
have characteristics that require judgment to determine whether they are contributions or 
exchange transactions. The indicators described in table 5-1 provide guidance on how to classify 
such transfers. Depending on the facts and circumstances, some indicators may be more 
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significant than others; however, no single indicator is determinative of the classification of a 
particular transaction. 

Recognition Principles 
5.59 The recognition principles for contributions are discussed in the “Contributions Received” 

subsections of FASB ASC 958-605. Accounting for contributions depends on whether the 
transfer of assets, including promises to give, is received by the NFP with donor-imposed 
conditions, donor-imposed restrictions, or both. Donor-imposed conditions create a barrier that 
must be overcome before a contribution can be recognized; by definition, a contribution is 
unconditional (paragraph 5.02). Donor-imposed restrictions do not affect the timing of 
recognition; instead, they affect the classification of the contribution revenue. 

5.63 Paragraphs 15–17 of FASB ASC 958-605-55 provide guidance for distinguishing between a 
condition stipulated by a donor and a restriction on the use of a contribution imposed by a 
donor. Those paragraphs are summarized in this paragraph and the next. Making that distinction 
may require the exercise of judgment. Conditional transfers are not contributions yet; they may 
become contributions upon the occurrence of one or more future and uncertain events. Because 
of the uncertainty about whether they will be met, conditions imposed by resource providers 
may cast doubt on whether the resource provider’s intent was to make a contribution, to make a 
conditional contribution, or to make no contribution. As a result of this uncertainty, donor-
imposed conditions should be substantially met by the entity before the receipt of assets is 
recognized as a contribution or a contribution receivable. In contrast to donor-imposed 
conditions, donor-imposed restrictions limit the use of the contribution, but they do not change 
the transaction’s fundamental nature from that of a contribution. 

5.64 If donor stipulations do not state clearly whether the right to receive payment or take delivery 
depends on meeting those stipulations, or if those stipulations are ambiguous, distinguishing a 
conditional promise to give from an unconditional promise to give may be difficult. First, review 
the facts and circumstances surrounding the gift and communicate with the donor. If the 
ambiguity cannot be resolved as a result of those efforts, presume a promise containing 
stipulations that are not clearly unconditional is a conditional promise to give. However, if the 
possibility that the condition will not be met is remote,9 a conditional promise to give is 
considered unconditional. For example, a stipulation that an annual report must be provided by 
the donee to receive subsequent annual payments on a multiyear promise is not a condition if the 
possibility of not meeting that administrative requirement is remote. A challenge (or matching) 
grant is a common form of conditional promise to give. 

5.65 FASB ASC 958-605-25-2 states that except as provided (for contributed services and 
collections), contributions received shall be recognized as revenues or gains in the period 
received and as assets, decreases of liabilities, or expenses depending on the form of the benefits 
received.10 The classification of contributions received as revenues or gains depends on whether 
the transactions are part of the NFP’s ongoing major or central activities (revenues), or are 
peripheral or incidental to the NFP (gains). 

                                                      

9 The FASB ASC glossary defines remote as “the chance of the future event or events occurring is slight.” 
10 Unconditional contributions of services and collection items are subject to different recognition criteria. 
Paragraphs 5.91–.94 and chapter 7, “Other Assets,” discuss those transactions. 
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Measurement Principles 
5.67 The “Contributions Received” subsections of FASB ASC 958-605-30 discuss the initial 

measurement of contributions received. Specifically, FASB ASC 958-605-30-2 states that a 
contribution received should be measured at its fair value, although FASB ASC 958-605-30-6 
states that unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in less than one year 
may be measured at net realizable value because that amount results in a reasonable estimate of 
fair value. FASB ASC 820 establishes a framework for measuring fair value. FASB ASC 820-10-
35-9 states that a reporting entity should measure the fair value of an asset using the assumptions 
that market participants would use in pricing the asset, assuming that market participants act in 
their economic best interest. FASB ASC 820-10-35-2B states that when measuring fair value, a 
reporting entity should take into account the characteristics of the asset, including restrictions on 
the sale or use of the asset, if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset. Example 6 (paragraphs 51–55 of FASB ASC 820-10-55) illustrates that 
restrictions that are a characteristic of an asset, and therefore would transfer to a market 
participant, are the only restrictions reflected in fair value. Donor restrictions that are specific to 
the donee are reflected in the classification of net assets, not in the measurement of fair value. 

5.68 Contribution revenue should be measured at the fair value of the assets or services received or 
promised or the fair value of the liabilities satisfied. However, FASB ASC 958-605-25-4 states 
that a major uncertainty about the existence of value may indicate that an item received or given 
should not be recognized. For example, a gift of clothing or furniture has no value unless it can 
be utilized in either of the following ways: (a) used internally by the NFP or for program 
purposes, or (b) sold by the NFP. Chapter 7 provides additional information about gifts of 
clothing or furniture. 

5.69 FASB ASC 958-605-25-4 also states that if an item is accepted solely to be saved for its potential 
future use in scientific or educational research, it may have uncertain value, or perhaps no value, 
and should not be recognized. For example, contributions of flora, fauna, photographs, and 
objects identified with historic persons, places, or events often have no value or have highly 
restricted alternative uses.  

5.70 Some items that NFPs receive as contributions are more difficult to measure than others, but 
difficulty in measuring fair value is not, in and of itself, a reason for not recognizing a 
contribution. As noted in FASB ASC 958-605-25-5, certain forms of contributed resources may 
be more difficult to measure reliably than others, but the form of the contributed resources alone 
should not change conclusions about whether to recognize the underlying event. 

Recognition If a Donor Imposes a Condition 
5.71 Per FASB ASC 958-605-25-13, a transfer of assets with a conditional promise to contribute them 

should be accounted for as a refundable advance until the conditions have been substantially met 
or explicitly waived by the donor. A change in the original conditions of the agreement between 
the promisor and the promisee should not be implied without an explicit waiver. 

5.72 Transfers of assets, including promises to give, on which resource providers have imposed 
conditions should be recognized as contributions if the likelihood of not meeting the conditions 
is remote (because the transfer is considered unconditional as discussed in paragraphs 5.63–.64). 
Consistent with paragraph 62 of the basis for conclusions of superseded FASB Statement No. 
116, Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, FinREC believes that conditions as 
described in FASB ASC 958-605 are similar to those described in federal income tax laws and 
regulations. Those regulations provide, in part, that “if a transfer for charitable purposes is 



B-24 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

dependent upon the performance of some act or the happening of a precedent event in order 
that it might become effective, no deduction is allowable unless the possibility that the charitable 
transfer will not become effective is so remote as to be negligible.” Paragraph 5.64 provides an 
example from FASB ASC 958-605-55-16 of a condition for which the likelihood of not meeting 
that condition is remote. 

5.73 FASB ASC 958-605-55-21 discusses promises that become unconditional in stages because they 
are dependent on several or a series of conditions—milestones—rather than on a single future 
and uncertain event. Those promises are recognized in increments as each of the conditions is 
met. Similarly, other promises are conditioned on promisees incurring certain qualifying expenses 
(or costs). Those promises become unconditional and are recognized to the extent that the 
expenses are incurred. A portion of those contributions should be recognized as revenue as each 
of those stages is met. 

5.74 FASB ASC 958-605-55-17 provides the following example. A resource provider promises to 
contribute $1 for each $1 of contributions received by an NFP, up to $100,000, over the next 6 
months. As contributions are received from other resource providers, the conditions would be 
met and the promise would become unconditional. For example, if $10,000 is received in the 
first month from donors, $10,000 of the conditional promise would become unconditional and 
should be recognized as contribution revenue. 

Recognition If a Donor Imposes a Restriction 
5.75 Contributions may be received with donor-imposed restrictions. Donor’s restrictions impose 

special responsibilities on management of an NFP to ensure that it uses donated assets as 
stipulated. They also place limits on the use of resources. Some restrictions permanently limit the 
NFP’s use of contributed assets. Other restrictions are temporary in nature, limiting the NFP’s 
use of contributed assets to (a) later periods or after specific dates (time restrictions), (b) specific 
purposes (purpose restrictions), or (c) both. The responsibilities of management to use restricted 
resources in accordance with the donors’ stipulations are discussed more fully in paragraphs 
11.03–.08. 

5.77 For example, restrictions may (a) be stipulated explicitly by the donor in a written or oral 
communication accompanying the contribution—an explicit restriction or (b) result implicitly 
from the circumstances surrounding receipt of the contributed asset—an implicit restriction. For 
example, restrictions can result from the following: 

 Contributions accompanied by a letter (or oral statement) from the donor, stating that 
the contribution should be used for Program Z (explicit) 

 Contributions to a capital campaign whose stated objective is to raise funds for a new 
building (implicit) 

 Contributions to a fund-raising appeal in which the stated objective is to raise funds for 
Program A (implicit) 

5.81 In most cases, whether a restriction is permanent or temporary is clear. Paragraphs 120 and 124 
of FASB Concept No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements—a replacement of FASB Concepts Statement 
No. 3 (incorporating an amendment of FASB Concepts Statement No. 2), may be helpful in resolving 
cases that might be unclear. Those paragraphs state, in part, that: 

 Receipt of a contribution increases permanently restricted net assets if the donor stipulates that 
the resources received must be maintained permanently and those resources are capable of 
providing future economic benefit indefinitely. Only assets that are not by their nature used up in 
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carrying out the organization’s activities are capable of providing economic benefits indefinitely. 
Gifts of cash, securities, or nonexhaustible property, such as land and art objects,11 to be added 
to an organization’s endowment or collections are common examples of those types of assets. 

 In contrast to permanent restrictions, . . .temporary restrictions pertain to assets that by their 
nature are spent or used up in carrying out the receiving organization’s activities or, if capable of 
providing economic benefits indefinitely, need not be retained after a stipulated time. 

Accounting Policies That Affect the Classification of Contributions 

5.85 In some situations, an NFP may meet donor-imposed restrictions on all or a portion of the 
amount contributed in the same reporting period in which the contribution is received. In those 
cases, pursuant to FASB ASC 958-605-45-4, the contribution (to the extent that the restrictions 
have been met) may be reported as unrestricted support provided that the NFP has a similar 
policy for reporting investment gains and income (see FASB ASC 958-320-45-3),12 reports 
consistently from period to period, and discloses its accounting policy in notes to financial 
statements. 

5.86 NFPs may receive contributions of long-lived assets (such as property and equipment) or of cash 
and other assets restricted to the purchase of long-lived assets, for which donors have not 
expressly stipulated how or how long the long-lived asset must be used by the NFP or how to 
use any proceeds resulting from the asset’s disposal. FASB ASC 958-605-45-6 states that gifts of 
long-lived assets received without stipulations about how long the donated asset must be used 
should be reported as restricted support if it is an NFP’s policy to imply a time restriction that 
expires over the useful life of the donated assets. NFPs that adopt a policy of implying time 
restrictions also shall imply a time restriction on long-lived assets acquired with gifts of cash or 
other assets restricted for those acquisitions. 

5.87 If an NFP adopts such a policy, the contributions of long-lived assets or of cash and other assets 
restricted to the purchase of long-lived assets it receives should be reported as restricted support 
that increases temporarily restricted net assets. Expiration of the restrictions is discussed in 
paragraphs 11.46–.49. 

5.88 Alternatively, an NFP may adopt a policy of not implying time restrictions on contributions of 
long-lived assets (or of other assets restricted to the purchase of long-lived assets) received 
without donor stipulations about how long the contributed assets must be used. If an NFP 
adopts such a policy, contributions of long-lived assets with no donor-imposed time restrictions 
should be reported as unrestricted support, and contributions of long-lived assets with donor-
imposed time restrictions should be reported as temporarily restricted support.13 Contributions 
of cash and other assets restricted to the acquisition of long-lived assets should be reported as 
restricted support that increases temporarily restricted net assets.  

                                                      

11 The recognition of contributions of collection items depends on the collections-capitalization policy adopted by 
the NFP. Accounting for collections is discussed in chapter 7. 
12 FASB ASC 958-320-45-3 (see paragraph 4.83) discusses the accounting policy for reporting investment gains and 
income if the NFP meets donor-imposed restrictions on all or a portion of such gains and income in the same 
reporting period as the gains and income are recognized. 
13 In most cases, long-lived assets are not capable of providing future economic benefit indefinitely, as discussed in 
paragraph 5.81. However, if a donor requires that the proceeds of a sale of the contributed long-lived asset be used 
to create a permanent endowment fund, the contribution of the long-lived asset would be reported as an increase in 
permanently restricted net assets. 
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Recognition of Unconditional Promises to Give 

5.91 Paragraphs 8–10 of FASB ASC 958-605-25 provide recognition guidance for unconditional 
promises to give. An unconditional promise to give shall be recognized when it is received. 
However, to be recognized there must be sufficient evidence in the form of verifiable 
documentation that a promise was made and received. A communication that does not indicate 
clearly whether it is a promise is considered an unconditional promise to give if it indicates an 
unconditional intention to give that is legally enforceable. Legal enforceability refers to the 
availability of legal remedies, not the intent to use them. 

5.92 FASB ASC 958-605-25-15 states that promises to give that are silent about payment terms but 
otherwise are clearly unconditional should be accounted for as unconditional promises to give. If 
the parties fail to express the time or place of performance and performance is unconditional, 
performance within a reasonable time after making a promise is an appropriate expectation; 
similarly, if a promise is conditional, performance within a reasonable time after fulfilling the 
condition is an appropriate expectation.  

5.93 Per FASB ASC 958-605-55-19, the requirement (that there be sufficient evidence that a promise 
was received and made) does not preclude recognition of verifiable oral promises, such as those 
documented by tape recordings, written registers, or other means that permit subsequent 
verification. 

5.94 Other forms of sufficient verifiable evidence documenting that a promise was made by the 
donor and received by the NFP include (a) written agreements, (b) pledge cards, (c) oral promises 
documented by contemporaneous written logs, and (d) oral promises documented by follow-up 
written confirmations. 

5.95 Per FASB 958-605-45-5, contributions of unconditional promises to give with payments due in 
future periods should be reported as restricted support unless explicit donor stipulations or 
circumstances surrounding the receipt of a promise make clear that the donor intended it to be 
used to support activities of the current period. It is reasonable to assume that by specifying 
future payment dates donors indicate that their gift is to support activities in each period in 
which a payment is scheduled. For example, receipts of unconditional promises to give cash in 
future years generally increase temporarily restricted net assets. 

5.96 Use of the permanently restricted classification is appropriate if donor-imposed restrictions stipulate 
that the resources must be maintained permanently (for example, donors’ promises to give cash 
or securities that must be invested in perpetuity). Use of the unrestricted classification is 
appropriate if the donor explicitly stipulates that the promise to give is to support current-period 
activities or if other circumstances surrounding the promise make it clear that the donor’s 
intention is to support current-period activities. The classification of contribution revenue is 
discussed further in paragraphs 5.75–.88. 

5.97 FinREC believes that in implementing the guidance in FASB ASC 958-605-45-5, an NFP implies 
time restrictions that expire in the periods that the payments of the unconditional promise to 
give are due. For example, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary, if a donor promises 
to give $5,000 a year for 5 years to be used to fund scholarships for students that are accounting 
majors, it is reasonable to assume that the donor wanted a $5,000 scholarship to be granted in 
each of the 5 years. The promise to give would increase temporarily restricted net assets because 
there is both a purpose restriction (for scholarships) and 5 time restrictions—one for $5,000 
expiring when the first payment is due, another for $5,000 expiring when the second payment is 
due, and so forth. 
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5.98 However, FinREC believes that an NFP would not imply time restrictions that expire in the 
periods that the payments of the unconditional promise to give are due if another time period is 
inherent in the donor’s purpose restriction. For example, a donor may give to be the official 
sponsor of the Tenth Annual Fund-raising Walk,14 which takes place in the current fiscal year, 
but specifies a payment date for the unconditional promise in the next fiscal year. Because the 
donor’s explicit stipulation specified an event of the current year, no time restriction is implied 
by the donee, and because the purpose restriction is met by holding the fund-raising walk in the 
current year, the net assets are unrestricted at the end of the year. The contribution revenue 
relating to the promise would be reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the NFP 
adopted the policy discussed in FASB ASC 958-605-45-4 (see paragraph 5.85); otherwise, it 
would be reported as an increase in temporarily restricted net assets (to reflect the purpose 
restriction) along with a release of that restriction in the current year. Similarly, a donor may give 
to support a traveling exhibit the museum will host in year 2, but specify that the payments on 
that unconditional promise are due in installments in each of years 1, 2, and 3. The contribution 
revenue relating to the promise would be reported in year 1 as an increase in temporarily 
restricted net assets to reflect the purpose restriction, but a time restriction would not be implied 
because a time period is inherent in the donor’s restriction for an event that will occur only in 
year 2.  

Intentions to Give 

5.105 NFPs may receive communications that are intentions to give, rather than promises to give. For 
example, communications from individuals indicating that the NFP has been included in the 
individual’s will as a beneficiary are intentions to give. Such communications are not 
unconditional promises to give, because individuals retain the ability to modify their wills during 
their lifetimes. (When the probate court declares the will valid, the NFP should recognize 
contribution revenue and a receivable at the fair value of its interest in the estate, unless the 
promise is conditioned upon future or uncertain events, in which case a contribution should not 
be recognized until the conditions are substantially met.) Paragraphs 49–51 of FASB ASC 958-
605-55 provide an example of an individual naming an NFP as a beneficiary in her will. NFPs 
should disclose information about conditional promises in valid wills in conformity with FASB 
ASC 958-310-50-4. In cases in which the testator has not placed a purpose restriction on the gift, 
the classification of a bequest receivable as unrestricted contribution revenue or temporarily 
restricted contribution revenue differs in practice among NFPs. Some have concluded that 
because the contribution is in receivable form and will be paid at a future date, it is inherently 
time-restricted and therefore should be recognized as temporarily restricted revenue. Others 
have concluded that because restrictions can only be placed by donors and the receivable is due 
and payable on the date the will cleared probate, the contribution revenue is unrestricted. The 
latter say that although there may be time delays between clearing probate and payment because 
of administrative dealings of the courts and attorneys, those delays are not the actions of donors, 
and the timeline is not a function of a time restriction placed by a donor. NFPs should consider 
the facts and circumstances in determining the classification of the contribution revenue. 

5.106 Per FASB ASC 958-605-25-10, solicitations for donations that clearly include wording such as 
“information to be used for budget purposes only” or that clearly and explicitly allow resource 
providers to rescind their indications that they will give are intentions to give rather than 
promises to give and should not be reported as contributions. 

                                                      

14 Paragraphs 5.51–.57 discuss whether a sponsorship is entirely a contribution, entirely an exchange transaction, or 
a combination of the two. 
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Contributed Services 
5.112 FASB ASC 958-605-25-16 requires that contributions of services be recognized if the services 

received meet any of the following criteria: 

a. They create or enhance a nonfinancial asset. The FASB ASC glossary defines a 
nonfinancial asset as an asset that is not a financial asset. Nonfinancial assets include land, 
buildings, use of facilities or utilities, materials and supplies, intangible assets, or services. 

b. They require specialized skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills and 
would typically need to be purchased if not provided by donation. Services requiring 
specialized skills are provided by accountants, architects, carpenters, doctors, 
electricians, lawyers, nurses, plumbers, teachers, and other professionals and craftsmen.  

5.113 Recognized contributed services should be reported as contribution revenue and as assets or 
expenses. Whether such contributions should be recognized is unaffected by whether the NFP 
could afford to purchase the services at their fair value. 

5.114 FASB ASC 958-605-25-16 states that contributed services and promises to give services that do 
not meet the criteria (in paragraph 5.112) should not be recognized. Examples 7–10 (paragraphs 
52–68 of FASB ASC 958-605-55) illustrate the recognition of contributed services. Per FASB 
ASC 958-605-30-2, if such contributions are recognized, they should be measured at fair value. 

5.115 Per FASB ASC 958-605-30-10, the fair value of contributed services that create or enhance 
nonfinancial assets may be measured by referring to either the fair value of the services received 
or the fair value of the asset or of the asset enhancement resulting from the services. Fair value 
should be used for the measure regardless of whether the NFP could afford to purchase the 
services at their fair value. 

5.116 When measuring the fair value of contributed services that create or enhance nonfinancial assets, 
the prevalent practice is to measure the contributed services at fair value, with an upper limit on 
the amount recognized (a cap) at the fair value of the asset enhancement or resulting 
nonfinancial assets. In determining the fair value of the resulting nonfinancial assets, an NFP 
could take a before and after approach to isolate the portion of the change in the fair value of the 
nonfinancial asset attributed to the contributed services from the portion attributed to other 
factors, such as market conditions. Generally, an NFP would use the fair value measure that is 
more readily determinable to measure contributed services. 

Gifts in Kind 
5.123 The term gifts in kind is used broadly to refer to all noncash gifts. Paragraphs 5.124–.149 discuss 

gifts of tangible personal property, such as furniture, equipment, clothing, pharmaceuticals, and 
supplies. Other types of gifts in kind are discussed in the following paragraphs: 

 Contributed items to be sold at fund-raising events (paragraphs 5.150–.151) 
 Contributed fund-raising material, informational material, or advertising, including 

media time or space (paragraphs 5.152–.163) 
 Contributed utilities and use of long-lived assets (paragraphs 5.164–.166) 
 Contributed collection items (paragraph 5.175) 
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Fair Value Measurement of Gifts in Kind 

5.144 An NFP has a responsibility to determine the fair value of gifts in kind in accordance with the 
standards in FASB ASC 820. Therefore, if a donor provides a valuation or an appraisal, the NFP 
should independently and without bias ascertain whether that value is determined in accordance 
with FASB ASC 820. Likewise, published sources exist that purport to provide the value of 
various assets that may be received as gifts in kind, such as pharmaceuticals or motor vehicles. 
FinREC believes that in measuring fair value in conformity with FASB ASC 820, NFPs should 
consider whether those published sources are appropriate inputs for measuring fair value. The 
value that a donor recognizes for tax purposes or that a published source indicates is not 
necessarily fair value and may differ significantly from fair value. 

Contributed Fund-raising Material, Informational Material, or Advertising, Including 
Media Time or Space 
5.152 In some cases, entities other than an NFP use for an NFP’s benefit (or provide at no charge to 

an NFP) certain nonfinancial assets that encourage the public to contribute to the NFP or help 
the NFP communicate its message or mission. Examples of these include fund-raising material, 
informational material, or advertising, including media time or space for public service 
announcements or other purposes. As noted in FASB ASC 958-605-55-23, the use of property, 
utilities, or advertising time are considered to be forms of contributed assets rather than 
contributed services. Therefore, the criteria for recognition of contributed services in FASB ASC 
958-605-25-16, as discussed in paragraph 5.112, are not applicable.  

5.153 Q&A section 6140.24, “Contributions of Certain Nonfinancial Assets, Such as Fundraising 
Material, Informational Material, or Advertising, Including Media Time or Space for Public 
Service Announcements or Other Purposes” (AICPA, Technical Questions and Answers), states that 
when such nonfinancial assets are used for the NFP’s benefit (or provided to the NFP at no 
charge) and they encourage the public to contribute to an NFP or help the NFP communicate its 
message or mission, NFPs should consider whether they have received a contribution. If they 
have received a contribution, the nonfinancial asset received should be measured at fair value, 
pursuant to FASB ASC 958-605-30-2; and the related expense, at the time the expense is 
recognized, should be reported by function, based on the nature of the contributed item. 

5.154 Examples of such activities include the following: 

 An advertising agency, television station, or newspaper provides design services or 
professional talent services.  

 A radio or television station gives an NFP (or uses for the NFP’s benefit) commercial air 
time at no charge. 

 A radio or television station airs a public service announcement provided to it by the 
NFP. (Some stations air the announcement and report information about the airings to 
the NFP.) 

 A magazine, newspaper, or other print media gives an NFP (or uses for the NFP’s 
benefit) advertising space at no charge. 

An Internet site gives an NFP (or uses for the NFP’s benefit) advertising space at no charge. 
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Contributed Utilities and Use of Long-Lived Assets 
5.164 NFPs may receive unconditional contributions of the use of electric, telephone, and other 

utilities and of long-lived assets (such as a building or the use of facilities) in which the donor 
retains legal title to the long-lived asset. Pursuant to FASB ASC 958-605-55-23 and FASB ASC 
958-605-25-2, an NFP should recognize the fair value of the use of property or utilities as 
contribution revenue in the period in which the contribution15 is received and expenses in the 
period the utilities or long-lived assets are used.16 If the transaction is an unconditional promise 
to give (as described in paragraphs 5.89–.111) for a specified number of periods, the promise 
should be reported as contributions receivable and as restricted support that increases 
temporarily restricted net assets.17  

5.165 FASB ASC 958-605-55-24 discusses unconditional promises to give the use of long-lived assets 
(such as a building or other facilities) for a specified number of periods in which the donor 
retains legal title to the long-lived asset. Those promises may be received in connection with 
leases or may be similar to leases but have no lease payments. For example, an NFP may use 
facilities under lease agreements that call for lease payments at amounts below the fair rental 
value of the property. In circumstances in which an NFP receives an unconditional promise to 
give for a specified number of periods, the promise should be reported as revenue and as a 
contribution receivable for the difference between the fair rental value of the property and the 
stated amount of the lease payments.18 Amounts reported as contributions should not exceed the 
fair value of the long-lived asset at the time the NFP receives the unconditional promise to give. 
The contribution receivable may be described in the financial statements based on the item 
whose use is being contributed, such as a building, rather than as contributions receivable. The 
contribution of the use of the property could be subject to donor-imposed restrictions or 
conditions. 

MEASUREMENT PRINCIPLES FOR CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 

5.180 In accordance with FASB ASC 958-605-30-1, contributions receivable (unconditional promises 
to give) are initially measured at fair value. NFPs also have the option of electing to subsequently 
measure a contribution receivable at fair value in conformity with the “Fair Value Option” 
subsections of FASB ASC 825-10. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
unconditional promise to give (an asset) in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.  

5.181 FASB ASC 958-605-55-22 states that the present value of the future cash flows is one valuation 
technique for measuring the fair value of contributions arising from unconditional promises to 
give cash; other valuation techniques also are available, as described in FASB ASC 820.19 The fair 
value white paper states that FinREC believes that a present value technique (an application of 

                                                      

15 As discussed in FASB ASC 958-605-55-26, contributions are received in several different forms, which include 
both the use of facilities and utilities, as well as unconditional promises to give those items in the future. 
16 FASB ASC 958-605-55-23 states that whether those contributions should be reported is unaffected by whether 
the NFP could afford to purchase the utilities or facilities at their fair value. 
17 Paragraph 5.58 discusses measurement principles for initial recognition of contributions received. 
18 See footnote 19. 
19 See footnote 5. 
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the income approach) will be the most prevalent valuation technique used to measure fair value 
of an unconditional promise to give that is expected to be collected in one year or more. In 
reaching that conclusion, FinREC observes that the market approach typically would not be 
operational for measuring the fair value of unconditional promises to give cash because no 
market exists, and the cost approach is not used for valuing financial assets such as promises to 
give. Because no market exists for unconditional promises to give, assumptions regarding what a 
hypothetical acquirer would pay for these assets (the right to receive from the donor the cash 
flow inherent in the promise), determined under current market conditions, are necessary in 
determining fair value. (The portions of the fair value white paper that discuss unconditional 
promises to give cash and other financial assets are included in appendix A of this chapter.) 

Unconditional Promises to Give Cash 

5.191 Table 5-4 reproduces the table in FASB ASC 958-605-55-22, which illustrates the use of present 
value techniques for initial recognition and measurement of unconditional promises to give cash 
that are expected to be collected one year or more after the financial statement date. 

Table 5-4 Initial Recognition of Unconditional Promises to Give Cash 

Facts   

Assume that a not-for-profit entity receives a promise (or promises from a 
group of homogeneous donors) to give $100 in 5 years, that the anticipated 
future cash flows from the promise(s) are $70, and that the present value of 
the future cash flows is $50.

Solution   

dr.  Contributions Receivable $70  

 cr. Contribution Revenue—Temporarily 
Restricted

 $50 

 cr. Discount on Contributions Receivable $20 

(To report contributions receivable and revenue using a present value 
technique to measure fair value.)

[Note: Many entities may use a subsidiary ledger to retain information 
concerning the $100 face amount of contributions promised in order to 
monitor collections of contributions promised.]
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DISCLOSURES 

5.218 The notes to financial statements should include the following information about contributions 
receivable: 

 Contributions receivable pledged as collateral or otherwise limited with regard to use. 
 A schedule of contributions receivable (showing the total amount separated into 

amounts receivable in less than one year, in one to five years, and in more than five 
years) and the related allowance for uncollectible contributions receivable arising from 
subsequent decreases due to changes in the quantity or nature of assets expected to be 
received (see paragraphs 5.204–.205), and the unamortized discount.  

 The amount of conditional promises to give—in total and, with descriptions, the 
amount of each group of similar promises (for example, those conditioned upon the 
development of new programs, upon the purchase or construction of new property and 
equipment, and upon the raising of matching funds within a specified time period). 

 Disclosures required by paragraphs 10–19 of FASB ASC 825-10-50, including 
disclosures of fair value and carrying amounts for contributions receivable and all other 
financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate fair value, the method(s) and 
significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments, and the 
changes in the those methods and significant assumptions, if any, during the period, and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurements are 
categorized in their entirety (level 1, 2, or 3), unless those disclosures are optional 
because the three criteria of FASB ASC 825-10-50-3 are met.  

 Disclosures required by paragraphs 20–21 of FASB ASC 825-10-50 if an individual 
donor or groups of donors constitutes a significant concentration of credit risk arising 
from contributions receivable, unless those disclosures are optional because the three 
criteria of FASB ASC 825-10-50-3 are met. 

 Disclosures required by paragraphs 1–3 of FASB ASC 820-10-50 in the format 
described in FASB ASC 820-10-50-8, if contributions receivable are subsequently 
measured at fair value. 

 Disclosures required by FASB ASC 820-10-50-2E if unconditional promises to give are 
not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position but their fair value is 
disclosed (public entities only). 

 Disclosures required by paragraphs 28–31 of FASB ASC 825-10-50, if contributions 
receivable are subsequently measured at fair value. 

 Disclosures required by FASB ASC 825-10-50-32, if an election to report contributions 
receivable at fair value is made after initial recognition pursuant to FASB ASC 825-10-
25-4(e). 

 Disclosures required by FASB ASC 835-30-45 for imputation of interest. 

ILLUSTRATIVE DISCLOSURES 

5.222 The following section provides examples of notes to financial statements that illustrate some of 
the disclosures discussed in this chapter. 

 Example 1—Donor-Imposed Restrictions 

 Note X: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
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 All contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless specifically restricted 
by the donor. Amounts received that are designated for future periods or restricted by the donor 
for specific purposes are reported as temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support that 
increases those net asset classes. However, if a restriction is fulfilled in the same time period in 
which the contribution is received, the NFP reports the support as unrestricted. 

 Example 2—Promises to Give 

 Note X: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected within one year are recorded at 
net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in future 
years are recorded at fair value, which is measured as the present value of their future cash flows. 
The discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-adjusted interest rates applicable to the 
years in which the promises are received. Amortization of the discounts is included in 
contribution revenue. Conditional promises to give are not included as support until the 
conditions are substantially met. 

 Note Y: Promises to Give 

 Included in “Contributions Receivable” are the following unconditional promises to give: 

 20X1 20X0 

Capital campaign $1,220

Restricted to future periods 795 $530 

Unconditional promises to give before 
unamortized discount and allowance for 
uncollectibles 

2,015 530 

Less: Unamortized discount (180) (24) 

Subtotal 1,835 506 

Less: Allowance for uncollectibles (150) (30) 

Net unconditional promises to give $1,685 $476 

Amounts due in:  

Less than one year $1,220

One to five years 725

More than five years 70

Total $2,015
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Discount rates ranged from 4 percent to 4.5 percent and from 3.5 percent to 4 percent for 20X1 
and 20X0, respectively. 

 In 20X0, the NFP received $650 for a capital campaign which must be returned if the NFP does 
not receive $1,300 in donations to the capital campaign. The $650 received was recorded on the 
20X0 statement of financial position as a refundable advance. In 20X1, the NFP received $500 in 
cash donations and $865 in unconditional promises to give to this campaign. As a result, the 
$650 was recognized as temporarily restricted contributions in 20X1. 

 In addition, the NFP received the following conditional promises to give that are not recognized 
as assets in the statements of financial position: 

 20X1 20X0 

Conditional promise to give upon the 
establishment of a library program

$100 $100 

Conditional promise to give upon obtaining 
$2,500 in unconditional promises to give to 
the capital campaign

5,000  

 [The following disclosure is encouraged but not required.] 

 The NFP received an indication of an intention to give from an individual long-time donor. The 
anticipated gift is an extensive collection of pre-Columbian textiles with great historical and 
artistic significance. The value of this intended gift has not been established, nor has the gift been 
recognized as an asset or contribution revenue. 

 Example 3—Accounting Policy for Contributed Property and Equipment 

 Note X: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 Contributed property and equipment is recorded at fair value at the date of donation. In the 
absence of donor stipulations regarding how long the contributed assets must be used, the NFP 
has adopted a policy of implying a time restriction on contributions of such assets that expires 
over the assets’ useful lives. As a result, all contributions of property and equipment, and of 
assets contributed to acquire property and equipment, are recorded as restricted support. 

OR 

 Contributed property and equipment is recorded at fair value at the date of donation. If donors 
stipulate how long the assets must be used, the contributions are recorded as restricted support. 
In the absence of such stipulations, contributions of property and equipment are recorded as 
unrestricted support. 
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 Example 4—Contributed Services 

 The NFP recognizes contribution revenue for certain services received at the fair value of those 
services. Those services include the following items: 

 20X1 20X0 

Home outreach program:    

Salaries:    

Social work interns—261 and 315 
hours at $12.00 per hour

$3,132 $3,780  

Registered nurse—200 and 220 hours 
at $15.00 per hour

3,000 3,300 

Total salaries 6,132 7,080  

Management and general:    

Accounting services 10,000 19,000 

Total contributed services $16,132 $26,080 

 In addition, approximately 80,000 hours, for which no value has been assigned, were volunteered 
by tutors in the home outreach program. 

 Example 5—Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Others 

 In 19XX, the NFP transferred $1,000,000 from its investment portfolio to the Any Town 
Community Foundation to establish an endowment fund. Under the terms of the agreement, in 
the first quarter of each year, the NFP receives a distribution equal to the investment return 
generated by the transferred assets during the prior year. The NFP can withdraw all or a portion 
of the original amount transferred, any appreciation on those transferred assets, or both, 
provided that a majority of the governing boards of the NFP and the Foundation approve of the 
withdrawal. At the time of the transfer, the NFP granted variance power to the Foundation. That 
power gives the Foundation the right to distribute the investment income to another not-for-
profit entity of its choice if the NFP ceases to exist or if the governing board of Any Town 
Community Foundation votes that support of the NFP (a) is no longer necessary or (b) is 
inconsistent with the needs of the Any Town community. At June 30, 20X1, the endowment 
fund has a value of $1,234,567, which is reported in the statement of financial position as 
beneficial interest in assets held by others. 
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 Example 6—Gifts in Kind Accounting Policy Note 

 Gifts in kind: The NFP receives gifts in kind, such as medical equipment, prescription drugs, and 
other medical supplies for use in treating disaster victims. Gifts in kind revenue is recognized in 
circumstances in which the NFP has sufficient discretion over the use and disposition of the 
items to recognize a contribution in conformity with FASB ASC 958-605-25. Accordingly, the 
recognition of gifts in kind revenue is limited to circumstances in which the NFP takes 
constructive possession of the gifts in kind and the NFP is the recipient of the gift, rather than 
an agent or intermediary (as defined by accounting standards). Gifts in kind received through 
donations are valued and recorded as revenue at their fair value at the time the contribution is 
received. 

 In circumstances in which the NFP is functioning as an agent or intermediary with respect to the 
gifts in kind, the NFP reports an asset and corresponding liability measured at the fair value at 
the earlier of the time the goods are promised or received from the resource provider, and until 
the NFP remits the gifts in kind to the ultimate beneficiary.  

 In circumstances in which the NFP distributes gifts in kind as part of its own programs, it 
reports an expense, which is reported in the functional classification for the program in which 
the gifts in kind were used. Although it is the NFP’s policy to distribute gifts in kind as promptly 
as possible, the NFP may hold some gifts in kind at year-end. Undistributed gifts in kind at year-
end are reported as inventory. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or fair value (cost is 
determined as fair value at the date of gift plus any costs incurred).  

 Example 7—Gifts in Kind Inventory 

 
Medical 

Equipment 
Prescription 

Drugs 

Other 
Medical 
Supplies Total 

Undistributed gifts in kind inventory,  

 Beginning of year $10,000 $5,000 $15,000 $30,000

Gifts in kind:  

 Donations 150,000 175,000 125,000 450,000

 Agency transactions 50,000  50,000

Labor costs added 45,000 45,000

Obsolete inventory written off (5,000) (1,000) (6,000)

Gifts in kind distributed:  

 Used in NFP’s programs (40,000) (80,000) (115,000) (235,000)

 Distributed to other NFPs:  

  Contributions (75,000) (90,000) (40,000) (205,000)

  Agency transactions (50,000)  (50,000)

Undistributed gifts in kind inventory,  

 End of year  $ 40,000 $10,000 $29,000 $79,000
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The donations were received from the following sources: 

Source Total Contribution 
Agency 

Transactions 

U.S. Agency for International 
Development 

$150,000 $100,000 $50,000 

U.S. Department of Agriculture  25,000  25,000  

 Total government 175,000 125,000 50,000 

Private corporations 300,000 300,000  

Other NFPs 25,000 25,000  

 Total donations $500,000 $450,000 $50,000 

Contributed Services, Facilities, or Utilities 

5.230 In addition to those possible procedures identified in paragraph 5.228, suggested audit 
procedures to consider include the following: 

 Through inquiry, determine if the NFP receives contributed services (for example, 
discounted or free legal services), facilities, utilities, or use of long-lived assets. 
(Occurrence/Existence) 

 If the NFP receives contributed services, examine supporting documentation for the 
recognition of contributed services and determine that the services meet the recognition 
criteria in FASB ASC 958-605-25-16 (paragraph 5.112). (Rights and Obligations, 
Completeness) 

 Review and test the assumptions used to measure and value contributed services. 
(Valuation) 

 Determine that the costs incurred to induce donors to contribute services (regardless of 
whether those services meet the recognition criteria) are classified as fund-raising 
expenses by the NFP. (Allocation) 

 Consider if any specific disclosure is required. For example, if an NFP has land and 
buildings leased at a below market rate, it may want to disclose how the transaction is 
recorded. (Completeness) 

5.231 Some NFPs rely heavily on substantial amounts of contributed services, such as docents at a 
museum or volunteers at a call-in center. Although these services may not meet the criteria 
allowing recognition in the financial statements, the NFP may want to disclose the level of effort 
and value of the contributed services in the notes to the financial statements. If the NFP 
maintains sufficiently detailed time records of the volunteer effort that the auditor could test, the 
hours contributed could be disclosed. Otherwise those disclosures would be marked as 
unaudited. A value would be assigned based on the work performed, rather than based on the 
individual performing the work. For example, if an attorney provides administrative services, the 
value would be based on the administrative services value not the attorney’s standard billing rate.  
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Contributions Receivable 
5.237 Paragraph .20 of AU-C section 330 states that the auditor should use external confirmation 

procedures for accounts receivable except under certain specified circumstances. Paragraph .A55 
of AU-C section 330 defines accounts receivable as (a) the entity’s claims against customers that have 
arisen from the sale of goods or services in the normal course of business, and (b) a financial 
institution’s loans. Though under that definition contributions receivable are not accounts 
receivable to which that presumption would apply, the auditor may nevertheless determine that it 
is appropriate to request external confirmation of contributions receivable. 

5.238 Receivables are usually confirmed principally to provide evidence about the existence assertion. 
FASB ASC 958-605-25-8 specifies that for a promise to give to be recognized in financial 
statements, there must be sufficient evidence in the form of verifiable documentation that a 
promise was made and received. If the documentation is not present, an asset should not be 
recognized. The verifiable documentation for recognition of promises to give may not be 
sufficient evidence concerning the existence assertion. Confirming contributions receivable may 
provide additional evidence about the existence of promises to give, the existence or absence of 
restrictions, the existence or absence of conditions, and the periods over which the promises to 
give become due. If the auditor confirms contributions receivable, AU-C section 505, External 
Confirmations (AICPA, Professional Standards), provides requirements and guidance concerning the 
external confirmation process. 

Auditing Considerations 

Financial Statement 
Assertions Specific Audit Objectives Select Control Objectives 

Account Balances 

Occurrence/Existence Amounts recognized as 
contributions receivable 
represent valid 
unconditional promises to 
give. 

Controls ensure that only unconditional 
promises to give are recognized in the 
financial statements.  

Completeness All unconditional promises 
to give are recognized. 

Controls ensure that all unconditional 
promises to give are recognized in the 
financial statements. Controls ensure 
that conditional promises to give are 
recognized when the conditions have 
been substantially met. 

Valuation and Allocation Contributions receivable 
are appropriately valued. 

Controls ensure the appropriate 
valuation of promises to give at the 
time of initial recognition. 
The valuation of promises to give is 
periodically reviewed by management. 
Write-offs of uncollectible promises to 
give are identified and approved in 
accordance with the entity’s established 
policy.
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5.239 Suggested audit procedures to consider include the following: 

 Inquire of management (including development office) and members of governance 
regarding the existence of oral promises to give. (Existence/Occurrence) 

 Review the reconciliation of the development office’s listing of receivables to that 
recorded in the general ledger. (Completeness) 

 Examine documentation supporting recognition of promises to give, noting information 
such as absence of conditions or restrictions and the periods over which the promises to 
give become due. (Existence/Occurrence, Rights and Obligations) 

 Consider confirmation, as discussed in paragraphs 5.237–.238. (Existence) 
 If confirmation is not performed, test contributions receivable by vouching subsequent 

receipts or other alternative procedures. (Existence) 
 Compare detail of contributions receivable with data accumulated and maintained by the 

fund-raising function and investigate reconciling items. (Completeness) 
 Review and test the methods and assumptions used to measure promises to give at fair 

value at the time of initial recognition. (Valuation) 
 Review promises to give for collectibility, and, if appropriate, changes in fair value of the 

underlying asset. (Valuation) 

Agency Transactions 
Auditing Considerations 

Financial Statement 
Assertions Specific Audit Objectives Select Control Objectives 

Account Balances  

Occurrence/Existence and 
Completeness 

Assets and liabilities from 
agency transactions meet the 
criteria for classification and 
recognition as agency 
transactions. 
All agency transactions are 
recognized.

Controls ensure that (1) only 
resources received and paid 
in agency transactions are 
recognized as agency 
transactions and (2) all such 
transactions are recognized. 

Presentation and Disclosures 

Rights and obligations Agency transactions are not 
included in reported amounts 
of contributions. 

Controls ensure that agency 
transactions are identified and 
are not included in 
contribution totals. 

Recognition of Revocable Agreements 
6.07 FASB ASC 958-30-25-2, FASB ASC 958-30-30-3, and paragraphs 11–12 of FASB ASC 958-30-

35 discuss recognition and measurement of revocable split-interest agreements. Revocable split-
interest agreements should be accounted for as intentions to give. Assets received by an NFP 
acting as a trustee under a revocable split-interest agreement should be recognized at fair value 
when received as assets and as a refundable advance. If those assets are investments, they should 
be recognized in conformity with FASB ASC 958-320 or 958-325 as appropriate. Contribution 
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revenue for the assets received should be recognized when the agreements become irrevocable 
or when the assets are distributed to the NFP for its unconditional use, whichever occurs first. 
Income earned on assets held under revocable agreements that is not available for the NFP’s 
unconditional use, and any subsequent adjustments to the carrying value of those assets, should 
be recognized as adjustments to the assets and as refundable advances. 

Charitable Lead Trust 
6.55 A charitable lead trust is an arrangement in which a donor establishes and funds a trust with 

specific distributions to be made to a designated NFP over a specified period. The NFP’s use of 
the assets distributed may be restricted by the donor. The distributions may be for a fixed dollar 
amount, an arrangement called a charitable lead annuity trust, or for a fixed percentage of the trust’s 
fair value as determined annually, a charitable lead unitrust. Upon termination of the trust, the 
remainder of the trust assets is paid to the donor or to the beneficiaries designated by the donor. 

Perpetual Trust Held by a Third Party 
6.62 According to the FASB ASC glossary, a perpetual trust held by a third party is an arrangement in 

which a donor establishes and funds a perpetual trust administered by an individual or entity 
other than the NFP that is the beneficiary.20 Under the terms of the trust, the NFP has the 
irrevocable right to receive the income earned on the trust assets in perpetuity, but never receives 
the assets held in trust. Distributions received by the NFP may be restricted by the donor. 

Charitable Remainder Trust 
6.67 A charitable remainder trust is an arrangement in which a donor establishes and funds a trust 

with specified distributions to be made to a designated beneficiary or beneficiaries over the 
trust’s term. Upon termination of the trust, an NFP receives the assets remaining in the trust. 
The NFP may ultimately have unrestricted use of those assets, or the donor may place 
permanent or temporary restrictions on their use. The distributions to the beneficiaries may be 
for a specified dollar amount, an arrangement called a charitable remainder annuity trust, or for a 
specified percentage of the trust’s fair value as determined annually, a charitable remainder unitrust. 
Some charitable remainder unitrusts limit the annual payout to the lesser of the stated percentage 
or the actual income earned. Obligations to the beneficiaries are limited to the trust’s assets. 

Charitable Gift Annuity 
6.74 A charitable gift annuity is an arrangement between a donor and an NFP in which the donor 

contributes assets to the NFP in exchange for a promise by the NFP to pay a fixed amount for a 
specified period of time to the donor or to individuals or entities designated by the donor. The 
agreements are similar to charitable remainder annuity trusts except that no trust exists, the assets 
received are held as general assets of the NFP, and the annuity liability is a general obligation of 
the NFP. 

                                                      

20 Paragraphs 5.33–.38 provide guidance for transactions in which a perpetual trust held by a third party (trustee or 
other recipient organization) is established by an NFP for its own benefit or for the benefit of its affiliate. 
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APPENDIX B — JOURNAL ENTRIES 

6.96 

 B-2 Charitable Lead Trust (not-for-profit entity [NFP] is trustee) (paragraphs 6.55–.58). 
NFP A enters into an irrevocable charitable lead annuity trust arrangement with a donor 
whereby 

 the donor establishes a trust with NFP A serving as trustee. 
 the terms of the trust are that NFP A is to receive an annuity of $X per year until the 

donor’s death. 
 distributions received from the trust by NFP A are unrestricted. 
 upon the death of the donor, the remaining balance in the trust passes to the donor’s 

estate. 

Solution:  

Creation of the trust: 
 

   

 dr.  Assets Held in Charitable Lead Trust

  cr.  Liability for Amounts Held for 
Others

  cr.  Contribution Revenue—
Temporarily Restricted 

 (Assets and revenue measured at fair value when received, as 
discussed in paragraphs 6.13–.15)

Over the term of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Assets Held in Charitable Lead Trust

  cr.  Liability for Amounts Held for 
Others

 (Trust income and changes in fair value of assets held in trust, to 
the extent recognized)

 dr.  Cash

  cr.  Assets Held in Charitable Lead 
Trust

 (Distribution of income to NFP) 
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 dr.  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets—Reclassifications 
Out

  cr.  Unrestricted Net Assets—
Reclassifications In 

 (Reclassification of amounts received by NFP)

 dr.  Liability for Amounts Held for Others

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Temporarily Restricted 

 (Amortization of discount and revaluation based on changes in 
actuarial assumptions—debit and credit could be reversed) 

Termination of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Liability for Amounts Held for Others

 dr.  Change in Value of Split-Interest Agreements—
Temporarily Restricted (or cr.)

  cr.  Assets Held in Charitable Lead 
Trust

 (Return of assets to donor’s estate)

 B-3 Charitable Lead Trust (NFP is not trustee) (paragraph 6.60). The fact situation is the 
same as in the previous example except that the NFP is not the trustee. 

Solution:  

Creation of the trust: 
 

   

 dr.  Beneficial Interest in Lead Trust 

  cr.  Contribution Revenue—
Temporarily Restricted  

 (Beneficial interest in trust assets measured at fair value, as 
discussed in paragraphs 6.20–.27.)

Over the term of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Cash
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  cr. Beneficial Interest in Lead Trust 

 (Distribution of income to NFP)

 dr.  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets—Reclassifications 
Out

  cr.  Unrestricted Net Assets—
Reclassifications In 

 (Reclassification of amount received by NFP)

 dr.  Beneficial Interest in Lead Trust

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Temporarily Restricted 

 (Change in fair value—debit and 
credit could be reversed)

 

Termination of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Change in Value of Split-Interest Agreements—
Temporarily Restricted

  cr. Beneficial Interest in Lead Trust 

 (Closeout interest)

 B-5 Charitable Remainder Trust (NFP is trustee) (paragraphs 6.67–.70). NFP C enters into a 
charitable remainder unitrust agreement with a donor whereby 

 a trust is established by the donor to be administered by NFP C. 
 the donor’s spouse is to receive an annual distribution of X percent of the fair value of 

the trust’s assets each year until the spouse dies. 
 at the time of death of the donor’s spouse, the remaining assets of the trust are to be 

distributed to NFP C as permanent endowment. 
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Solution:  

Creation of the trust: 
 

   

 dr.  Assets Held in Charitable Remainder Trust 

  cr.  Liability Under Unitrust 
Agreement

  cr.  Contribution Revenue—
Permanently Restricted 

 (Assets and liability, as discussed in paragraphs 6.13–.18.) 

Over the term of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Assets Held in Charitable Remainder Trust 

  cr.  Liability Under Unitrust 
Agreement

 (Trust income and change in fair value of assets held in trust, to the 
extent recognized)

 dr.  Liability Under Unitrust Agreement

  cr.  Assets Held in Charitable 
Remainder Trust 

 (Payment to beneficiary) 
 

 

 dr.  Liability Under Unitrust Agreement

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Permanently Restricted 

 (Amortization of discount and adjustment of liability to reflect 
change in actuarial assumptions—debit and credit could be 
reversed)

Termination of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Liability Under Unitrust Agreement

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Permanently Restricted 

 (To close liability)

 dr.  Endowment Assets

  cr.  Assets Held in Charitable 
Remainder Trust 

 (To close trust and recognize assets as endowment) 
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 B-6 Charitable Remainder Trust (NFP is not trustee) (paragraph 6.72). The fact situation is 
the same as in the previous example, except that the NFP does not serve as trustee. 

Solution:  

Creation of the trust:  

 dr.  Beneficial Interest in Remainder Trust

  cr.  Contribution Revenue—
Permanently Restricted 

 (Beneficial interest measured at fair value, as discussed in 
paragraphs 6.20–.27.)

Over the term of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Beneficial Interest in Remainder Trust

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Permanently Restricted 

 (Change in fair value—debit and credit could be reversed) 

Termination of the 
trust: 

   

 dr.  Endowment Assets

  cr.  Beneficial Interest in Remainder 
Trust

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Permanently Restricted 

 (NFP receives distribution of trust assets from trustee, measured at 
fair value; the receivable account is closed and the change in value 
of split-interest agreements reflects the difference)

 B-7 Charitable Gift Annuity (paragraphs 6.74–.77). NFP D enters into a charitable gift annuity 
contract with a donor whereby 

 assets are transferred to NFP D and are available for unrestricted use by NFP D. 
 NFP D agrees to pay a stated dollar amount annually to the donor’s spouse until the 

spouse dies, at which time the remaining assets are available for the unrestricted use of 
NFP D. 

Solution:  
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Creation of the 
annuity: 

   

 dr.  Assets 

  cr. Annuity Payment Liability 

  cr.  Contribution Revenue—
Unrestricted

 (Assets and liabilities are measured at fair value when received, as 
discussed in paragraphs 6.13–.19.)

Over the term of the 
annuity: 

   

 dr.  Annuity Payment 
Liability

 

  cr. Cash

 (Payment to annuity beneficiary) 
 

 dr.  Change in Value of Split-Interest Agreements—
Unrestricted

  cr. Annuity Payment Liability 

 (Amortization of discount on liability and recording of any change 
in the life expectancy of the beneficiary—debit and credit could be 
reversed)

Termination of the 
annuity: 

   

 dr.  Annuity Payment Liability

  cr.  Change in Value of Split-
Interest Agreements—
Unrestricted

 (To close the annuity payment liability)
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COLLECTIONS AND WORKS OF ART, HISTORICAL TREASURES,  
OR SIMILAR ASSETS 

7.16 The FASB ASC glossary defines collections as follows: 

 Works of art, historical treasures, or similar assets that meet all of the following criteria: (a) They 
are held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service rather than 
financial gain, (b) They are protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved, and (c) They 
are subject to an organizational policy that requires the proceeds of items that are sold to be used 
to acquire other items for collections. 

7.17 FASB ASC 958-360-25-3 states that an NFP that holds works of art, historical treasures, and 
similar items that meet the definition of a collection has the following three alternative policies 
for reporting that collection: (a) capitalization of all collection items, (b) capitalization of all 
collection items on a prospective basis (that is, all items acquired after a stated date), or (c) no 
capitalization. Capitalization of selected collections or items is precluded.  

7.18 Accounting for collections depends on whether an NFP adopts a policy of recognizing 
collections as assets. If an NFP adopts a policy of capitalizing collections, items acquired in 
exchange transactions should be recognized as assets in the period in which they are acquired 
and should be measured at cost. Per FASB ASC 958-605-25-19 and FASB ASC 958-605-30-2, 
contributed collection items should be recognized as assets and as revenues or gains if collections 
are capitalized21 and should be measured at fair value. Items acquired in a nonmonetary exchange 
should be measured in accordance with FASB ASC 845-10-30. As discussed in FASB ASC 958-
605-25-4, if an item is accepted solely to be saved for its potential future use in scientific or 
educational research and has no alternative use, it may have uncertain value, or perhaps no value, 
and should not be recognized. 

7.22 If collection items are capitalized, FASB ASC 958-360-35-5 requires depreciation to be recognized. 
The future economic benefits or service potentials of individual items comprising collections, 
works of art, historical treasures, and similar items—including those designated as landmarks, 
monuments, cathedrals, or historical treasures—are used up not only by wear and tear in intended 
uses but also by the continuous destructive effects of pollutants, vibrations, and so forth. The 
cultural, aesthetic, or historical values of those assets can be preserved, if at all, only by periodic 
major efforts to protect, clean, and restore them, usually at significant cost. Depreciation need not 
be recognized on collection items that meet the criteria in FASB ASC 958-360-35-3. Additionally, if 
collection items are capitalized, a collection item should be tested for impairment in accordance 
with FASB ASC 360-10-35 whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. 

7.24 FASB ASC 958-605-25-18 requires that contributions of works of art, historical treasures, and 
similar assets that are not part of a collection should be recognized as assets and as revenue or 
gains.22 Per FASB ASC 958-605-30-2, those contributions should be measured at fair value. 

                                                      

21 As discussed in paragraphs 3–6 of FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-605-45, contributions should 
be classified as increases in unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted net assets, depending on 
the existence and type of restrictions imposed by donors. Chapter 5, “Contributions Received and Agency 
Transactions,” provides guidance concerning accounting for contributions with donor-imposed restrictions. 
22 See footnote 1. 
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Items acquired in exchange transactions should be measured at cost. Works of art, historical 
treasures, and similar items that are not added to collections should be accounted for as either 
held for sale or held and used in accordance with FASB ASC 360-10-35, as discussed in  
chapter 9, “Property and Equipment.” 

Financial Statement Presentation of Collections 
7.25 In accordance with FASB ASC 958-360-45-3, if an NFP adopts a policy of capitalizing 

collections (as defined in the FASB ASC glossary) a statement of financial position should 
include the total amount capitalized on a separate line item, “Collections” or “Collection Items.” 
Per FASB ASC 958-360-45-4, the amount capitalized for works of art, historical treasures, and 
similar assets that do not meet the definition of a collection should be disclosed separately on the 
face of the statement of financial position or in the notes. 

Collection Items 
7.40 Whether collections are capitalized or not, the auditor may determine that it is necessary to 

perform procedures to understand the NFP’s controls over recording accessions (including 
contributions) and deaccessions of collection items, controlling the collections, and periodically 
physically inspecting them. Procedures such as walk-throughs of relevant custodial controls 
might be adequate for the auditor to gain the requisite level of knowledge about the design and 
implementation of controls over the collection items. 

7.41 The auditor’s understanding assists the auditor in assessing risks and, in part, provides evidence 
supporting the disclosures required by FASB ASC 958-360-50-6. Examples of auditing 
procedures that might be applied for collection items are presented in the table at the end of this 
chapter. 

7.42 The following table illustrates the use of assertions in developing audit objectives and designing 
substantive tests. The examples are not intended to be all-inclusive nor is it expected that all the 
procedures would necessarily be applied in an audit. The use of assertions in assessing risks and 
designing appropriate audit procedures to obtain audit evidence is described in paragraphs .26–
.32 of AU-C section 315, Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of 
Material Misstatement (AICPA, Professional Standards). Paragraph .18 of AU-C section 330, Performing 
Audit Procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained (AICPA, 
Professional Standards), requires the auditor to design and perform substantive procedures for all 
relevant assertions related to each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure, 
irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement. This requirement reflects the facts 
that (1) the auditor’s assessment of risk is judgmental and may not identify all risks of material 
misstatement, and (2) inherent limitations to internal control exist, including management 
override. Various audit procedures and the purposes for which they may be performed are 
described in paragraphs .A10–.A26 of AU-C section 500. 
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Auditing Considerations 

Financial Statement 
Assertions Specific Audit Objectives Select Control Objectives 

Transactions 

All Collection Items 

Occurrence Collection items acquired in 
the current period by purchase 
and contribution were 
authorized. 
Deaccessions from collections 
occurred and were authorized. 

Controls ensure that 
purchased collection items are 
authorized and supported, 
contributed collection items 
are appropriately accessioned, 
and deaccessions are 
authorized and supported.

Capitalized Collection Items  

Completeness; Valuation and 
allocation 

All collection items acquired in 
exchange transactions are 
recognized as assets at cost. 
All contributed collection 
items are recognized as assets 
and as contributions at fair 
value. 

Controls exist to ensure that all 
purchases and contributions of 
collection items are 
recognized as assets (at cost 
and fair value, respectively) 
and that contribution revenues 
are recognized for contributed 
collection items based on 
adequate support. 

Account Balances 

All Collection Items 

Occurrence/ Existence Collection items exist. Collections items are 
safeguarded and are physically 
inspected periodically. 

Rights and obligations Restrictions on contributed 
collection items have been 
met.  

Contributions of collection 
items are reviewed for 
restrictions and management 
monitors compliance with 
restrictions. 
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Presentation and Disclosure 

Noncapitalized Collection Items 

Valuation Noncapitalized works of art, 
historical treasures, and similar 
assets meet the definition of 
collections in the FASB 
Accounting Standards 
Codification glossary.

Policies and procedures for 
determining that 
noncapitalized assets are 
collections. 

Completeness Appropriate disclosures 
referenced in a line item on 
the face of the statement of 
financial position.

 

Classification Purchases, sales, involuntary 
conversions, and other 
deaccessions of noncapitalized 
collection items are 
appropriately displayed in the 
statement of activities and the 
statement of cash flows.

 

Capitalized Collection Items 

Classification Contributed and 
deaccessioned collection 
items are reported in the 
appropriate net asset class.

 

All Collections 

7.43 Suggested audit procedures to consider include the following: 

 Obtain an understanding of the NFP’s policies over collection items and determine 
whether the requirements for a collection (paragraph 7.16) are included in the policy. 
(Completeness, Classification) 

 Review documentation supporting accessions and deaccessions of collection items. 
(Completeness, Occurrence) 

 Review minutes of governing board and governing board committee meetings for the 
following: 
o Authorization of major accessions and deaccessions. (Completeness) 
o Evidence of current period purchases and contributions. (Completeness, Cut-off) 
o Evidence of restrictions on collection items. (Allocation, Classification) 

 Review donor correspondence to determine the presence or absence of restrictions. 
(Allocation, Classification) 

 If specific collection items are restricted, review collection item transactions for 
propriety of use and disposition. (Rights and Obligations) 

 Make inquiries of curatorial personnel about deaccessioned collection items. 
(Completeness) 
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 Review the NFP’s procedures for controlling collections and physically inspecting them. 
(Existence) 

 For tests of the collection inventory 
o consider whether to observe the physical inspection. (Existence) 
o test the inventory of collection items by going from items to the inventory list as 

well as from the list to inventory items. (Existence, Completeness) 
o review actions taken by management to investigate discrepancies disclosed by the 

physical inspection and to adjust the records. (Completeness, Accuracy) 

 Determine that works of art, historical treasures, and similar assets that are not added to 
the collection are capitalized and disclosed separately on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes. (Completeness, Understandability)  

 Compare the list of collections to lists provided to third parties (such as insurance 
companies), including the values. (Completeness) 

 For collection items acquired in an exchange transaction, consider if the cost includes 
the costs necessarily incurred to bring the item to the condition and location necessary 
for its intended use. (Completeness, Accuracy) 

Capitalized Collection Items 

7.44 Suggested audit procedures to consider include the following: 

 Review documentation and procedures supporting the determination of cost or fair 
value. (Valuation) 

 Review donor correspondence to determine the presence or absence of restrictions and 
the propriety of classification. (Allocation, Classification) 

 Review minutes of governing board and governing board committee meetings for 
evidence of restrictions. (Allocation, Classification, Completeness) 

 Determine that the statement of financial position includes the total amount capitalized 
on a separate line item, titled “collections” or “collection items.” (Completeness, 
Understandability) 

 If prospective capitalization is used for collection items, determine that 
o a line item is shown on the face of the statement of financial position as required by 

FASB ASC 958-360-45-4. 
o that line item refers to the disclosures about collections required by FASB ASC 958-

360-50-6. 
o that line item is dated as of the date capitalization of the collection began; for 

example, “collections acquired since January 1, 1995 (Note X).” (Completeness, 
Understandability) 

 Consider the need to apply provisions of AU-C section 620, Using the Work of an 
Auditor’s Specialist (AICPA, Professional Standards), in conjunction with determining the 
reliability of carrying values. (Valuation) 

Noncapitalized Collections 

7.45 Suggested audit procedures to consider include the following: 

 Review policies and procedures determining the appropriateness of classifying assets as 
noncapitalized collections. (Completeness, Classification, Understandability) 

 Determine whether proceeds of sales of collection items are used to acquire other items 
for the collection. (Completeness, Classification, Understandability) 

 Determine that the line item required by FASB ASC 958-360-45-1 is present and that it 
refers to the note disclosures about collections. (Completeness, Understandability) 
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 Determine the appropriateness of disclosures related to noncapitalized collections. 
(Completeness, Understandability) 

INTRODUCTION 

8.02 This chapter discusses the three most common types of programmatic investments—those in 
the form of loans, equity interests, or guarantees—and the accounting and disclosures by the 
NFP investor. This chapter does not provide guidance for the investees. 

8.04 Programmatic investments are defined for the purpose of this chapter as any investment by an NFP 
that meets the following two criteria: 

 Its primary purpose is to further the tax exempt objectives of the NFP. 
 The production of income or the appreciation of the asset is not a significant purpose 

(that is, an investor seeking a market return would not enter into the investment). 

The preceding definition is similar to that of the term program-related investment, which is 
defined in IRS Section 4944(c). 

CORE CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING 

8.08 The following are core considerations for determining the proper accounting for programmatic 
investments, regardless of their form: 

 An assessment of whether an investment is programmatic or not is made when the 
initial investment transaction occurs. 

 Because one of the goals of making programmatic investments is furthering the mission 
of the NFP and because, by definition, the production of income or the appreciation of 
the asset is not a significant consideration in the determination of whether to invest, 
programmatic investments often have a contribution element. If they do, the 
contribution made should be accounted for in accordance with the standards in FASB 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 720-25 and FASB ASC 958-720. 

 Programmatic investments are subject to the same accounting standards as similar 
financial instruments, except for the contribution element, if any. Thus, loans are within 
the scope of the standards in FASB ASC 310, Receivables; ownership interests are subject 
to the standards for reporting relationships with related entities, including consolidation, 
equity method, and so forth (discussed in paragraphs 3.58–.121); and guarantees are 
subject to the standards in FASB ASC 460, Guarantees. 

 The relative significance of the investments to an NFP’s operations and financial 
position and the quantitative and qualitative risks arising from them is considered when 
determining the type of financial statement presentation and the extent of the 
disclosures. Thus, even though the amount of programmatic investments might 
quantitatively be considered immaterial, user needs for qualitative information are a 
consideration in determining the appropriate financial reporting.  
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LOANS 

8.10 When accounting for programmatic loans, NFPs look to one of two areas of FASB ASC, which 
may result in diversity of practice. Some NFPs look to the standards for loan accounting in 
FASB ASC 310 and to FASB ASC 835-30 on imputation of interest, and they impute a market 
interest rate on the loan that incorporates the risk that the NFP may be unable to collect from 
the borrower all contractually required payments of principal and interest, as discussed in 
paragraphs 8.11–.17. Other NFPs look to the FASB ASC definition of an inherent contribution, 
and they recognize the transaction as entirely a loan receivable, entirely a contribution, or in part 
a contribution and in part a loan receivable, as discussed in paragraphs 8.18–.33. The NFP 
should determine which method is most appropriate and apply those standards to all 
programmatic loan transactions, reporting consistently from period to period, and disclosing its 
accounting policy.  

Effective Interest Rate Approach 

Loan Origination (Initial Recognition and Measurement) 

8.15 For example, a community foundation lends $100,000 to an arts organization. The note is 
noninterest bearing, is unsecured, and a balloon payment is due at the end of the 5-year term. 
The community foundation determines that a market rate for a loan with the same terms and a 
borrower of equal credit worthiness as the arts organization is 15 percent. The present value of 
the contractual payments due under the loan is $49,720. Using the interest method, the 
community foundation would make the following entry: 

Loan receivable $100,000  

Contribution expense 50,280  

 Cash   $100,000 

 Discount on loan receivable  50,280 

Inherent Contribution Approach 

Loan Origination (Initial Recognition and Measurement) 

8.18 At origination, programmatic loans fit into one of following three categories—entirely a loan 
receivable, entirely a contribution, or in part a contribution and in part a loan receivable. Which 
of those is appropriate is determined by management’s best judgment after evaluation of the 
facts and circumstances available at the time of first accounting for the loan. Flowchart 8-1, 
which should be used in conjunction with the discussion in paragraphs 8.19–.33, may be helpful 
in making that determination. 
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Flowchart 8-1 

Origination of a Programmatic Loan, Inherent Contribution Method 

 

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 

8.53 By definition, programmatic investments that are equity instruments are interests in entities that 
provide goods or services that accomplish the purpose or mission for which the NFP exists or 
that serve the NFP’s administrative purposes. Thus, when determining the proper accounting 
and reporting, an NFP investor follows the guidance in chapter 3, “Financial Statements, the 
Reporting Entity, and General Financial Reporting Matters.” Exhibit 3-2, “Relationships of a 
Not-for-Profit Reporting Entity,” describes some common relationships with other entities and 
identifies where these relationships are discussed in chapter 3 and in FASB ASC. Exhibit 3-2 and 
chapter 3 summarize certain guidance in FASB ASC but are not a substitute for reading the 
guidance itself. 

8.54 Programmatic equity interests typically are in for-profit entities and, therefore, generally would 
not have a contribution element at origination. In some cases, the agreement for the equity 
interest will contain additional rights or privileges, such as the investor’s right to obtain future 
services from the investee at reduced rates. In those cases, those additional rights and privileges 
should be accounted for in accordance with relevant generally accepted accounting principles 
and the consideration specified in the agreement is allocated between the equity interest and 
those additional rights and privileges. 
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Guarantees 
8.62 Some programmatic investments take the form of guarantees. FASB ASC 460 establishes the 

accounting and disclosure requirements to be met by a guarantor for certain guarantees issued 
and outstanding. Those standards are briefly discussed in paragraphs 10.100–.101. 

PRESENTATION OF PROGRAMMATIC INVESTMENTS 

Contributed Resources for Making Programmatic Investments 
8.64 If the resources to make a programmatic investment are restricted by donors, the net assets 

related to the contributed resources should be reported as restricted until the restrictions are met, 
in accordance with FASB ASC 958-210-45-1. 

8.65 Therefore, FinREC believes that if a donor provides resources with a restriction that the 
resources be used to make a programmatic investment, the net assets would be reported as 
temporarily restricted until that investment is made. However, if the donor specifies that the 
contributed resources should create a revolving fund, such that repayments of loans or proceeds 
from sales of programmatic investments must be reinvested to make additional programmatic 
investments, the net assets related to the revolving fund are subject to a permanent restriction. 
Although the net assets may be reduced from time to time by losses, and may eventually be 
exhausted, the resources are capable of providing economic benefits indefinitely and the donor 
has instructed that the fund should be revolving in duration. (Paragraphs 5.80–.83 provide 
additional information about the classification of net assets as permanently restricted.)  

Depreciation and Amortization 
9.21 Paragraphs 1–6 of FASB ASC 958-360-35 require all NFPs to recognize depreciation for all 

property and equipment except land used as a building site, certain works of art or historical 
treasures with extraordinarily long lives, and similar assets. 

FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES TO MEET DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

11.05 When an NFP accepts a restricted contribution, it accepts a fiduciary responsibility to use the gift 
for the purposes for which it is given. An NFP needs a method of tracking restrictions on net 
assets and when those restrictions are satisfied. One way of tracking restricted net assets and 
their use is fund accounting, which facilitates tracking by segregating resources into funds that 
are consistent with the restricted use of the contribution. Chapter 16, “Fund Accounting,” 
discusses fund accounting and the fund types typically used by NFPs. Other ways of tracking 
restricted net assets and their uses are via a subsidiary ledger or a project accounting system.  

Fund-raising Costs 
13.09 Per FASB ASC 958-720-25-4, costs of fund-raising, including the cost of special fund-raising 

events, should be expensed as incurred. Costs are incurred when the item or service has been 
received. Fund-raising costs incurred in one period, such as those made to obtain bequests, 
compile a mailing list of prospective contributors, or solicit contributions in a direct-response 
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activity, may result in contributions that will be received in future periods. These costs also 
should be expensed as incurred. Accounting for the costs of premiums, such as address labels, 
calendars, greeting cards, coffee mugs, and other items of nominal value that are provided to 
donors and potential donors, is discussed in paragraphs 5.41–.42. 

GAINS AND LOSSES 

13.40 Per FASB ASC 958-225-45-8, gains and losses should be recognized as increases or decreases in 
unrestricted net assets unless their use is temporarily or permanently restricted by explicit donor 
stipulations or by law. As discussed in paragraph 3.37, certain gains and losses are required to be 
presented as part of income from operations if that subtotal is presented in the statement of 
activities. 

13.41 Losses need not be reported by their functional classification or in the matrix that presents 
information about expenses according to both their functional and natural classifications. 

Reporting Costs Related to Sales of Goods and Services 
13.42 Per FASB ASC 958-720-45-20, the way that costs related to sales of goods and services are 

displayed depends on whether the sales constitute a major or central activity of the NFP or a 
peripheral or incidental activity. For example, a not-for-profit museum that has a store that is a 
major or central activity should report and display separately the revenues from the store’s sales 
and the related cost of sales. Cost of sales is permitted to be reported immediately after revenues 
from sale of merchandise, and may be followed by a descriptive subtotal, or cost of sales may be 
reported with other expenses. If the store sells merchandise that is related to the museum’s 
program, the store would be a program service and the cost of the store’s sales would be 
reported as a program expense. In other circumstances, cost of sales could be reported as a 
separate supporting service. For example, if operating a cafeteria is a major or central activity but 
is not related to the NFP’s programs, the cafeteria’s cost of sales would be reported as 
supporting services. Similarly, Q&A section 6140.06, “Functional Category of Cost of Sales of 
Contributed Inventory” (AICPA, Technical Questions and Answers), states that cost of sales of 
contributed inventory would be reported as the cost of a separate supporting service, unless the 
item sold is related to a program activity, in which case, cost of sales is reported as a cost of a 
program activity. Cost of sales of contributed inventory would not be reported as fund-raising 
expenses. 

13.43 FASB ASC 958-720-45-22 states that, in contrast, a not-for-profit church that occasionally 
produces and sells a cookbook (considered to be a peripheral or incidental activity) has gains (or 
losses) from those sales, and the receipts and related costs are permitted to be offset and only the 
net gains (or losses) are reported. 

13.44 Losses from the church cookbook (a peripheral or incidental activity) described in the previous 
paragraph are not classified as an expense, so they should not be reported by their functional 
classification. 

Supporting Services 
13.65 NFPs may have various kinds of supporting activities, such as management and general, fund-

raising, and membership development. Some industries have functional categories of supporting 
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activities that are prevalent in that industry. For example, colleges and universities typically have 
institutional support and institutional development activities. A single functional reporting 
classification is ordinarily adequate to portray each kind of supporting service. NFPs may, 
however, present more detailed disaggregated information for each kind of supporting service. 
For example, fund-raising expenses and the corresponding resources that are obtained may be 
reported separately for each kind of fund-raising activity undertaken, either on the face of a 
statement of activities or in the notes to the financial statements. 

Fund-raising Activities 

13.67 Per the FASB ASC glossary, fundraising activities are activities undertaken to induce potential 
donors to contribute money, securities, services, materials, facilities, other assets, or time. 
Paragraphs 9–10 of FASB ASC 958-720-45 provide additional description of fund-raising 
activities. They include publicizing and conducting fund-raising campaigns; maintaining donor 
mailing lists; conducting special fund-raising events; preparing and distributing fund-raising 
manuals, instructions, and other materials; and conducting other activities involved with 
soliciting contributions from individuals, foundations, government agencies, and others. Fund-
raising activities include soliciting contributions of services from individuals, regardless of 
whether those services meet the recognition criteria for contributions in the “Contributions 
Received” subsection of FASB ASC 958-605-25. Q&A section 6140.11, “Costs of Soliciting 
Contributed Services and Time That Do Not Meet the Recognition Criteria in FASB ASC 958” 
(AICPA, Technical Questions and Answers), states that certain contributed services are prohibited 
from being recognized for practical, rather than conceptual, reasons. Those services are 
nevertheless contributions, regardless of whether or not they are recognized. Therefore, soliciting 
those contributions meets the definition of fund-raising in the FASB ASC glossary. For example, 
costs of soliciting contributed services to be used in program functions should be accounted for 
as fund-raising expenses, even if the contributed services do not meet the recognition criteria. 
Similarly, costs of soliciting management and general services should be reported as fund-raising, 
even if the management and general services do not meet the recognition criteria. (Paragraph 
13.124 discusses how fund-raising activities of federated fund-raising organizations should be 
reported.) Per FASB ASC 958-720-50-1, the financial statements should disclose total fund-
raising expenses. 

Direct Identification Versus Allocation Methods23  

13.72 Direct identification of specific expense (also referred to as assigning expenses) is the preferable 
method of charging expenses to various functions. If an expense can be specifically identified 
with a program or supporting service, it should be assigned to that function. For example, travel 
costs incurred in connection with a program activity should be assigned to that program. 

Expenses of Materials and Activities That Combine Fund-raising Activities With Activities That 
Have Elements of Another Function (Joint Activities) 

13.79 FASB ASC 958-720-05-5 states that some NFPs solicit support through a variety of fund-raising 
activities, including the following: direct mail, telephone solicitation, door-to-door canvassing, 
telethons, special events, and others. Sometimes fund-raising activities are conducted with 
activities related to other functions, such as program activities or supporting services and 
management and general activities. Sometimes fund-raising activities include components that 

                                                      

23 This section provides general information about assigning and allocating costs among functional classifications. 
For costs incurred in joint activities, the guidance in this section is subject to the provisions of paragraphs 13.74–
.113. 
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would otherwise be associated with program or supporting services, but in fact support fund-
raising. The “Accounting for Costs of Activities that Include Fundraising” subsections of FASB 
ASC 958-720 establish financial accounting standards for accounting for costs of those joint 
activities and require financial statement disclosures about the nature of the activities for which 
joint costs have been allocated and the amounts of joint costs. The following paragraphs 
summarize those subsections but are not intended as a substitute for reading them. 

13.80 The functional classifications of fund-raising, program, and management and general are 
discussed throughout the “Accounting for Costs of Activities that Include Fundraising” 
subsections of FASB ASC 958-720 for purposes of illustrating how the guidance in these 
paragraphs would be applied by entities that use those functional classifications. Some entities 
have a functional structure that does not include fund-raising, program, or management and 
general, or that includes other functional classifications, such as membership development. Use 
of those functional classifications is not intended to require reporting the functional 
classifications of fund-raising, program, and management and general.  

13.81 For example, some NFPs may conduct membership development activities. As discussed in 
paragraph 13.70, the substance of membership development activities may, in fact, be fund-
raising. To the extent that member benefits are received, however, membership is an exchange 
transaction. In circumstances in which membership development is in part soliciting revenues 
from exchange transactions and in part soliciting contributions and the purpose, audience, and 
content of the activity are appropriate for achieving membership development, joint costs should 
be allocated between fund-raising and the exchange transaction. Accounting for the costs of a 
joint activity is discussed in paragraphs 13.79–.118. 

Accounting for Joint Activities 

13.82 Per FASB ASC 958-720-45-29, if the criteria of purpose, audience, and content are met, the 
costs of a joint activity should be classified as follows: (a) the costs that are identifiable with a 
particular function should be charged to that function and (b) joint costs should be allocated 
between fund-raising and the appropriate program or management and general function. If any 
of the criteria are not met, all costs of the joint activity should be reported as fund-raising costs, 
including costs that might be considered program or management and general costs if they had 
been incurred in a different activity, subject to the exception in the following sentence. Costs of 
goods or services provided in exchange transactions that are part of joint activities, such as costs 
of direct donor benefits of a special event (for example, a meal), should not be reported as fund-
raising. Paragraphs 5.118–.123 and paragraphs 13.45–.49 provide additional guidance for the 
recognition and presentation in financial statements of special events. 

Purpose 

13.85 The purpose criterion is met if the purpose of the joint activity includes accomplishing program 
or management and general functions. Paragraphs 33–47 of FASB ASC 958-720-45 (reproduced 
in part in paragraphs 13.86–.99) provide guidance that should be considered in determining 
whether the purpose criterion is met. Paragraphs 35–39 of FASB ASC 958-720-45 (paragraphs 
13.86–.90) provide guidance pertaining to program functions only. FASB ASC 958-720-45-38 
(paragraph 13.91) provides guidance pertaining to both program and management and general 
functions. 
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13.99 The following are examples of indicators that provide evidence for determining whether the 
purpose criterion is met: 

a. FASB ASC 958-720-55-7 provides the following examples of indicators that provide 
evidence that the purpose criterion may be met: 
i. Measuring program results and accomplishments of the activity. The facts may indicate that 

the purpose criterion is met if the NFP measures program results and 
accomplishments of the activity (other than measuring the extent to which the 
public was educated about causes). 

ii. Medium. The facts may indicate that the purpose criterion is met if the program 
component of the joint activity calls for specific action by the recipient that will help 
accomplish the NFP’s mission and if the NFP conducts the program component 
without a significant fund-raising component in a different medium. Also, the facts 
may indicate that the purpose criterion is met if the NFP conducts the management 
and general component of the joint activity without a significant fund-raising 
component in a different medium. 

b. FASB ASC 958-720-55-8 provides the following examples of indicators that provide 
evidence that the purpose criterion may not be met: 
i. Evaluation. The facts may indicate that the purpose criterion is not met if the 

evaluation of any party’s performance of any component of the discrete joint 
activity varies based on contributions raised for that discrete joint activity. 

ii. Compensation. The facts may indicate that the purpose criterion is not met if some, 
but less than a majority, of compensation or fees for any party’s performance of any 
component of the discrete joint activity varies based on contributions raised for that 
discrete joint activity. 

c. FASB ASC 958-720-55-9 provides the following examples of indicators that provide 
evidence that the purpose criterion may be either met or not met: 
i. Evaluation of measured results of the activity. The NFP may have a process to evaluate 

measured program results and accomplishments of the activity (other than 
measuring the extent to which the public was educated about causes). If the NFP 
has such a process, in evaluating the effectiveness of the joint activity, the NFP may 
place significantly greater weight on the activity’s effectiveness in accomplishing 
program goals or may place significantly greater weight on the activity’s 
effectiveness in raising contributions. The former may indicate that the purpose 
criterion is met. The latter may indicate that the purpose criterion is not met. 

ii. Qualifications. The qualifications and duties of those performing the joint activity 
should be considered. If a third party, such as a consultant or contractor, performs 
part or all of the joint activity, such as producing brochures or making telephone 
calls, the third party’s experience and the range of services provided to the NFP 
should be considered in determining whether the third party is performing fund-
raising, program (other than educating the public about causes), or management and 
general activities on behalf of the NFP. If the NFP’s employees perform part or all 
of the joint activity, the full range of their job duties should be considered in 
determining whether those employees are performing fund-raising, program (other 
than educating the public about causes), or management and general activities on 
behalf of the NFP. For example, employees who are not members of the fund-
raising department and employees who are members of the fund-raising department 
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but who perform nonfund-raising activities are more likely to perform activities that 
include program or management and general functions than are employees who 
otherwise devote significant time to fund-raising. 

iii. Tangible evidence of intent. Tangible evidence indicating the intended purpose of the 
joint activity should be considered. Examples of such tangible evidence include the 
following:  

(1) The NFP’s written mission statement, as stated in its fund-raising activities, 
bylaws, or annual report;  

(2) Minutes of board of directors’, committees’, or other meetings;  
(3) Restrictions imposed by donors (who are not related parties) on gifts intended 

to fund the joint activity;  
(4) Long-range plans or operating policies;  
(5) Written instructions to other entities, such as script writers, consultants, or list 

brokers, concerning the purpose of the joint activity, audience to be targeted, or 
method of conducting the joint activity; and  

(6) Internal management memoranda. 

Allocation Methods 

13.112 The cost allocation methodology used should be rational and systematic, it should result in an 
allocation of joint costs that is reasonable, and it should be applied consistently given similar 
facts and circumstances. Paragraphs 25–31 of FASB ASC 958-720-55 (reproduced in appendix 
C, “Allocation Methods,” of this chapter) provide explanations and examples of some acceptable 
allocation methods. The allocation of joint costs should be based on the degree to which costs 
were incurred for the functions to which the costs are allocated (that is, program, management 
and general, or fund-raising). For purposes of determining whether the allocation methodology 
for a particular joint activity should be consistent with methodologies used for other particular 
joint activities, facts and circumstances that may be considered include factors related to the 
content and relative costs of the components of the activity. The audience should not be 
considered in determining whether the facts and circumstances are similar for purposes of 
determining whether the allocation methodology for a particular joint activity should be 
consistent with methodologies used for other particular joint activities. A change in cost 
allocation methodology should be evaluated in accordance with FASB ASC 250, Accounting 
Changes and Error Corrections, to determine if it is a change in accounting principle.  

13.113 Paragraphs 32–33 of FASB ASC 958-720-55 provide the following information about which 
joint costs should be measured and allocated. Some costs, such as utilities, rent, and insurance 
(commonly referred to as indirect costs), may be joint costs. For example, the telephone bill for a 
department that, among other things, prepares materials that include both fund-raising and 
program components may commonly be referred to as an indirect cost. Such telephone bills may 
also be joint costs. However, for some NFPs, it is impracticable to measure and allocate the 
portion of the costs that are joint costs. Considerations about which joint costs should be 
measured and allocated, such as considerations about materiality and the costs and benefits of 
developing and providing the information, are the same as considerations about cost allocations 
in other circumstances. 
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Disclosures 

13.116 FASB ASC 958-720-50-2 requires that an NFP that allocates joint costs should disclose all of the 
following in the notes to its financial statements: 

a. The types of activities for which joint costs have been incurred 
b. A statement that such costs have been allocated 
c. The total amount allocated during the period and the portion allocated to each 

functional expense category 

13.117 An NFP is also encouraged, but not required, to disclose the amount of joint costs for each kind 
of joint activity, if practical. 

Functional Reporting of Expenses  
13.130 Suggested audit procedures to consider include the following: 

 Review the NFP’s functional expense allocation by performing the following 
procedures:  
o Obtain or update an understanding of the allocation methodology of expenses by 

functional classification. (Classification)  
o If payroll and related costs are a significant part of total expenses, then specifically 

review the NFPs methodology for allocating payroll and related costs to the 
functional classifications. (Classification) 

o Verify the consistent application of the allocation methodology. Verify the NFP has 
updated its allocation methodology in a timely manner for any changes in its cost 
structure (for example, when new construction is completed, new debt is entered 
into, or a significant new program is started or discontinued). (Classification) 

o Review and test management’s policies and procedures for allocating costs to the 
various functional categories that they support. Select a sample for testing to 
determine if the expenses have been properly allocated. (Classification) 

o Perform an analytical review of functional classifications by comparing current 
period expenses in total and by functional classification with expectations (which 
could be based on prior-period expenses, budget, or other factors), and investigate 
significant variances from expectations. (Classification, Occurrence, Completeness) 

 Verify that the NFP’s presentation of program services in the statement of activities or 
notes to the financial statements is appropriate, consistent, and includes the appropriate 
costs. (Classification) 

 Verify that the number of programs reported for program expenses is adequate based 
on the complexity of the NFP and its activities. (Classification) 

 Verify that the NFP’s presentation of supporting services in the statement of activities 
or notes to the financial statements is appropriate, consistent, and includes the 
appropriate categories, such as fund-raising and management and general. 
(Classification)  

 Review the NFP’s allocation of any joint costs by performing the following procedures: 
o The allocation of joint costs may involve a high degree of management judgment 

and subjectivity. Therefore, a risk may exist that management will manipulate the 
joint activity to meet the purpose, audience, or content criteria to increase the 
amount of expense allocated to the program classification and reduce the amount of 
expense allocated to the fund-raising classification to make the NFP look more 
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efficient in the eyes of donors, regulators, or charity watchdog agencies. 
(Classification) 

o Select a sample of solicitations for testing. (Classification) 
o Inquire with management regarding the procedures management performs to verify 

the purpose, audience, and content criteria are met for each joint cost activity. 
(Classification) 

o Obtain evidence to support management’s assertion that the purpose, audience, and 
content criteria are met. (Classification) 

o Determine whether costs are appropriately allocated between fund-raising and the 
appropriate program or management and general function. Determine that the 
allocation has been performed consistently and in a rational and systematic manner. 
(Classification) 

o Review the notes to financial statements to determine that the required disclosures 
for joint costs are included. (Completeness) 

 Verify that any payments to related local or national NFPs are reported in the 
appropriate functional classification. (Classification) 

 If the auditee is a federated fund-raising entity, verify that the costs of fund-raising 
activities, including fund-raising on behalf of others, are properly reported as fund-
raising expenses. (Classification) 
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APPENDIX A — ACCOUNTING FOR JOINT ACTIVITIES  

13.131 

 A-1 The following flowchart from FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-720-55-2 
summarizes the guidance in paragraphs 29–53 of FASB ASC 958-720-45 (see paragraphs 13.79–
118) and is not intended as a substitute for the guidance therein. 
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REPORTING ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

14.12 FASB ASC 958-720-45-4 states that information about an NFP’s major programs (or segments) 
can be enhanced by reporting the interrelationships of program expenses and program revenues. 
Related nonmonetary information about program inputs, outputs, and results also is helpful. 
Generally, reporting that kind of information is feasible only in supplementary (other) 
information or management explanations or by other methods of financial reporting. 

14.13 Although nonmonetary information about an NFP’s activities and programs may be informative 
and helpful to users of the financial statements, this information is not necessary for fair 
presentation of financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows on which the auditor is 
reporting. In addition, this information may not be auditable if it is obtained from records 
outside the accounting system that are not subject to controls, rather than being obtained (or 
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derived by analysis or computation) from records subject to controls. AU-C section 720, Other 
Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
provides guidance to the auditor with regard to other information that may be included in 
audited financial statements. Paragraph .A2 of AU-C section 720 states that the auditor is not 
required to reference the other information in the auditor’s report on the financial statements. 
However, the auditor may include an other-matter paragraph disclaiming an opinion on the 
other information. For example, an auditor may choose to include a disclaimer on the other 
information when the auditor believes that the auditor could be associated with the information 
and the user may infer a level of assurance that is not intended. An example follows: 

Other Matter 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the [basic] financial 
statements as a whole. The [identify the other information] is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on it. 

Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
15.52 When a donor directs a charity to “spend only the income” from a gift or to “hold this gift as an 

endowment,” the donor has created a donor-restricted endowment. But the donor’s instructions 
for the administration of the endowment are usually incomplete (and this is done purposely to 
allow for flexibility in a fund of permanent duration). When a donor and a charity have not 
reached a specific agreement for management of an endowment, then the state law will apply. 

FUND ACCOUNTING AND EXTERNAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 

16.02 Fund accounting is a system of recording resources whose use may be limited by donors, granting 
agencies, governing boards, other individuals or entities, or by law. To keep records of these 
limitations for internal purposes, NFPs that use fund accounting maintain separate funds for 
specific purposes. Each fund consists of a self-balancing set of asset, liability, and fund balance 
accounts. Prior to 1996, most NFPs prepared fund accounting-based external financial 
statements by combining funds with similar characteristics into fund groups. 

16.03 For external financial reporting purposes, the total of all assets and liabilities included in all funds 
and changes in net assets should be measured and reported on an NFP’s financial statements in 
conformity with FASB ASC 958, Not-for-Profit Entities. Fund balances should be classified on a 
statement of financial position as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted 
net assets based on the existence and type of donor-imposed restrictions.24 Because of 
differences in the types of limitations a fund accounting system tracks, for external financial 
reporting purposes, a fund balance may have to be divided among more than one net asset class. 

                                                      

24 Accounting for contributions received with donor-imposed restrictions is discussed in chapter 5, “Contributions 
Received and Agency Transactions,” of this guide. 
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16.04 FASB ASC 958-210-45-2 states that the requirement to display total assets and liabilities results 
in certain practical limits on how interfund items are displayed in a financial statement. For 
example, because receivables and payables between fund groups are not assets or liabilities of the 
reporting entity, a statement of financial position should clearly label and arrange those interfund 
items to eliminate their amounts when displaying total assets or liabilities.  

SUMMARY 

16.25 The following exhibit summarizes the net asset classes into which various kinds of fund balances 
will typically be classified. 

Typical Classification of Fund Balances 

 Net Asset Class 

Fund Type 
Permanently 
Restricted 

Temporarily 
Restricted Unrestricted 

Unrestricted Current 
(or Unrestricted 
Operating or 
General) 

Not applicable Fund balances with 
donor-imposed 
restrictions that 
expire with the 
passage of time (not 
usually present in 
unrestricted current 
funds).

Unrestricted fund 
balances, including 
those designated by 
governing bodies for 
specific purposes. 

Restricted Current 
(or Restricted 
Operating or 
Specific Purpose) 

Not applicable Fund balances with 
donor-imposed 
restrictions that 
expire with the 
passage of time or 
that can be fulfilled 
or removed by 
actions of the not-
for-profit entity 
(NFP).

Fund balances that are 
limited as to use by 
legal or contractual 
restrictions, rather than 
donor-imposed 
restrictions, including 
those designated by 
governing bodies for 
specific purposes.1 

Plant (or Land, 
Building, and 
Equipment) 

Fund balances with 
donor-imposed 
restrictions that do not 
expire with the 
passage of time or 
cannot be fulfilled or 
removed by actions of 
the NFP.2 

Fund balances with 
donor-imposed 
restrictions that 
expire with the 
passage of time or 
that can be fulfilled 
or removed by 
actions of the NFP.3 

Fund balances that are 
limited as to use by 
legal or contractual 
restrictions, rather than 
donor-imposed 
restrictions, including 
those designated by 
governing bodies for 
specific purposes.4

 

 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited B-67 

 Net Asset Class 

Fund Type 
Permanently 
Restricted 

Temporarily 
Restricted Unrestricted 

Endowment Permanent 
endowment.5 

Temporary (or term) 
endowment6 
or quasi endowment 
created from 
temporarily restricted 
resources for which 
the restrictions are 
not yet met.

Quasi endowment 
created from 
unrestricted resources. 

Annuity and Life-
Income (Split 
Interests) 

Donor-restricted in 
perpetuity. 

Amounts available 
for unrestricted or 
time-or-purpose 
restricted use when 
agreement 
terminates. 

Fund balances for which 
the donor gives the NFP 
the immediate right to 
use the assets it receives 
without restriction, 
including those 
designated by 
governing bodies for 
specific purposes.  

Agency (or 
Custodian) 

Not applicable. Not applicable. Not applicable. 

1 Any portion of the fund balances representing unearned revenue from exchange transactions should be 
classified as a liability. 
2 This would include contributed assets such as land and capitalized collection items that must be held in 
perpetuity and other contributed assets when donors have stipulated that the proceeds from their ultimate 
sale or disposal must be reinvested in perpetuity. 
3 Amounts representing assets contributed without donor-imposed restrictions about how long the land, 
building, or equipment must be used should be classified as unrestricted or temporarily restricted net assets, 
depending on the accounting policy adopted by the NFP, as discussed in paragraphs 16.13–.15. 
4 Amounts representing assets contributed without donor-imposed restrictions about how long the land, 
building, or equipment must be used should be classified as unrestricted or temporarily restricted net assets, 
depending on the accounting policy adopted by the NFP, as discussed in paragraphs 16.13–.15. 
5 Includes gains and losses on permanent endowment when donor restrictions or law permanently 
preclude their use. 
6 Includes gains on permanent endowment if donor restrictions or law specify their use, if the gains have 
not been appropriated for expenditure, or both. 
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EXEMPT ORGANIZATIONS GLOSSARY 

GOVERNMENTAL TERMINOLOGY 

Accounting System – The methods and records established to identify, assemble, analyze, classify, 
record, and report a government’s transactions and to maintain accountability for the related assets and 
liabilities. 

Accrual Basis of Accounting – The recording of financial effects on a government of transactions and 
other events and circumstances that have consequences for the government in the periods in which those 
transactions, events, and circumstances occur, rather than only in the periods in which cash is received or 
paid by the government. 

Ad Valorem Tax – A tax based on value (such as a property tax). 

Advance From Other Funds – An asset account used to record noncurrent portions of a long-term 
debt owed by one fund to another fund within the same reporting entity. (See Due to Other Funds and 

Interfund Receivable/Payable). 

Agency Funds – A fund normally used to account for assets held by a government as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations or other governments and/or other funds. 

Appropriation – A legal authorization granted by a legislative body to make expenditures and to incur 
obligations for specific purposes. An appropriation is usually limited in amount and time it may be 
expended. 

Assigned Fund Balance – A portion of fund balance that includes amounts that are constrained by the 
government’s intent to be used for specific purposes, but that are neither restricted nor committed. 

Basis of Accounting – A term used to refer to when revenues, expenditures, expenses, and transfers, and 
related assets and liabilities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. 
Specifically, it relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the nature of the 
measurement. (See Accrual Basis of Accounting, Cash Basis of Accounting, and Modified Accrual 

Basis of Accounting). 

Bond – A written promise to pay a specified sum of money (the face value or principal amount) at a 
specified date or dates in the future (the maturity dates[s]), together with periodic interest at a specified 
rate. Sometimes, however, all or a substantial part of the interest is included in the face value of the 
security. The difference between a note and bond is that the latter is issued for a longer period and 
requires greater legal formality. 

Business Type Activities – Those activities of a government carried out primarily to provide specific 
services in exchange for a specific user charge. 
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Capital Grants – Grants restricted by the grantor for the acquisition and/or construction of (a) capital 
asset(s). 

Capital Projects Fund – A fund used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of 
capital facilities and other capital assets. Capital project funds exclude those types of capital-related 
outflows financed by proprietary funds or for assets that will be held in trust for individuals, private 
organizations, or other governments. 

Cash Basis of Accounting – A basis of accounting that requires the recognition of transactions only 
when cash is received or disbursed. 

Committed Fund Balance – A portion of fund balance that includes amounts that can only be used for 
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of 
decision-making authority. 

Consumption Method – The method of accounting that requires the recognition of an 
expenditure/expense as inventories are used. 

Contributed Capital – Contributed capital is created when a general capital asset is transferred to a 
proprietary fund or when a grant is received that is externally restricted to capital acquisition or 
construction. Contributions restricted to capital acquisition and construction and capital assets received 
from developers are reported in the operating statement as a separate item after nonoperating revenues 
and expenses. 

Debt Service Fund – A fund used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest. Debt service funds should be used to 
report resources if legally mandated. Financial resources that are being accumulated for principal and 
interest maturing in future years should also be reported as debt service funds. 

Deferred Revenue – Amounts for which asset recognition criteria (receivable) have been met, but for 
which revenue recognition criteria have not been met. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
amounts that are measurable but not available are classified as deferred revenue. Cash received in advance 
of the period of applicability is also recorded as deferred revenue. 

Deficit – (a) The excess of the liabilities of a fund over its assets. (b) The excess of expenditures over 
revenues during an accounting period, or in the case of proprietary funds, the excess of expenses over 
revenues during an accounting period. 

Disbursement – A payment made in cash or by check. Expenses are only recognized at the time 
physical cash is disbursed. 

Due From Other Funds – A current asset account used to indicate account reflecting amounts owed to 
a particular fund by another fund for goods sold or services rendered. This account includes only short-
term obligations on open account, not interfund loans. 

Due to Other Funds – A current liability account reflecting amounts owed by a particular fund to 
another fund for goods sold or services rendered. This account includes only short-term obligations on 
an open account, not interfund loans. 

Fund Financial Statements – Each fund has its own set of self-balancing accounts and fund financial 
statements that focus on information about the government’s governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary 
fund types. 
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Enabling Legislation – Legislation that authorizes a government to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise 
mandate payment of resources from external resource providers, and includes a legally enforceable 
requirement that those resources be used for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. 

Encumbrances – Commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services. 
Used in budgeting, encumbrances are not GAAP expenditures or liabilities, but represent the estimated 
amount of expenditures ultimately to result if unperformed contracts in process are completed. 

Enterprise Fund – A fund established to account for operations financed and operated in a manner 
similar to private business enterprises (such as gas, utilities, transit systems, and parking garages). Usually, 
the governing body intends that costs of providing goods or services to the general public be recovered 
primarily through user charges. 

Expenditures – Decreases in net financial resources. Expenditures include current operating expenses 
requiring the present or future use of net current assets, debt service and capital outlays, 
intergovernmental grants, entitlements, and shared revenues. 

Expenses – Outflows or other using up of assets or incurrences of liabilities, or a combination of both, 
from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities that constitute the 
entity’s ongoing major or central operations. 

Fund – A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts in which cash and other 
financial resources, all related liabilities and residual equities, or balances, and changes therein, are 
recorded and segregated to carry on specific activities or attain certain objectives in accordance with 
special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 

Fund Balance – The difference between fund assets and fund liabilities of the generic fund types within 
the governmental category of funds. 

Fund Type – The 11 generic funds that all transactions of a government are recorded into. The 11 fund 
types are as follows: general, special revenue, debt service, capital projects, permanent, enterprise, internal 
service, private purpose trust, pension trust, investment trust, and agency. 

GASB – The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) was organized in 1984 by the 
Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) to establish standards of financial accounting and reporting for 
state and local governmental entities. Its standards guide the preparation of external financial reports of 
those entities. 

General Fund – The fund within the governmental category used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another governmental fund. 

General-Purpose Governments – General-purpose governments are governmental entities that provide 
a range of services, such as states, cities, counties, towns, and villages. 

Governmental Funds – Funds used to account for the acquisition, use, and balances of spendable 
financial resources and the related current liabilities, except those accounted for in proprietary funds and 
fiduciary funds. Essentially, these funds are accounting segregations of financial resources. Spendable 
assets are assigned to a particular government fund type according to the purposes for which they may or 
must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund type from which they are to be paid. The 
difference between the assets and liabilities of governmental fund types is referred to as fund balance. 
The measurement focus in these funds types is on the determination of financial position and changes in 
financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) rather than on net income 
determination. 
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Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are highly 
aggregated financial statements that present financial information for all assets (including infrastructure 
capital assets), liabilities, and net assets of a primary government and its component units, except for 
fiduciary funds. The government-wide financial statements use the economic resources measurement 
focus and accrual basis of accounting. 

Infrastructure Assets – Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in 
nature and normally can be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. 
Examples of infrastructure assets are roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer systems, 
dams, and lighting systems. Buildings, except those that are an ancillary part of a network of 
infrastructure assets, are not considered infrastructure assets. 

Internal Service Fund – A generic fund type within the proprietary category used to account for the 
financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of 
a government, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

Investment Trust Fund – A generic fund type within the fiduciary category used by a government in a 
fiduciary capacity, such as to maintain its cash and investment pool for other governments. 

Major Funds – A government’s general fund (or its equivalent), other individual governmental type, and 
enterprise funds that meet specific quantitative criteria, and any other governmental or enterprise fund 
that a government’s officials believe is particularly important to financial statement users. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) – MD&A is RSI that introduces the basic financial 
statements by presenting certain financial information as well as management’s analytical insights on that 
information. 

Measurement Focus – The accounting convention that determines (a) which assets and which liabilities 
are included on a government’s balance sheet and where they are reported, and (b) whether an operating 
statement presents information on the flow of financial resources (revenues and expenditures) or 
information on the flow of economic resources (revenues and expenses). 

Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting – The basis of accounting adapted to the governmental fund 
type measurement focus. Revenues and other financial resource increments are recognized when they 
become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Available means collectible in 
the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. 
Expenditures are recognized when the fund liability is incurred and expected to be paid from current 
resources except for (a) inventories of materials and supplies that may be considered expenditures either 
when purchased or when used, and (b) prepaid insurance and similar items that may be considered 
expenditures either when paid for or when consumed. All governmental funds are accounted for using 
the modified accrual basis of accounting in fund financial statements. 

Modified Approach – Rules that allow infrastructure assets that are part of a network or subsystem of a 
network not to be depreciated as long as certain requirements are met. 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – The portion of fund valance that includes amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form, or (b) legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. 

Pension Trust Fund – A trust fund used to account for a PERS. Pension trust funds use the accrual 
basis of accounting and the flow of economic resources measurement focus. 
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Permanent Fund – A generic fund type under the governmental category used to report resources that 
are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that 
support the reporting government’s programs and, therefore, are for the benefit of the government or its 
citizenry. (Permanent funds do not include private-purpose trust funds, which should be used when the 
government is required to use the principal or earnings for the benefit of individuals, private 
organizations, or other governments). 

Private Purpose Trust Fund – A general fund type under the fiduciary category used to report 
resources held and administered by the reporting government acting in a fiduciary capacity for 
individuals, other governments, or private organizations. 

Proprietary Funds – The government category used to account for a government’s ongoing 
organizations and activities that are similar to those often found in the private sector (these are enterprise 
and internal service funds). All assets, liabilities, equities, revenues, expenses, and transfers relating to the 
government’s business and quasi-business activities are accounted for through proprietary funds. 
Proprietary funds should apply all applicable GASB pronouncements and those GAAP applicable to 
similar businesses in the private sector, unless those conflict with GASB pronouncements. These funds 
use the accrual basis of accounting in conjunction with the flow of economic resources measurement 
focus. 

Purchases Method – The method under which inventories are recorded as expenditures when acquired. 

Restricted Fund Balance – Portion of fund valance that reflects constraints placed on the use of 
resources (other than nonspendable items) that are either (a) externally imposed by creditor such as 
through debt covenants, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Required Supplementary Information (RSI) – GAAP specify that certain information be presented as 
RSI. 

Special-Purpose Governments – Special-purpose governments are legally separate entities that perform 
only one activity or only a few activities, such as cemetery districts, school districts, colleges and 
universities, utilities, hospitals and other health care organizations, and public employee retirement 
systems. 

Special Revenue Fund – A fund that must have revenue or proceeds from specific revenue sources 
which are either restricted or committed for a specific purpose other than debt service or capital projects. 
This definition means that in order to be considered a special revenue fund, there must be one or more 
revenue sources upon which reporting the activity in a separate fund is predicated. 

Transfers – All interfund transfers, such as legally authorized transfers from a fund receiving revenue to 
a fund through which the resources are to be expended, where there is no intent to repay. Interfund 
transfers are recorded on the operating statement. 

Unassigned Fund Balance – Residual classification for the general fund. This classification represents 
fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or 
assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. The general fund should be the only fund that 
reports a positive unassigned fund valance amount. In other funds, if expenditures incurred for specific 
purposes exceeded the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, 

Unrestricted Fund Balance – The total of committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and 
unassigned fund balance. 
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NOT-FOR-PROFIT TERMINOLOGY 

Charitable Lead Trust – A trust established in connection with a split-interest agreement, in which the 
not-for-profit organization receives distributions during the agreement’s term. Upon termination of the 
trust, the remainder of the trust assets is paid to the donor or to third-party beneficiaries designated by 
the donor. 

Charitable Remainder Trust – A trust established in connection with a split-interest agreement, in 
which the donor or a third-party beneficiary receives specified distributions during the agreement’s term. 
Upon termination of the trust, a not-for-profit organization receives the assets remaining in the trust. 

Collections – Works of art, historical treasures, or similar assets that are (a) held for public exhibition, 
education, or research in furtherance of public service rather than financial gain, (b) protected, kept 
unencumbered, cared for, and preserved, and (c) subject to an organizational policy that requires the 
proceeds of items that are sold to be used to acquire other items for collections. 

Conditional Promise to Give – A promise to give that depends on the occurrence of a specified future 
and uncertain event to bind the promisor. 

Contribution – An unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a settlement or 
cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonreciprocal transfer by another entity acting other than as an 
owner. 

Costs of Joint Activities – Costs of joint activities are costs incurred for a joint activity. Costs of joint 
activities may include joint costs and costs other than joint costs. Costs other than joint costs are costs 
that are identifiable with a particular function, such as program, fundraising, management and general, 
and membership development costs. 

Donor-Imposed Restriction – A donor stipulation that specifies a use for the contributed asset that is 
more specific than broad limits resulting from the nature of the organization, the environment in which it 
operates, and the purposes specified in its articles of incorporation or bylaws, or comparable documents 
for an unincorporated association. A restriction on an organization’s use of the asset contributed may be 
temporary or permanent. 

Functional Classification – A method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which the 
costs are incurred. The primary functional classifications are program services and supporting activities. 

Joint Activity – A joint activity is an activity that is part of the fundraising function and has elements of 
one or more other functions, such as programs, management and general, membership development, or 
any other functional category used by the entity. 

Joint Costs – Joint costs are the costs of conducting joint activities that are not identifiable with a 
particular component of the activity. 

Natural Expense Classification – A method of grouping expenses according to the kinds of economic 
benefits received in incurring those expenses. Examples of natural expense classifications include salaries 
and wages, employee benefits, supplies, rent, and utilities. 

Permanently Restricted Net Assets – The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit organization 
resulting (a) from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the organization is limited by 
donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be fulfilled or otherwise 
removed by actions of the organization, (b) from other asset enhancements and diminishments subject to 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited Exempt Organizations Glossary 7 

the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) from reclassifications from (or to) other classes of net assets as a 
consequence of donor-imposed stipulations. 

Promise to Give – A written or oral agreement to contribute cash or other assets to another entity. A 
promise to give may be either conditional or unconditional. 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets – The part of the net assets of a not-for-profit organization 
resulting (a) from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the organization is limited by 
donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by the passage of time or can be fulfilled and removed by 
actions of the organization pursuant to those stipulations, (b) from other asset enhancements and 
diminishments subject to the same kinds of stipulations, and (c) from reclassifications to (or from) other 
classes of net assets as a consequence of donor-imposed stipulations, their expiration by passage of time, 
or their fulfillment and removal by actions of the organization pursuant to those stipulations. 

Unrestricted Net Assets – The part of net assets of a not-for-profit organization that is neither 
permanently restricted nor temporarily restricted by donor-imposed stipulations. 

SINGLE AUDIT &YELLOW BOOK TERMINOLOGY 

Attestation Engagements – Attestation engagements concern examining, reviewing, or performing 
agreed-upon procedures on a subject matter or an assertion about a subject matter and reporting on the 
results. 

Compliance Supplement – A document issued annually in the Spring by the OMB to provide guidance 
to auditors. 

Data Collection Form – A form submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse which provides 
information about the auditor, the auditee and its federal programs, and the results of the audit. 

Federal Financial Assistance – Assistance that non-federal entities receive or administer in the form of 
grants, loans, loan guarantees, property, cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food 
commodities, direct appropriations, or other assistance, but does not include amounts received as 
reimbursement for services rendered to individuals in accordance with guidance issued by the Director. 

Financial Audits – Financial audits are primarily concerned with providing reasonable assurance about 
whether financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. 

GAGAS – Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards issued by the GAO. They are also 
commonly known as the Yellow Book. 

GAO – The United States Government Accountability Office. Among their responsibilities is the 
issuance of Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (a.k.a. the Yellow Book). 

OMB – The Office of Management and Budget. OMB assists the President in the development and 
implementation of budget, program, management, and regulatory policies. 

Pass-Through Entity – A non-federal entity that provides federal awards to a subrecipient to carry out 
a federal program. 
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Performance Audits – Performance audits entail an objective and systematic examination of evidence to 
provide an independent assessment of the performance and management of a program against objective 
criteria as well as assessments that provide a prospective focus or that synthesize information on best 
practices or cross-cutting issues. 

Program-Specific Audit – An audit of one federal program. 

Single Audit – An audit of a non-federal entity that includes the entity’s financial statements and Federal 
awards. 

Single Audit Guide – This AICPA Audit Guide formally titled Government Auditing Standards and 
Circular A-133 Audits (the Single Audit Guide) is the former Statement of Position (SOP) 98-3. The 
Single Audit Guide provides guidance on the auditor’s responsibilities when conducting a single audit or 
program-specific audit in accordance with the Single Audit Act and Circular A-133. 

Subrecipient – A non-federal entity that receives federal awards through another non-federal entity to 
carry out a federal program, but does not include an individual who receives financial assistance through 
such awards. 
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The AICPA offers a free, daily, e-mailed newsletter covering the day’s top business and 
financial articles as well as video content, research and analysis concerning CPAs and 
those who work with the accounting profession. Visit the CPA Letter Daily news box on the 
www.aicpa.org home page to sign up. You can opt out at any time, and only the AICPA can 
use your e-mail address or personal information. 
 
Have a technical accounting or auditing question? So did 23,000 other professionals who 
contacted the AICPA's accounting and auditing Technical Hotline last year. The objectives 
of the hotline are to enhance members' knowledge and application of professional 
judgment by providing free, prompt, high-quality technical assistance by phone concerning 
issues related to: accounting principles and financial reporting; auditing, attestation, 
compilation and review standards. The team extends this technical assistance to 
representatives of governmental units. The hotline can be reached at 1-877-242-7212. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK SOLUTIONS 

CASE STUDY 1 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. FASB ASC 958 establishes standards for general-purpose external financial statements 

prepared by not-for-profit organizations. 
b. Incorrect. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should include a 

statement of activities. 
c. Correct. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should include a 

statement of financial position. 
d. Incorrect. FASB ASC 958 does not establish standards for special-purpose internal financial 

statements. 

  2.
a. Incorrect. The requirements of FASB ASC 958 are generally no more stringent than the 

requirements of for-profit organizations. 
b. Incorrect. FASB ASC 958 does not specify that a complete set of financial statements should 

include a statement of functional activities; no such statement exists. 
c. Incorrect. FASB ASC 958 specifies that a complete set of financial statements should include a 

statement of cash flows. 
d. Correct. A set of financial statements of a not-for-profit organization should include information 

required by GAAP. 

  3.
a. Incorrect. The three net asset classes should be reported on the statement of financial position. 
b. Correct. A statement of financial position should report amounts for each of three classes of net 

assets. 
c. Incorrect. A statement of financial position should report amounts for permanently restricted net 

assets. 
d. Incorrect. The three net asset classes should be based solely on the existence or absence of 

donor-imposed restrictions. 
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CASE STUDY 2 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. Other investments do not include investments in publicly-traded securities. 
b. Correct. Other investments include investments in real estate. 
c. Incorrect. Other investments include, among others, investments in mortgage notes. 
d. Incorrect. Other investments include, among others, investments in venture capital funds. 

  2.
a. Incorrect. Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair value and all debt 

securities should be reported at their fair value. 
b. Incorrect. Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair value and all debt 

securities should be reported at their fair value, not cost basis. 
c. Incorrect. Other investments include, among others, investments in oil and gas interests. 
d. Correct. Investments in derivative instruments should be reported as either assets or liabilities 

and measured at fair value. 

  3.
a. Incorrect. Donors can revise wills; therefore, they are not considered unconditional promises to 

give. 
b. Incorrect. Intentions to give are not recorded.  
c. Correct. Because donors can revise wills, they are considered a conditional promise to give and 

are, therefore, not recorded. 
d. Incorrect. Donors can revise wills; therefore, they are not considered unconditional promises to 

give. 

CASE STUDY 3 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions of cash from individuals. 
b. Incorrect. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions of other assets from 

individuals. 
c. Incorrect. Amounts received in exchange for services performed pursuant to a contract are not 

considered contributions. 
d. Correct. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions of cash, other assets, and 

services from for-profit organizations. 
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  2.
a. Incorrect. A contribution is an unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a 

settlement or cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonreciprocal transfer by another entity 
acting other than as an owner. 

b. Incorrect. Some not-for-profit organizations receive contributions of other assets from 
governments. 

c. Correct. FASB ASC 958 defines a contribution. 
d. Incorrect. A contribution may be recorded when it is subject to a donor-imposed restriction that 

is permanent in nature. 

  3.
a. Correct. Some restrictions are temporary in nature, limiting the organization's use of contributed 

assets to (1) later periods or after specific dates (time restrictions), (2) specific purposes (purpose 
restrictions), or (3) both. 

b. Incorrect. Restrictions may be stipulated explicitly by the donor in a written or oral 
communication accompanying the contribution. 

c. Incorrect. Restrictions are stipulated by donors, not the board of directors. Board designated 
funds are treated as unrestricted. 

d. Incorrect. Restrictions may result implicitly from the circumstances surrounding receipt of the 
contributed asset, such as making a gift to a capital campaign whose stated objective is to raise 
funds for a new building 

CASE STUDY 4 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. The organization should not debit an asset and credit a liability. 
b. Incorrect. The organization should not debit a liability and credit an asset. 
c. Correct. To record contributed services, debit expense and credit contribution revenue.  
d. Incorrect. The organization should not credit sales for contributions. 

  2.
a. Incorrect. The organization should not debit an asset and credit a liability. 
b. Incorrect. The organization should not debit expense and credit contribution revenue; these 

contributed services do not meet the criteria for recognition.  
c. Incorrect. The organization should not debit contribution revenue and credit expense. 
d. Correct. These contributed services do not meet criteria for recognition. 

  3.
a. Incorrect. Contributions not meeting recognition criteria can be reported without being 

recognized in the financial statements. 
b. Incorrect. The management letter is intended for management use only and is not distributed to 

other parties. 
c. Incorrect. Management cannot make an election to record all contributed services. 
d. Correct. Can be described in notes and other communications. 
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CASE STUDY 5 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. Board-designated endowments cannot be reported in a separate net asset 

classification. 
b. Correct. If reported, are under the unrestricted caption. 
c. Incorrect. Board-designated endowments are considered unrestricted. 
d. Incorrect. Board-designated endowments can be disclosed in the financials. 

  2.
a. Correct. Can be reported net if peripheral or incidental. 
b. Incorrect. Cannot be reported net if they are ongoing major or central. 
c. Incorrect. Can be reported net, not gross, if peripheral or incidental. 
d. Incorrect. All revenues and expenses need to be reported somewhere. 

  3.
a. Correct. An NFP has cash flows from operating, investing, and financing. 
b. Incorrect. Also has cash flows from investing activities. 
c. Incorrect. Also has cash flows from operating activities. 
d. Incorrect. Fundraising is not one of the classifications on the cash flow statement. 

CASE STUDY 6 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. Would be recorded, because he probably is an expert. 
b. Correct. Number of hours worked times the normal rate is reasonable. 
c. Incorrect. A reasonable estimate is possible. See answer. 
d. Incorrect. It can be determined. 

  2.
a. Incorrect. Do not have to be experts if they enhance a nonfinancial asset. 
b. Incorrect. Can be determined by reference to fair value of services received. 
c. Correct. Appraisal is one way to estimate value added to nonfinancial assets. 
d. Incorrect. It can be determined. 

  3.
a. Correct. When an unconditional promise is made it should be recorded. 
b. Incorrect. Recognized at the time of the promise, not when cash received. 
c. Incorrect. Record in appropriate net asset class (remember three classes). 
d. Incorrect. Conditional promises are not recognized. 
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CASE STUDY 7 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Incorrect. The principal cannot be used to support expenses of a not-for-profit. 
b. Correct. Eroding principal for use in operations could lead to problems during an audit. 
c. Incorrect. Earnings on investments of endowments can be used for operations if there are no 

donor stipulations. 
d. Incorrect. The principal is not normally reported within unrestricted net assets. 

  2.
a. Correct. Functional reporting is required in notes or statements. 
b. Incorrect. Not required but encouraged. 
c. Incorrect. Not the same as a for-profit business. 
d. Incorrect. Not required, except for voluntary health and welfare NFPs. 

  3.
a. Correct. The statement of activities report increase (decrease) in net assets. 
b. Incorrect. Net income (loss) is the bottom line in a for-profit organization. 
c. Incorrect. The terms surplus and deficit are not used. 
d. Incorrect. The focus for a NFP is on reporting by net asset class, not fund accounting. 

CASE STUDY 8 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Correct. It is a contribution if the amount received by a not-for-profit is determined by the 

resource provider and its purpose is to support its programs. 
b. Incorrect. It is a contribution if the resource provider asserts its purpose is to support the not-

for-profit programs. 
c. Incorrect. It is a contribution if the amount is determined by the resource provider. 
d. Incorrect. Amounts received are not liabilities, but assets. 

  2.
a. Correct. It is usually an exchange transaction if, in a grant, the grantee is required to prepare a 

report to the resource provider (grantor). 
b. Incorrect. It is usually a contribution transaction if assets are to be delivered to individuals or 

organizations other than the resource provider. 
c. Incorrect. Transactions are either exchange transactions or contributions, or part-exchange 

transaction part-contribution. There is no such thing as an exchange contribution. 
d. Incorrect. NFPs also record exchange transactions. 
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  3.
a. Incorrect. Indicates an exchange transaction.  
b. Incorrect. Indicates an exchange transaction. 
c. Incorrect. Indicates an exchange transaction. 
d. Correct. Intent to solicit assets as contribution. 

CASE STUDY 9 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

  1.
a. Correct. A contribution if the dues provide substantial benefits to the general public. 
b. Incorrect. An exchange if the dues provide economic benefits to members only. 
c. Incorrect. Membership dues are not always only a contribution. 
d. Incorrect. Membership dues are not always only an exchange transaction. 

  2.
a. Correct. Contribution if it is not refundable to the resource provider. 
b. Incorrect. An exchange if the payment is fully or partially refundable if the resource provider 

withdraws from membership. 
c. Incorrect. An exchange if the payment is entirely refundable if the resource provider withdraws 

from membership. 
d. Incorrect. They usually are considered an exchange transaction. 

  3.
a. Correct. Membership is restricted and offers substantive member benefits, so it is an exchange 

transaction. 
b. Incorrect. To be considered a contribution, the resource provider receives no benefits in 

exchange for resources. 
c. Incorrect. There is no such thing as an exchange contribution.  
d. Incorrect. It is an exchange transaction because no assets are to be delivered to anyone other 

than the resource provider (member). 
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The AICPA offers a free, daily, e-mailed newsletter covering the day’s top business and 
financial articles as well as video content, research and analysis concerning CPAs and 
those who work with the accounting profession. Visit the CPA Letter Daily news box on the 
www.aicpa.org home page to sign up. You can opt out at any time, and only the AICPA can 
use your e-mail address or personal information. 
 
Have a technical accounting or auditing question? So did 23,000 other professionals who 
contacted the AICPA's accounting and auditing Technical Hotline last year. The objectives 
of the hotline are to enhance members' knowledge and application of professional 
judgment by providing free, prompt, high-quality technical assistance by phone concerning 
issues related to: accounting principles and financial reporting; auditing, attestation, 
compilation and review standards. The team extends this technical assistance to 
representatives of governmental units. The hotline can be reached at 1-877-242-7212. 
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CASE STUDY SOLUTIONS 

CASE STUDY 1 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

Jane: A lot of accounting for not-for-profit entities is more like business accounting than you might 
think. For instance, the annual reports must include three statements: a Statement of Financial 
Position, a Statement of Activities (which, in many ways, corresponds to the for-profit Income 
Statement), and a Statement of Cash Flows. Similar to for-profit financial statements, the 
financial statement of a not-for-profit entity focuses on the organization as a whole. 

One of the unique features of not-for-profit entities is contributions. Contributions may take the 
form of outright gifts of cash or other assets donated to the entity, or pledges of support to be 
provided to the entity in the future. Contributions may be restricted as to use (determined and 
imposed by the donor). It is vital for not-for-profit organizations to be able to track the various 
types of contributions, such as restricted or unrestricted, it receives. 

Not-for-profits also often receive valuable contributed services. There are specific rules about 
the accounting for these services —measuring their value, describing the services, and including 
their value in the body of the financial statements. 

Not-for-profit entities do not have owners in the typical sense or stockholders’ equity. Owners 
of a business entity are rewarded monetarily for their ownership interests. Not-for-profit entities 
are generally prohibited from making distributions to those individuals who control or 
substantially support the entities financially. Regulations against private inurement and private 
benefit prevent resources from unjustly benefiting individuals. Instead of stockholders’ equity, 
“net assets,” the result of assets less liabilities, is the common expression for the equity in a not-
for-profit. 

Because donors often impose restrictions on their contributions, the net assets must be classified 
to show the limitations on a not-for-profit’s ability to use its resources. Resources are 
unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted, depending on the specifications 
laid down by the donors. 

Net income is a performance measure for business entities. There is no similar measure of 
performance for a not-for-profit entity. Although the magnitude of profits is generally indicative 
of how successfully a business entity performed, the same relationship is not true of a not-for-
profit entity. The magnitude of change in net assets does not indicate how successfully a not-for-
profit organization performed in providing goods and services. Further, because donor-imposed 
restrictions affect the types and levels of service a not-for-profit organization can provide, the 
change in each class of net assets may be more significant than the change in net assets for the 
organization as a whole (FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements, 
paragraph 106). 
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Therefore, in not-for-profit accounting and reporting, other methods of indicating performance 
of a financial nature are necessary to evaluate or indicate performance of the entity’s objectives. 
Examples include the requirements that not-for-profit entities must generally report revenues 
and expenses gross, as well as the requirement to report expenses by functional classification 
(rather than natural classification). Information about major programs and major classes of 
supporting services helps financial statement users understand a not-for-profit entity’s service 
efforts. 

Expenses that must be disclosed by function must be further broken down into fundraising, 
management, and general expenses. However, many not-for-profit statements still contain 
information about expenses by natural classification—such as wages, rent, depreciation, and 
more. 

With all of their distinct characteristics, not-for-profits are also subject to many of the accounting 
standards that apply to businesses, especially in footnote disclosures. 

CASE STUDY 2 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

1. Yes, the basis of presentation describes what is included in each net asset class. These matters are 
not disclosed by commercial organizations because the concept of owner’s equity 
(proprietorships, partnerships, or stockholders) separates owner’s capital from accumulated 
profits and losses (retained earnings).  

2. Usually in the first where the not-for-profit summaries their summary of significant accounting 
policies.  

3. Yes, the sample cash and cash equivalents footnote defines cash equivalents as “highly liquid 
investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.” 
There is no mention of any other restrictions contained in the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-
for-Profit Entities: paragraph 3.52. 

4. The sample prior year information footnote indicates it is simply summarized information and 
does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation under GAAP. 

5. Yes, similar to the sample donated services footnote in appendix A. 

6. The sample investments footnote indicates that donated investments are recorded at fair value 
on the date of the donation. 

7. Yes the sample support, revenue, and expenses footnote has a paragraph describing the receipt 
of intentions rather than promises to give. Because the not-for-profit believes these intentions are 
subject to unilateral change by donors, they are not recognized before receipt (paragraphs 5.105 
of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities). 

8. In sample support, revenue, and expenses footnote, the not-for-profit treats gifts of property and 
equipment as unrestricted support (unless the donor explicitly states otherwise) rather than 
implying a time restriction that would allow reclassifications equal to the depreciation reported in 
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the activities statement (paragraphs 5.86–5.88 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit 
Entities). 

CASE STUDY 3 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

1. When the promise is made, provided that the promise is an unconditional promise to give rather 
than an intention to give. Promises to give are recognized at the fair value of the asset or services 
promised or liabilities satisfied and discounted to present value where appropriate. The fair value 
of promises that are due in more than one year are generally reported using the income approach 
(present value of the future cash flows). Presentation on the balance sheet of promises that are 
expected to be collected within one year of the financial statement date may be recognized at net 
realizable value. Contribution revenue from promises would be recorded in the appropriate net 
asset class: unrestricted, temporarily, or permanent. Contributions due in future periods generally 
are recorded as temporarily restricted. The difference between the previously recorded present 
value and the current amount collected is considered contribution revenue, not interest income. 

2. To provide sufficient verifiable evidence of a promise, the pledge or online form might include 

 

Note: Organizations will differ on the amount of information they require. Some may even include 
the method of payment (such as a debit or credit card, electronic transfer, PayPal, or a check). 

3. The organization can mail (or email) a confirmation form to the pledger, thanking him or her for 
the pledge and showing again the amount and terms of the pledge. If the pledge is fictitious or the 
address is incorrect, the Postal Service will return the confirmation or email will not deliver it. If it 
is received by the donor and the donor disagrees, he or she may respond to correct the error or 
send the correct pledge amount. If the confirmation is by email, the organization might request a 
reply from the donor. 
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4. Conditional promises to give should be described. However, the pledge form would probably 
not include a line for conditional pledges. If a donor wishes to make a conditional pledge, the 
person in charge of Development should ask the prospective donor to spell out the conditions 
clearly. Conditional promises to give should be recognized as contributions when the conditions 
are substantially met. Paragraphs 5.71–5.74 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit 
Entities identify situations when a conditional promise can be recorded as a contribution. If the 
possibility of the condition not being met is remote (for example, filing an annual report). Some 
promises may be part conditional and part unconditional. For example, a not-for-profit 
organization may guarantee the debt of an unaffiliated entity without receiving commensurate 
consideration in return. That guarantee is in part conditional (the promise to make payments in 
future periods upon default) and in part unconditional (the gift of the guarantor’s credit support, 
which enables the entity to obtain a lower interest rate on its borrowing). 

5. Yes. For example: “Our organization needs money this year for plans to renovate the meeting 
hall. Will you promise to give $100 or some other amount to help us meet this need?” 

6. An asset account, “Contributions Receivable,” relates to promises that are unconditional. 
Distinguishing between unconditional and an expression of intent to contribute is sometimes 
hard, but it is important, because mere expressions of intent are not reflected as receivables. 
Documentation is important and difficult at first, especially if promises in the past were 
recognized only when the cash was received. Cooperation between development and accounting 
will be needed in determining whether a pledge is bona fide and unconditional. 

The initial measurement of unconditional promises to give cash, due within one year, is net 
realizable value because it approximates fair value. If the cash to be received covers more than 
one year, the initial measurement is fair value. Fair value is calculated using one of the techniques 
described, such as present value. Unconditional Promises to give noncash assets should also be 
initially measured at fair value. 

After the initial measurement of unconditional promises to give at fair value, subsequent 
measurement depends upon whether the NFP has elected to use the “Fair Value Option” under 
FASB ASC 825-10. But as paragraph 5.199 indicates, most NFPs do not elect this option. 
Instead, accounting for contributions receivable is similar to that of trade receivables of a for-
profit entity, except that the accruals of the interest element is accounted for as additional 
contribution revenue—not interest income as in a business. 

7. Recipients of unconditional promises to give disclose the following: 

 The amounts of promises receivable in less than one year, in one to five years, and in more 
than five years 

 The face amount of contributions promised to the organization 
 The amount of any allowance for uncollectible promises receivable 
 Unamortized discount 
 Amounts pledged as collateral or otherwise limited as to use 
 Disclosures related to fair value measurements 

Recipients of conditional promises to give must disclose the following: 

 The total of the amounts promised, if known. 
 A description and amount for each group of promises having similar characteristics, such as 

amounts of promises conditioned on establishing new programs, completing a new building, 
and raising matching gifts by a specified date. 
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Example 2 in paragraph 5.222 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities provides 
an example of a disclosure about promises to give. 

8. Paragraphs 5.105–5.106 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities describes 
situations where a NFP receives communications that are intentions rather than promises to give 
—for example, communications that the NFP has been included in an individual’s will. This 
communication is an intention, not an unconditional promise, because the individual can change 
the will. No recognition should be made until a probate court validates the will and the 
unconditional amount can be determined.  

9. Yes. Paragraphs 5.152–5.154 provide the guidance for determining whether an organization has 
received a contribution of media time and how it might be measured at fair value. 

CASE STUDY 4 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

1. The description of the backgrounds of the chefs as possessing specialized skills supports 
recognition of the value of their services. Probably someone would have to be employed to 
perform their work if they did not volunteer their services. Other recruited volunteers are 
important but there is no indication of special skills. Also, the board members are not applying 
special skills in recruiting volunteers and preparing rosters. The number of hours worked by the 
other volunteers can be disclosed in the footnotes. See example 4 in paragraph 5.222 of the 
Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

2. These have value to the organization. If not contributed, they would have to be rented. The 
value to assign would be the fair value. The reporting of this fair value is unaffected by whether 
or not the organization can afford to rent the facilities. The estimated value of the contribution 
should be included in the financial statements. See paragraphs 5.164–5.165 of the Audit and 
Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

3. Paragraph 14.12 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities suggests that 
organizations may present nonmonetary information about program inputs, outputs, and results. 
Such information may be offered in a schedule, or perhaps in a management letter, but generally 
is not included in the financial statements. If a schedule was included with the statements, an 
“other matters” paragraph in the audit opinion (even if it indicated no audit responsibility for the 
figures) might call attention to the added information. Appendix A discloses the number of 
volunteer hours in donated services without recognizing dollar values in the sample donated 
services footnote. 

4. The only place to show these values is in the footnotes to financial statements or a schedule, as 
discussed in the previous question. The accounting policy footnote could call attention to FASB 
ASC 958 rules of recognition of contributed services. Rules of FASB ASC 958 could be 
explained to grantors. In fact, FASB ASC 958-605-50-1 requires description of contributed 
services not recognized and encourages footnote disclosure of their values. This information 
could be pointed out to the grantor. Appendix A, discloses the number of volunteer hours 
without recognition of dollar values in the sample donated services footnote. 
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5. Yes. The sample contributed services and gifts in-kind footnote describes the contributed 
services and gifts in-kind that the not-for-profit recognizes.  

CASE STUDY 5 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

1. Statement of Financial Position 

1) The Statement of Financial Position should not show “Due from Other Funds” as an asset 
and “Due to Other Funds” as a liability. Inter-fund amounts are not assets or liabilities of 
the entity as a whole. Including “Due to Other Funds” and “Due From Other Funds” in 
both totals overstates both total assets and total liabilities. See paragraph 16.04 of the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

2) If assets are classified, liabilities should be classified. 

3) Amounts for the three classes of net assets, as well as total net assets, needs to be reported. 

4) Board-designated endowments can be reported separately, provided they are included under 
the caption unrestricted net assets and included in its total. Unrestricted net assets should 
total $121,000 ($80,000 plus the $41,000 board-designated total). 

5) Current contributions receivable should be recorded at fair value, which is its net realizable 
value. Reporting the gross amount of promises due within one year as receivable is 
appropriate only if management expects to collect that amount. The noncurrent amount 
should not be reported gross because a valuation allowance is required for contributions 
receivables and for the discount of the present value of future cash flows. 

Fundraising costs should be expensed as incurred, not capitalized. See paragraph 13.09 of 
the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

2. Statement of Activities 

1) The amounts for the special event should be shown gross. Otherwise, both the total 
revenues and total expenses are understated. Net presentation of special events is 
appropriate only if the special event is a peripheral or incidental transaction. This “special 
event” does not appear to be peripheral. The total revenues for this event were $64,000, 
nearly as much as ticket revenues. See paragraphs 13.40–13.44 of the Audit and Accounting 
Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

2) Expirations of donor-imposed restrictions (which simultaneously increase one class of net 
assets and decrease another) should be reported as separate items. See paragraph 3.32 of the 
Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. Some might say that reporting net assets 
released from restrictions as a separate line item with revenues and gains is inappropriate. 
This could be easily remedied by re-titling the section of the statement of activities, 
“Revenues, gains, and other support.” 

 

 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited Case Study Solutions 7 

3) The functional presentation of expenses includes the item “Interest Expense.” Interest 
expense is not a function. Interest costs, including interest on a building's mortgage, should 
be allocated to specific programs or supporting services to the extent possible. Interest costs 
that cannot be allocated should be reported as part of the management and general function. 
Complete functional presentation is required —in the body of the statements or the 
footnotes. See paragraph 13.72 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

4) The $4,000 of fundraising expenses, like all others, expenses should be reported as decreases 
in the unrestricted class. See paragraph 3.31 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit 
Entities. 

3. Statement of Cash Flows 

1) The decrease in mortgage payable is included in Cash Flows from Operating Activities. It 
should be shown in a separate section, “Cash Flows from Financing Activities.” 

2) Sale of investments and gain on sale of investments are both shown in “Cash Flows from 
“Investing Activities,” with the gain reflected as a deduction. This $3,000 deduction should 
be shown as a reconciling item after change in net assets, among “adjustments to reconcile 
change in net assets to net cash used by operating activities.” Only the total amount of cash 
received from sale of investments ($38,000) should be included in “Cash Flows from 
Investing Activities.” 

3) Cash received from the sale of donated financial assets (such as donated debt or equity 
securities) that were converted nearly immediately after receipt and carry no donor-imposed 
restrictions on their use is displayed under cash flows from operating activities. If, on the other 
hand, the donor imposed a restriction on the proceeds for a long-term purpose, it would be 
displayed under financing activities (Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities:  
exhibit 3-1). 

CASE STUDY 6 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

Valuation of Contributed Services 
The treasurer’s responses: 

1. Stage settings – The stage settings may be an asset, but assets have to have future economic value. 
But right now we don’t even know what shows we’ll produce next year! Do you think the stage 
settings can be used again? 

2. Seamstress – It’s a matter of skill and whether you would otherwise have to pay for the service. 
Maybe the auditors wouldn’t agree, but I say we should show the value. Can we get an idea of 
hours worked by the volunteer this year and by the paid seamstress who earned $50,000 last year? 

3. The audio engineer – It seems to be apparent that the engineer is trained and that we needed the 
service. But we can’t just say “$20,000.” We should find out how much work the engineer did 
and what he normally charges. What we would need is an hourly rate and the hours worked. 
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4. Trumpet soloist – There’s no denying the soloist is a professional and we need her. In the past we 
did not report the value of her contributed services because she was with our affiliate that 
controls us. Under FASB ASU No 2013-06 issued 4/19/2013, however, we will have to report 
her contributed services. We will measure her contributed services at the cost (salary and 
benefits) to our affiliate (FASB ASU 958-720-30-2) or, if we believe the amount is understated or 
overstated, we can use fair value (FASB ASU 958-720-30-3). The effective date is for fiscal years 
beginning June 15, 2014.  

And, Mr. Executive Producer, you forgot the work on extension of the lobby. We should debit building 
and credit contributed services for an appropriate amount. 

We must find out how much has already been charged to the building for materials. Accounting 
standards require either fair value of the services received or the fair value of the assets created. We can 
get some idea of the value of the services from what the volunteer workers earn on construction projects. 
We could get an appraisal of the value of the extension. Then we’ll compare the results. If we follow the 
appraisal route, we must remember to debit the building account for only that part of the appraisal value 
that hasn’t already been entered as material costs and other costs we paid. That is, we would value the 
services as appraisal value, less cost already debited to building. 

Promises Received Near Year-End 
The treasurer’s response: 

No. We must recognize those promises now, in this year. We should show, however, the revenue 
in the temporarily restricted net asset class. If in the past we recognized the promises when the 
cash came in, this may appear to increase our contribution revenues a lot over the past year, 
because some of this year’s cash contributions were no doubt against promises of the year 
before. If we consider the difference to be material, we can prepare comparative statements and 
restate the prior year’s contribution revenues. 

The treasurer might also discuss with the executive producer table 5-4 of the Audit and Accounting 
Guide Not-for-Profit Entities, which follows paragraph 5.191. 

CASE STUDY 7 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

The treasurer’s responses: 

1. No, we cannot. All of our endowments’ terms are donor stipulations that require maintenance of 
principal (permanently restricted). We must consider endowment terms carefully. We can 
appropriate the earnings and the capital gains for any activity, but we cannot touch the principal, 
the $340,000, classified as permanently restricted in the statement of financial position.* 

2. Well, cash is down “only” $15,000, but liabilities are up, not down. Also, look at the statement of 
cash flows. Last year, operating activities provided $15,000 in cash; this year they used $41,000. 
What carried us again this year was realized gains on investments, but can we rely on gains every 
year? 
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3. That “bottom line” is just an expression. Because our purpose is other than to provide goods 
and services at a profit, you have to read all of the statements to understand how well we did. It 
is true that total net assets have increased, and that is good. But unrestricted net assets has 
decreased by $25,000, and it is unrestricted net assets that we have the most freedom to use 
because temporarily and permanently restricted net assets have donor stipulations attached. 

4. We do not know from the statements what these increased expenses were for. If we had a 
footnote that disclosed expenses by natural classification, this would help. Better still would be a 
statement of functional expenses. This would show the nature of the expenses in each function. 

*A form of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Fund Act (UPMIFA) is the law for the 
management of donor-restricted endowment funds in all states but Pennsylvania. Subject to the intent of the donor 
expressed in the gift instrument (and in some states, a rebuttable presumption of imprudence), an organization 
may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an endowment fund as it determines is prudent after 
considering the factors in the law. UPMIFA does not define an amount that must be retained permanently, but 
for accounting purposes the governing board must determine the amount of the fund that, in the absence of explicit 
donor stipulations, must be retained permanently. Therefore, FASB ASC 958-205-45-28 requires that the 
governing board make a determination of the amount that must be maintained permanently. For accounting 
purposes, most NFPs continue to embrace historic dollar value as the permanently restricted portion of a donor-
restricted endowment fund. FASB ASC 958-205-45-30 states that for each donor-restricted endowment fund for 
which the restriction described in subsection 4(a) of UPMIFA applies, an NFP should classify the portion of the 
fund that is not classified as permanently restricted net assets as temporarily restricted net assets (time restricted) 
until appropriated for expenditure by the NFP. For more information, see paragraphs 4.68–4.69 of the Audit 
and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities. 

CASE STUDY 8 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

Some transfers of assets between organizations and grantors (such as the sale of goods and services) are 
clearly exchange transactions. Other transfers of assets between organizations and governments (such as 
unrestricted support given by state and local governments) are clearly contributions. Other kinds of 
grants have characteristics that require judgment to determine whether they are contributions or 
exchange transactions. The indicators described in table 5-1 provide guidance on how to classify such 
transfers. Depending on the facts and circumstances, some indicators may be more significant than 
others. However, no single indicator is determinative of the classification of a particular transaction. 

Below are the indicators that appear to be relevant. 
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With each indicator, two outstanding criteria are given. You may want to dispute or confirm a definition 
by reference to other criteria presented in table 5-1 of the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit 
Entities. 

NPO Definition Two Indicators 

1. The Theater Contribution Method of determining amount of 
payment

  Delivery of assets to be provided

(Payment amount is set by resource provider. Assets are to be provided to individuals or 
organizations other than the resource provider.) 

2. The Same Theater Exchange Method of determining amount of 
payment

  Delivery of assets to be provided

(The theater is acting as an agent for the county. The ticket sales are the revenue for the 
theater. Payment is the value of the asset (services) provided; the total is based on the 
quantity of assets delivered. Assets are to be delivered to the resource provider.) 

3. Public Health Exchange Penalties assessed for late delivery 

  Delivery of assets 

(The NPO is penalized for nonperformance. Assets are to be delivered to the resource 
provider. In addition, the results of the research have value to the Department of Public 
Health in its application for increased appropriations for dental care. In an exchange 
transaction, the potential public benefits are secondary to the potential proprietary benefits to 
the resource provider.) 

4. Housing for the Elderly Contribution Expressed intent about the purpose of 
the asset to be provided 

  Delivery of assets 

(Resource provider asserts that it is making a donation to support NFP’s program. Assets are to 
be delivered to individuals or organizations other than the resource provider.) 

5. County Historical 
Association 

Contribution Expressed intent about the purpose 
of the asset to be provided. 

  Method of determining amount of 
payment.

(Resource provider asserts that it is making a donation to support the NFP’s programs. 
Payment amount set by resource provider.)

6. The Electric Utility Exchange Delivery of assets to be provided. 

  Method of delivery. 

(Assets are to be delivered to the resource provider. The method of delivery of the asset to 
be provided by the recipient NPO is specified by the resource provider. In addition, the 
results of the research have particular value to the electric utility for its future planning. In an 
exchange transaction, the potential public benefits are secondary to the potential proprietary 
benefits to the resource provider.) 
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CASE STUDY 9 

Required Question Suggested Solutions 

Below are indicators from table 5-2 in the Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities (5.49) that 
appear to be relevant. 

Definition Indicator 

1. Part exchange Part 
contribution 

Benefits primarily for family, but benefits may be less 
than the $200 membership dues 

2. Contribution Request describes benefits to the NFP’s service 
beneficiaries

3. Exchange Membership is restricted 
Substantive member benefits

4. Part contribution 
Part exchange 

Substantive benefits can be measured 
$200 exchange; $300 contribution 

5. Exchange Benefits primarily to members, the contributions are 
made by the country club, not by the members 

6. Contribution Duration not specified 
Benefits to public
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